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. Message from our Chairman

Looking back on the first year since our initial public offering in Hong Kong, |
feel proud and regretful at the same time. | am proud of the outstanding results
we achieved despite challenging conditions in China’s economy and healthcare
industry. In the face of these obstacles, Mr. Zhao Hong, our Chief Executive Officer,
together with his team, were fearless and worked hard in taking our Company’s
already outstanding commercialization capability to new heights through continuous
innovation in our business model. SciClone’s team and company culture are some of
our most valuable assets. At the same time, my regrets are to our public shareholders
who trusted and supported us as your investment may have suffered significant losses
to date. Although we have no control over the stock market and our stock price, we
still feel anxious over your losses. We are unable to predict and guarantee our future
stock price, but we promise that we will spare no efforts in continuing to increase
the company’s performance and the value of our Company. Capital markets globally
have demonstrated that the stock price in the short run is like a voting machine, the
more people vote the higher the price; in the long run stock prices are like a weighing
machine, as ultimately the stock price will reflect the weight (intrinsic value) of a
company. As long as we keep growing the value of our Company, we will be able to
provide satisfying returns to our shareholders in the long run; this is one of the most
important goals of SciClone’s Board and team.

In 2021, listed Chinese healthcare companies experienced the most brutal crash in
their history, with MSCI China Healthcare Index falling by nearly 60% from 437.66
on June 28, 2021 to 177.50 on March 15, 2022. The speed and magnitude of the
decline were comparable to the burst of the Dotcom Bubble in the U.S. in 2000,
which is worthwhile for every investor, especially healthcare investors, to reflect upon.
Since the publication of the classic book”Extraordinary Popular Delusions and the
Madness of Crowds” in 1841, a large number of literatures have analyzed market
bubbles that took place throughout history in China and abroad, including causes
and similarities of these market crashes. The surge of biotech company (“biotech”)
valuation from 2015 to post 2020 in China was an obvious bubble in the making,

MEGERBHAER (19985F-2020%F) BEBEEEYRERK (20195F-2022F)
NASDAQ Dotcom Bubble (1998-2001) VS Hang Seng Biotech Bubble (2019-2022)
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but why were so many investors willing to take the risk? Was it blind optimism
that caused risks to be overlooked? Was it a lack of understanding and respect for
investment risks? Or were investors aware of the risks but unable to control their
greed? Or did they believe they can get out before the bubble burst?

Innovative pharmaceutical companies in China have entered a long cold winter after
the crash, but the correction is allowing the industry to move toward a healthier and
more sustainable development path. Adversity is the best teacher for people and
industries alike. The foundation for creating great companies is being formed, with
patient demand replacing stock market demand, perseverance replacing shortcuts,
and passion for innovation replacing greed. Greatness is borne out of perseverance,
not financial engineering. After the Dotcom Bubble in the U.S. in 2000, the internet
industry did not decline but grew to become more far-reaching and influential across
all aspects of society and economy. Great companies will survive any test and market
cycle. Just as internet companies such as Amazon and Google in the U.S. and Alibaba
and Tencent in China became leading businesses globally, innovation in healthcare
will chart the same path — while some biotech companies may disappear after this
bubble, we are certain that innovation in China and the best innovative companies
will come out of this stronger.

The return to reason and intrinsic value of the biotech sector has provided SciClone
with a rare opportunity for transformation. SciClone, with a top tier team and
commercialization capability, recorded an operating cash flow of over RMB1 billion
for the first time in company history with cash balance of over RMB2.1 billion at the
end of 2021. As the Company’s biggest challenge is its single product concentration,
our most important strategic goals are to expand our pipeline and build internal
research and development (“R&D”) capability. To that end, we will seize the
opportunity to look for ways to partner with biotech companies. We believe the
combination of cash flow and commercialization expertise from traditional pharma
and pipeline and R&D capability from innovative pharma is not only the future
direction, but also the perfect solution for resolving challenges each one faces in the
healthcare industry; this integration is in the best interest of both types of companies
and the industry at large. SciClone will actively pursue this strategy of industry
consolidation; our door is always open for innovative companies, and we sincerely
look forward to forming mutually beneficially partnerships and working together to
shape a better future for the industry.

During this difficult period, | would like to express my heartfelt thanks to our
Shareholders, management team, employees, business partners and customers for
their support and dedication to the Group.

It is always Day One and everything is possible.
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Il. Annual Results of our Company
Financial Highlights

The Covid-19 pandemic has imposed a profound impact on the world in every
aspect and accelerated many of the trends, such as innovation in drug development,
digitalization, and healthcare consumerization. Our rapid adaption to these swift
changes positioned us well for continuous growth in 2021 and beyond. We achieved
fast development of potential first-in-class drug candidates, incorporated internet
hospital and new retail channels to our innovative “Go-To-Patient” (“GTP") model,

and integrated robust value added services to enhance patient experience.

Our revenue of RMB2,518.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 was up by
31.3% on the prior year, a record growth in the past four years driven by brisk sales
of our proprietary product Zadaxin and commercial launch of in-licensed products.
Our gross profit grew to RMB1,933.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2021
from RMB1,490.5 million for the last year, representing a year-on-year increase of
29.7%. Our profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company was RMB923.4
million for the year of 2021, as compared with RMB753.7 million for the last year.

These strong results demonstrated that our strategy is driving the standards of
excellence in our business performance that have always characterized our products
and services.

Business Review

We are a biopharmaceutical company with an integrated platform for product
development and commercialization. We strategically focus on some of the largest
and fast-growing therapeutic areas with significant unmet medical needs in China,
primarily including oncology and severe infection.

Leveraging our integrated platform, we have established a balanced product portfolio
focusing on high potential therapeutic areas, led by marketed products with strong
cash generation ability through effective lifecycle management and novel GTP model,
and supported by an innovative pipeline with first-in-class/best-in-class potential to
drive sustainable long-term growth.
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Our Marketed Products

For the year ended December 31, 2021, our marketed products comprised of (i) our
proprietary product, Zadaxin; (i) our in-licensed products; and (iii) promotion products
on behalf of our business partners in China.

e  Sales of our proprietary product, Zadaxin:

We developed Zadaxin in the early 1990s and obtained the approval for its
sales in the China market in 1996. As the first branded thymalfasin drug in
China, Zadaxin possesses the advantage of its strong brand recognition and
product loyalty from the doctors and target patients, the majority of whom
are self-paying or covered by private medical insurance. For the year ended
December 31, 2021, we generated our revenue primarily through the sales
to our exclusive importer and distributor in China. With our effective lifecycle
management and development of innovative GTP model, sales of Zadaxin
continued to achieve strong growth for the year ended December 31, 2021,
increasing by 26.1% to RMB1,978.0 million, despite the high base of Zadaxin
sales for prevention and clinical treatment of COVID-19 in China for the year
ended December 31, 2020.

1) Lifecycle management:

Zadaxin's sustainable growth is driven by our ongoing clinical studies and

academic promotions to expand its clinical adoptions.
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We have been sponsoring investigators to conduct randomized
controlled trials (“RCT") and real-world studies (“RWS") to discover
Zadaxin's potential clinical adoptions in oncology, severe infection,
vaccine and other therapeutic areas. Major results for 2021 are as

follows:

v A retrospective study in 5,746 patients published in 2021 Issue
22 of Chinese Medical Journal proved thymosin a1 (Ta1) therapy
significantly improved the 5-year disease-free survival (“DFS") rate
(77.3% v.s. 64.7%, P<0.0001) and overall survival (“OS") rate
(83.3% v.s. 72.7%, P<0.0001) in patients with non-small cell lung
cancer (“NSCLC") after RO resection;

v A propensity score matching analysis of 468 patients published
in Medicine (Baltimore) in May 2021 demonstrated Tal therapy
improved postoperative survival after curative resection for solitary
hepatitis B virus-related hepatocellular carcinoma (OS rate 55.5%
v.s. 47.2%, P=0.018);

v Preliminary analyses of RCT for sepsis in 1,106 patients and RCT
for pancreatitis in 504 patients have been completed and are in
preparation for publication;

v Completed 60% patient enrolment of RCT of Ta1 combined with
PD-1 antibody and apatinib in advanced gastric cancer;

v Initiated the clinical study on COVID-19 inactivated vaccine
combined with Zadaxin and completed 100% patient enrolment.
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As of the date of this Annual Report, we have more than 10 on-
going clinical studies in China and overseas (U.S. and ltaly). Based
on our efforts in lifecycle management of Zadaxin, in addition to
official indications (for treatment of chronic hepatitis B and vaccine
enhancement in patients with impaired immunity), thymosin a1 (generic
name of Zadaxin) has been included in treatment guidelines issued
by several professional associations including the Chinese Medical
Association, the Chinese Society of Clinical Oncology, Chinese Medical
Doctor Association and China Anti-Cancer Association, such as for the
treatment of:

v sepsis (2014 and 2020);
4 pancreatic cancer (2019 and 2021%);

4 liver cancer (2017, 2018, 2019 and 2020);

v COVID-19 (2020);

v HCC recurrence after hepatectomy (2021%*);
v lymph cancer (2017, 2019 and 2021);

v TACE (2018 and 2021);
v CRF (2021);

v end-stage liver disease complicated with infections (2018 and
2022%);

v gastric cancer (2022) and others.

Year of publication
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GTP model:

Our innovative GTP model has contributed significantly to the sales
growth of our products through retail channels. It has enhanced
accessibility of our products to patients and maximum coverage of
patients. With GTP model, patients can upload prescriptions to the
e-platform and drugs will be delivered to them directly. GTP is also a
platform for the Company to provide value-added services to patients
such as comprehensive academic and patient education. At 2021 year-
end, GTP model had more than 131,000 registered patients, more than
81,000 registered doctors and approximately 1,000 DTP pharmacies.

We continued to upgrade our GTP model for the sales of Zadaxin and
other products in 2021:

v Explored to integrate internet hospital into GTP model and
launched pilot internet hospital project in Guangdong. We also
set up an internet hospital joint venture to further digitalize our
business;

v Strengthened comprehensive cooperation with leading DTP chains
in China (Link Pharmacies, Gaoji Health, Medbanks, Yuanxin,

of SPH Health

Commerce) to expand the coverage of DTP pharmacies;

Sinopharm Care Plus and "Yiyao Pharmacies”

v Cooperated with more commercial insurance providers such
as LinkDoc and Zhong An Insurance. We also deepened our
cooperation with Medi Trust through our strategic relationship
with Shanghai Pharma;

v Started strategic cooperation with Shanghai SF Pharmaceuticals
Supply Chain Holdings Co., Ltd., and LinkDoc Technology to build
up a more efficient supply chain and better patient service that
combines innovative payment solutions with digital service;

4 Entered into the new retail sales channels such as Ali Health and
JD Health.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, sales through GTP model
contributed to more than 62% of total sales volume of Zadaxin, as
compared with approximately 53% for the last year. In the last quarter
of 2021, the sales volume contribution from GTP was approximately
70%.
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Sales of our in-licensed products:

v

Zometa: Zometa is our marketed in-licensed product indicated for
the treatment of patients with multiple myeloma and patients with
documented bone metastases from solid tumors, and hypercalcemia of
malignancy. After completing the transfer of Import Drug License (the
“IDL") for Zometa and becoming the Marketing Authorization Holder
(the “MAH") of Zometa in China in January 2021, we started converting
distributor of all provinces from Novartis to the Company gradually and

completed the transfer in the last province in the second half of 2021.

The Company has well implemented the academic promotion plan for
Zometa in 2021. Based on the clinical studies of Zometa, Zoledronic
Acid (the compound of Zometa) was recommended in Guidelines and
Standards for Breast Cancer Diagnosis and Treatment ( (BB S
FLIRE aTEF R4 ) 2021) and by Chinese Anti-Cancer Association
and Chinese Expert Consensus on Bone Health Management in Patients
with Early Breast Cancer ( (R EIFLIFBEEERBEEERBHBERLHE)
2022) for its anti-tumor effect. In June 2021, Zoledronic Acid was also
recommended in Expert Consensus on Safety Management of Bone
Modifying Drugs ( (B R ML 2 HERHERKHLB) ). The inclusion in
treatment guidelines and consensuses will further increase the demand
of Zometa.

In addition to promotion for hospital usage, we also initiated a project of
Outpatient Injection Centers Alliance since Q1 2021 to enhance patient
access of Zometa outside hospitals and provide value-added services to
patients.

Total product revenue of Zometa we generated as the registered
distributor was RMB169.8 million for the year ended December 31,
2021 while it was RMB4.7 million last year when we were authorized by
Novartis as the importer and distributor in certain provinces. Those sales
by Novartis we recognized through profit transferred from Novartis in
other income.

BEBEZRABR DA SciClone Pharmaceuticals (Holdings) Limited 2021 £ £ $& 25 ANNUAL REPORT 11



FEHRE
Chairman’s Statement

12

DANYELZA® (# 7 # E #i)
M2020F 12 A - F 1 BY-mAbs
Therapeutics, Inc(.[Y-mAbs]|) &
S 3| ADANYELZA® (Bl 75 2% 2
) - EARAEER #atta
EHETEBBNEE (1 &I
£ REA) - BEZBHESE
LT REERERERAR
BRE - WH2020F 11 BB =
BERMEMEBEEER(FDA])
DR -

BEESTERREREEERE
RUIBREERDNEMR ST
7] B8 5 ([BLAJ) it/ B o0 Bk () AR
EREREREZEFHAE K
NRE D RIR2021F6 A %12 A
EEmEE LR ERREL
TEREFE(RE)EHE AR
2 5t B HDANYELZA® (BB PR 22 &
) e

#2021 4 10 A + DANYELZA® (HP
FZEH) BNARERGIMNTEE
Bif E—-FEAZBMERR
TEEBENT LT - RERE
ERBEREREHOHEREE
R FTRIE o

PRmgrm Rk RXENHEEN B
202241 A  DANYELZA® (3574 %
BH)RE S EFLEOBERRS
REHEERA -

FEA FERA ABEANEED
WaHKBREENH LEWEESIA
Em HEASH - ANEFNZ
FEI - ABHEEEREGER
I8 o 5 o AT AR PR B R AR
BB R 2021F1 A EBER
BEES B HL T AL A & KBl FT B
oo HR2021FENM AR L&
BEMOERMAEED - BRE
WA BEELZTERKEEBRES
k- HEBAELIZAEEABEX
B AUFABARMBEZEHE
RIEBIEGTPLA KT 2@EE R AR
REENMTERE - ZEMNHE
WI0EM T A HES -

DANYELZA® (naxitamab): In December 2020, we in-licensed DANYELZA®
(naxitamab) from Y-mAbs Therapeutics, Inc. (“Y-mAbs”). It is used for
the treatment of patients (one year of age and older, and adults) with
relapsed/refractory high-risk neuroblastoma. Naxitamab was granted
priority review, breakthrough therapy designation, and orphan drug
designation. It received accelerated approval in the U.S. from the Food
and Drug Administration (the “FDA") in November 2020.

In order to accelerate provision of this innovative therapy to pediatric
patients in China prior to the Biologics License Application (“BLA")
approval by the National Medical Products Administration (the “NMPA")
of China, the Company had pilot launch of DANYELZA® (naxitamab)
in Hainan Bo'Ao Lecheng International Medical Tourism Pilot Zone
and China (Tianjin) Pilot Free Trade Zone in June and December 2021,
respectively.

In October 2021, DANYELZA® (naxitamab) was included in the list of
overseas special drugs of Jing Hui Bao (FRE{R), a supplemental coverage
to basic medical insurance for serious diseases in Beijing, which further
improved the accessibility of this innovative drug to patients in China.

Except for selling to Hainan and Tianjin, in January 2022, DANYELZA®
(naxitamab) started to generate revenue from Taiwan based on local
special import policy.

Oravig: Oravig is our marketed in-licensed product indicated for the
treatment of patients with oropharyngeal candidiasis. It utilizes patented
buccal tablet technology enabling once-daily dosing to provide patients
with a convenient treatment option. Oravig is the first innovative drug
that we completed Phase Ill trial in China and obtained the approval
from the NMPA in January 2021 for commercialization. Its successful
launch in November 2021 manifested our capabilities in product
development. As Oravig has more retail and recurring patient needs, it
enjoys significant synergy with Zadaxin to utilize our existing retail sales
channels through GTP and new retail channels such as Ali Health and JD
Health. It is available for purchase in more than 30 cities.
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v Angiomax: Angiomax is our in-licensed product indicated for use
as anticoagulant in patients undergoing percutaneous coronary
intervention, including patients with heparin induced thrombocytopenia
and thrombosis syndrome. We entered into an agreement with Huizheng
(Shanghai) Pharmaceuticals Technology Co., Ltd. (“Huizheng”) on
August 31, 2020, under which we engaged Huizheng for the promotion
and distribution of Angiomax in Mainland China. Angiomax was
commercially launched in Q2 2021.

e Sales of promotion products on behalf of our business
partners:
During 2021, we continued to sell promotion products for our partner
pharmaceutical companies, such as Pfizer and Baxter, as a promotor and
distributor for such business partners. Revenue from sales of promotion
products for business partners increased by RMB20.9 million, or 6.2% from
RMB336.3 million for the last year to RMB357.2 million in 2021.

Subsequent to the year end, we have successfully renewed the Five-Year
Cooperation Agreement with Baxter and both parties agreed to strengthen
the mutual support in the development of pipeline products in the field of
oncology and innovative business models.

Our Product Development

In recent years, we started the development of a number of pipeline drug candidates
through the in-licensing model. We acquire licenses and get involved in the product
development process from various stages, ranging from pre-clinical for some of
our early-stage pipeline products, to pivotal clinical trials for some of our late-stage
pipeline products.

Our efforts in product development have yielded a pipeline of potential drug
candidates in different stages of development spanning our key therapeutic areas and
also high-value/high-growth sectors: oncology and severe infection. As of December
31, 2021, we have built a portfolio of 8 pipeline drug candidates, 4 of which are in
phase Ill or later stages overseas with a fast-to-market strategy in China, and 4 are in
earlier stages of preclinical to phase Il clinical trials overseas or in China.
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The following table summarizes the mechanism of action, indication(s)/clinical
adoptions, and development status of our pipeline assets as of the date of this Annual

Report.
ERELE, BEBH
EmER 1E R R RFEF e RIgSMIR IR R
Mechanism Indication(s)/ Partner’s
Product Name  of Action Clinical Adoptions Partner Overseas Status China Status
it 3-CIN
Late stage:
Vibativ HHMREE R ABRE  HABP/VABPIEFEER B Cumberland g2km ER2021F9 A G
EEMEEN N7 B AR R Pharmaceuticals Marketed R BB ER LA IRZINDA
Dual antibacterial HABP/VABP (EB) Obtained clinical trial
activity on cell wall complicated skin and  Cumberland waiver and submitted
and cell membrane skin structure Pharmaceuticals (U.S.) NDA in September
infections 2021
DANYELZA® #L[AGD2 = e B AR Y-mAbs Therapeutics, 720209118 BFDA FEIHE M A E#EITHAE
(BBPRZEH)  Targeting GD2 High risk Inc. (EE) HSBLA HEH 202157 A
DANYELZA® neuroblastoma Y-mAbs Therapeutics, Obtained BLA from B REEEBHIRRBLAK

(naxitamab)

BB _BRENE

Relapsed second-line

Inc. (U.S.)

the FDA in November
2020

PR T RIS
US Phase I trial on-

202159 ARRFIIEAT
BLA

Held pilot launch in
Bo’Ao and Tianjin;
Submitted BLA to the
NMPA in July 2021
and submitted BLA in
Macau in September
2021

osteosarcoma going
Omburtamab $LEB7-H3REMM  CNS 184  Y-mAbs Therapeutics, #2021F4AMREMA —
Targeting B7-H3 —  HEEIRER Inc. (EE) ERZMAA
expressing cells CNS/leptomeningeal  Y-mAbs Therapeutics, Submitted MAA to
metastasis from Inc. (U.S.) the EMA in April 2021
neuroblastoma
RRx-001 Myci &8 & CD47- /R RhE EpicentRx, Inc. (EE) E/E#ETTEBINEFE RK202167 AZGER

SIRPaiE BRI HL A
Myc inhibitor and
antagonist of CD47-
SIRPa pathway

Small cell lung cancer

EEGRE

Colorectal cancer

EpicentRx, Inc. (U.S.)

US Phase Il trial on-
going

B Sea ERIERH 5
(+FBR)

US Phase Il trial

(+irinotecan)

completed

BEERY = F ML
SCLC IIIEARFFE H9IND
&

Obtained IND approval
for Phase Ill study of
3rd line and beyond
SCLC from the NMPA
in July 2021
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BREE SEB M
EmER 1ER#H 7953z AIEBE RN A B AR R
Mechanism Indication(s)/ Partner’s
Product Name  of Action Clinical Adoptions  Partner Overseas Status China Status
CER
Early stage:
PEN-866 HSP90-SN38/# A BB Tarveda Therapeutics  [EFE7TRBIEIE T SEHINDERR
B Solid tumors (EE) kA IND filing in preparation
Mini-conjugate of Tarveda Therapeutics  US Phase Il basket
HSP90-SN38 (U.S.) trial on-going
HSP90-PI3K HSP90-PI3K{H A HEER B R A1 HRETT R BE
SMDC BERY) Solid tumors Pre-clinical Bt
Mini-conjugate of Joint efforts in lead
HSP90-PI3K conjugate optimization
PT-112 2HLEY % HA A 51 R Phosplatin Therapeutics 1E7E# 17 EB11H3 B2 SEAK I HA I B B ER
Platinum-containing  Late stage prostate (=E) US Phase Il trial AR
compounds cancer Phosplatin on-going Completed Phase | and
EE T Therapeutics (U.S.) B SRk R B ER B initiated Phase Il trial
Cholangiocarcinoma (+HAfE)
US Phase | trial
(+gemicitabine)
completed
ABTL-0812 Akt/mTOR3D &1 7 FERNE R Ability Pharma FEETHRISRAFE B&EIND

Akt/mTOR inhibitor

Endometrial/lung/

pancreatic cancer

(FaEor)
Ability Pharma (Spain)

EU Phase Il trial
on-going

Obtained IND

e FTEEMERERE:
v Vibativ - VibatvE —EGH — & v
SESTERAREMRERRENE
% o VibatvE B E SERA K
RIS ME M ES R - X
4B 4B IR R T BE © VibativE 1E 3
EMMERESERREERS
HERERE SR BKERN
58 e JE 15 1 A0 AT 0% 4 A R A B 1
fif A (HABP/VABP)RI K F B &

20214 £ fE1# F (+

e  Key pipeline milestones:
Vibativ: Vibativ is a bactericidal, once-daily, injectable lipoglycopeptide

R2021F9AH + AR & gtVibativi
LA SR BEHABP/VABPIE 5 1 7 B K
FEAEREAEREERRER
NDA ©

antibiotic with a dual mechanism of action whereby Vibativ both

inhibits bacterial

cell

wall synthesis

and disrupts

bacterial cell

membrane function. It is approved in the United States and Canada

for the treatment of adult patients with hospital-acquired and

ventilatorassociated bacterial

pneumonia

susceptible isolates of S. aureus.

Milestones in 2021

(HABP/VABP)

caused by

In September 2021, the Company submitted NDA to the NMPA for
Vibativ for treating HABP/VABP complicated skin and skin structure

infections.
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DANYELZA® (naxitamab): DANYELZA® (naxitamab) is the first
humanized, monoclonal antibody targeting GD2, a tumor antigen on
the cell surface of neuroblastoma. In addition to demonstrated clinical
benefits, DANYELZA® (naxitamab) has the advantages of convenient
administration and high patient compliance. It has short infusion
time (30-60 minutes), which makes it possible to be administered
in outpatient setting. There is no requirement of pre-treatment with
autologous stem cell transplant or combination with IL-2 (Interleukin-2)
therapy when patients receive DANYELZA® (naxitamab).

Except for the treatment of patients (one year of age and older, and
adults) with relapsed/refractory high-risk neuroblastoma, Y-mAbs
is expanding naxitamab’s indications such as relapsed second-line
osteosarcoma (Phase Il trial on-going).

Milestones in 2021

In July 2021, the Company submitted BLA of DANYELZA® (naxitamab) to
the NMPA in China, within just seven months after the FDA's approval.
The NMPA granted this BLA with priority review in September 2021. In
September 2021, we also submitted BLA of DANYELZA® (naxitamab) in
Macau.

Milestones expected in 2022

We aim to submit BLA of DANYELZA® (naxitamab) in Hong Kong in the
first half of 2022.

The Company plans to submit IND application in China of DANYELZA®
(naxitamab) and granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor
("GM-CSF"”) in combination with irinotecan and temozolomide in
patients with high-risk neuroblastoma with primary refractory disease
or in first relapse (“STUDY 203"). STUDY 203 is an international single-

arm, multi-centre, Phase Il clinical trial.
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Omburtamab: Omburtamab is another pipeline drug candidate we in-
licensed from Y-mAbs in December 2020, which is used to treat CNS/
leptomeningeal metastasis from neuroblastoma. Other therapeutic areas
under clinical trials by Y-mAbs include diffuse intrinsic pontine glioma
(Phase I trial on-going) and desmoplastic small round cell tumor (Phase I

trial on-going).

Omburtamab targets B7-H3 — expressing cells in human solid tumors,
including embryonal tumors, carcinomas, sarcomas, and brain tumors,
and binds to an FG loop dependent conformation on the B7-H3
molecule, a domain critical for its biologic function. Omburtamab may
potentially become the first targeted therapy for pediatric patients
with central nervous system (CNS)/leptomeningeal metastasis from

neuroblastoma.

Milestones in 2021

In April 2021, our partner Y-mAbs submitted its Marketing Authorization
Application (“MAA") to the Europe Medicines Agency (the “"EMA")
in Europe for omburtamab for the treatment of pediatric patients with
CNS/leptomeningeal metastasis from neuroblastoma.

Milestones expected in 2022

Y-mAbs completed Pre-BLA meeting with the FDA in February 2022.
which provided a clear regulatory path forward for the FDA approval
of omburtamab for the treatment of pediatric patients with CNS/
leptomeningeal metastasis from neuroblastoma. Y-mAbs resubmitted
omburtamab BLA at the end of the first quarter 2022.
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RRx-001: In June 2020, we in-licensed RRx-001 from EpicentRx, Inc.
("EpicentRx”). RRx-001 was initially identified and sourced from the
aerospace industry and has been developed by EpicentRx as a novel
first-in-class therapy. RRx-001 is a well-tolerated next generation small
molecule immunotherapeutic treating solid tumors. It has the potential
to convert platinum-resistant tumors into platinum sensitive tumors and
may have wide clinical adoptions as monotherapy or in combination with
chemotherapy, immunotherapy, radiation and targeted agents.

Milestones in 2021

In March 2021, the Company submitted IND application of RRx-001
MRCT Phase Il study in the 3rd line and beyond SCLC in China to the
NMPA. In July 2021, the Company has obtained the IND approval from
the NMPA. The Company has been laying the groundwork for coming
patient recruitment.

In November 2021, RRx-001 was selected as one of the “Top 10
Innovative Anti-Cancer Drugs with Excellent Potential of the Year 2021"
initiated and hosted by 21 New Health Research Institute of 21st Century
Business Herald in China.

Milestones expected in 2022

We expect the first patient enrolment in China for this MRCT in the
second quarter of 2022. As of the date of this Annual Report, RRx-001
is globally the only small molecule drug in CD47 signaling pathways, and
the only CD47 targeted drug that has entered phase Il clinical trials in
the field of solid tumor treatment worldwide.

PEN-866: In March 2020, we in-licensed PEN-866, a potential first-
in-class HSP90-binding miniature drug conjugate, from Tarveda
Therapeutics, Inc. (“Tarveda”). PEN-866 has a differentiated design
which is not to inhibit the activity of HSP90 but alternatively bind to
the activated form of HSP90 in solid tumors as a SMDC and is linked
to the topoisomerase 1 inhibitor (SN-38), a potent anti-cancer payload.
Phase | clinical data demonstrated favorable efficacy and safety profile
with broad application potential. As of the date of this Annual Report,
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there had been no approved SMDCs or relevant ongoing clinical trials in
China. There are two SMDC candidates currently undergoing clinical trial
worldwide: both are from Tarveda and one of them is PEN-866.

Milestone in 2021

We had in-depth exchange of PEN-866 Phase Il clinical data with Tarveda
and was in preparation of IND filing in China to conduct China Phase I/l
study in lung cancer.

Milestone expected in 2022

The Company plans to submit IND application of PEN-866 phase I/Il study
in patients with advanced lung cancer to the NMDA in the first half of
2022.

HSP90-PI3K SMDC: In September 2021, the Company licensed in a
preclinical-stage product portfolio of miniature drug conjugates that
consists of a PI3K inhibitor (undisclosed) payload moiety, a linker
and a HSP90 binding moiety from Tarveda. This product portfolio
demonstrated rapid and sustained tumor accumulation of the conjugate,
deep pathway inhibition, and superior efficacy than the PI3K inhibitor
on its own according to the preclinical study results. With HSP90-
PI3K SMDC and PEN-866, the Company has built a differentiated and
innovative product pipeline in treating solid tumors.

KA AR IREH A AT B 3 &
BRI ETERERER - AARKRE
REBEEREENEBEARARNELHE
FIEITE o dealing in the shares of the Company.

The Company cannot guarantee that it will be able to develop, or ultimately
market, any of the products in its pipeline successfully. Shareholders and
potential investors of the Company are advised to exercise due care when
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e  Establishment of strategic cooperation with research
organizations
Except for the close collaborations with our partners, we also established
cooperation with external research organizations to enhance our research and
development capabilities.

1) In December 2021, we entered into a strategic partnership with
Hangzhou Tigermed Consulting Co., Ltd. (stock code: 300347.52/3347.
HK). The two parties will work closely to carry out a full range of in-
depth cooperation in the field of clinical research and development of

innovative drugs;

2) Subsequent to the year-end, we finalized the cooperation with China
Pharmaceutical University to set up a joint laboratory, which will be a
long-term platform for research and development and talent training for
both parties.

e  Expansion of product development teams:
While developing with external parties, we also continued to expand our
own product development team. Our product development process is carried
out through the joint efforts of the Business Development, Research &
Development, and Regulatory Affair teams. The teams actively seek to develop
and commercialize products focusing on targeted therapies, immunotherapy
and enhanced chemotherapy options with first/best-in-class potential.

As of December 31, 2021,
approximately 100 people (As of December 31, 2020: 80).

our product development teams grew to

Sales, Marketing and Distribution

As of December 31, 2021, our sales and marketing team comprised approximately
720 employees systematically deployed to cover approximately more than 4,000
class Il and class Il hospitals in China and to capture the latest market dynamics,
including approximately 480 employees assigned to the immunology business unit,
approximately 200 employees in the oncology business unit and approximately 40
employees responsible for market access and commercial operations. Our sales and
marketing team engages in offline and online marketing and promotional activities to
generate market demand and build brand recognition for our proprietary, in-licensed
(except for Angiomax), and promotion products.

We sell our proprietary, in-licensed, and promotion products through distributors to
hospitals and pharmacies in China. Specifically, for our proprietary product, Zadaxin,
we recognize revenue through sales to our exclusive importer and distributor in

China. In compliance with the “two-invoice system”, after our sales of Zadaxin to the
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exclusive importer, it clears the products through customs of China as an imported
drug and distributes further to hospitals and pharmacies. In November 2021, the
Company entered into an import and distribution agreement to engage Shanghai
Ltd. (“Shanghai Pharma Lin-Gang"),
one of our non-substantial shareholders, as our exclusive importer and distributor

Pharmaceutical Lin-gang Special Area Co.,

of Zadaxin in China. Shanghai Pharma Lin-Gang is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Shanghai Pharmaceuticals Holding Co., Ltd., a large pharmaceutical industry group
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601607) and Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (stock code: 2607) and the largest service provider of imported drugs,
vaccines and medical devices in China. For Zadaxin's overseas sales, such as in
South Korea, Thailand, Argentina, Italy and Cambodia, we primarily rely on overseas
partners to handle marketing, promotion, sales and distribution.

As for our marketed in-licensed products and 6 promotion products, we import
and distribute them through our wholly-owned subsidiary SciClone Pharmaceuticals
(Jiangsu) Co., Ltd. (“SciClone Jiangsu”). We recognize revenue of the sales of in-
licensed products and promotion products to our distributors through the distribution
network we manage. As for Angiomax, we recognize revenue of its sales to
Huizheng.

Production, Quality Control and Supply Chain

We manufacture our proprietary product, Zadaxin, and our in-licensed product,
Angiomax, through Patheon ltalia, an industry-leading and highly reputable CMO. We
outsourced the production of in-licensed products to our partners, including Novartis
for Zometa, Vectan Pharm for Oravig and Y-mAbs for DANYELZA® (naxitamab) under
the Supply Agreement with them. Our production quality management standards

remain complied with GMP in various markets where we have operations.

In 2021, despite the pandemic pressure on international supply chain, we managed
well with our overseas CMO, partners and logistics companies to make sure stable
and healthy supply for demands in China and other countries.
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Impacts of Significant Policies with Respect to Pharmaceutical
Industry

During 2021 and as of the date of this Annual Report, a number of reform policies

were issued in China pharmaceutical industry, and the volume-based procurement

("VBP") remained the most influential one for the operation of pharmaceutical

companies.

v

Zadaxin:

Thymalfasin was listed in the catalog for the fifth batch of VBP in April 2021.
In June 2021, we participated in the fifth batch of VBP for thymalfasin with
Zadaxin but Zadaxin did not win the bid. The bid was won by four generic
thymalfasin drugs, produced by ShuangCheng Pharmaceuticals, Yangtze
River Pharmaceuticals, Sinopep Allsino Biopharmaceutical Co., and Hanyu
Pharmaceuticals, respectively. As a result, such four bid-winning generic
thymalfasin drugs will be procured by public hospitals and other public medical
institutions with priority, enabling them to increase their market share.
However, Zadaxin can still be prescribed by doctors at public hospitals and
other public medical institutions for patients in compliance with relevant
prescription regulations, or be purchased at pharmacies.

Zadaxin is the first branded thymalfasin drug approved in China in 1996.
With the first mover advantage and proven efficacy, Zadaxin has been able
to maintain strong brand recognition and product loyalty from the doctors
and target patients, especially for its potential benefits in treating SARS and
COVID-19. Most of the patients are self-paying or covered by private medical
insurance. We expect Zadaxin continues to enjoy its competitive edge as we
continue to diversify our sales through retail pharmacies, expand Zadaxin's
clinical adoptions through lifecycle management, and collaborate with
commercial insurance companies and other innovative payment solutions

providers to increase Zadaxin's insurance coverage.

Based on the actual sales in the second half of 2021 and subsequent to the
2021 year-end, we believe that our overall business, results of operations
and financial conditions were not and will not be materially affected by the
exclusion of Zadaxin from the VBP.
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v Zometa:
On January 21, 2022, National Joint Procurement Office (the “NJPO") released
the drug list for the seventh batch of VBP. Zoledronic Acid injection, the
compound for our product Zometa, was on the list. We believe that our overall
business, results of operations and financial conditions will not be materially
affected by the seventh batch of VBP:

1) Currently Zometa’s market share is not high in China’s bone metastasis
market. If Zometa is successfully included in VBP, its sales volume will
increase significantly, which will drive further growth of Zometa. If
Zometa loses the bid, Zometa can still be prescribed by doctors at public
hospitals and other public medical institutions for patients in compliance
with relevant prescription regulations and we consider the room is
sufficient for Zometa to continue to grow;

2) Regardless whether Zometa is included in VBP, we have identified new
areas of development for Zometa such as bone health management in
patients with early breast cancer, which is supported by clinical studies of
Zometa and paid by patients’ own pockets or covered by private medical

insurance;

3) We have been developing our project of Outpatient Injection Centers
Alliance since Q1 2021 to enhance patient access of Zometa outside
hospitals and provide value-added services to patients.

We will formulate our optimal strategy and choose to participate or not to
participate in the VBP depending on our balancing of various factors including

the price level, sales volume and market shares.

OUTLOOK

China has been rebalancing its economy towards services, innovation and
consumption driven growth while addressing inequity and supporting industries such
as healthcare, technology and e-commerce. Looking out to 2022, we will continue
to align our development strategy with the government’s aims of building a more
innovative and productive economy and healthcare industry.
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Top priorities in 2022:

Strengthen marketed product portfolio:
1) Implement Internet Hospital Model to further address patient access of

Zadaxin and other products, with multiple service providers for broad
coverage;

2) Drive clinical evidence analysis and publication on Zadaxin in severe

infection;

3) Continue to invest in outpatient injection centers and private hospitals to
promote Zometa;

4) Renew partnership with Pfizer;

Accelerate product pipeline:

1) Obtain BLA approval of DANYELZA® (naxitamab) and continue driving
patient adoption in multiple pilot zones before commercial launch;

2) Initiate Phase Ill study of RRx-001 and Phase /Il study of PEN-866;

3) License-in assets in oncology and severe infection to fulfill unmet medical

needs in China;

Enhance product development capabilities:

1) Establish the Scientific Advisory Board to support proactive screening
system for new assets;

2) Scale up the in-house research and clinical development capability
through multiple global studies;

Look for merger and acquisition opportunities:

1) Develop a merger and acquisition strategy that supports the Company’s
goal of becoming a leading specialty pharma in oncology and severe
infections;

2) Actively search for potential acquisition targets;

Integrate talent strategy:

Update SciClone Talent Portrait as guidance for talent recruitment and
development.
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BZ12A31HILLEE
Year ended December 31,
20214 20204
2021 2020
ARBEET AREBEET

RMB million % RMB million %

WA Revenue 2,518.5 100.0 1,918.6 100.0

AR AR Cost of revenue (585.5) (23.2) (428.1) (22.3)

EX Gross profit 1,933.0 76.8 1,490.5 77.7

SHE R Selling and marketing expenses (579.2) (23.0) (456.4) (23.8)

THBRX Administrative expenses (206.4) (8.2) (216.2) (11.3)

e R&D expenses (134.4) (5.3) (75.4) (3.9)

H A Other income 42.8 1.7 139.2 7.3

HEbFE Other expenses (16.8) (0.7) (75.2) (3.9)

H W e S48 Other gains, net 19.1 0.8 28.5 1.5

RERE Operating profit 1,058.1 42.0 834.9 435

A& WA Finance income 8.0 0.3 11.5 0.6

L& R Finance costs (40.2) (1.6) (29.6) (1.5)

A KA F 5 Finance costs, net (32.2) (1.3) (18.1) (0.9)

FR8H AR Profit before income tax 1,025.9 40.7 816.8 42.6

PSR = Income tax expenses (102.5) (4.0) (63.1) (3.3)
EABHEE AES Profit for the year attributable to the

FRFHE owner of the Company 923.4 36.7 753.7 39.3
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A Revenue
BZE12A31BLFE
Year ended December 31,
20215 2020%F
2021 2020
ARBEER AREBEETT
RMB million % RMB million %
BBEMm Proprietary product 1,978.0 78.5 1,568.2 81.7
REBEIERHEE Promotion products for business partners
HEEM 357.2 14.2 336.3 17.5
S| AEm In-licensed product 183.3 7.3 5.9 0.4
DC Bead DC Bead — — 8.1 0.4
&% Total 2,518.5 100.0 1,918.6 100.0

HE2021FE12A3BILEEE  KAHNBAR
¥25185E &L RAFHMAIZ1.3% @ @
TOFENERAF S NZTABERBEWLD
WY E RRESIANERFREESMER -
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For the year ended December 31, 2021, revenue was approximately RMB2,518.5
million, representing an increase of approximately 31.3% over the last year, a record
growth in the past four years driven by brisk sales of our proprietary product Zadaxin
and commercial launch of in-licensed products.
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Proprietary product

Zadaxin is our proprietary product. The expansion of clinical adoptions through life
cycle management, the increased recognition of clinical benefits from physicians and
patients especially after COVID-19 pandemic, and the trend of online healthcare

service through GTP model, fueled the sustainable growth of Zadaxin.

Revenue from sales of Zadaxin increased by RMB409.8 million, or 26.1% from
RMB1,568.2 million for the last year to RMB1,978.0 million in 2021, despite the high
base of Zadaxin sales for the prevention and clinical treatment of COVID-19 in China
for the year ended December 31, 2020.

In-licensed product

Zometa is our in-licensed product from Novartis. As authorized by Novartis, we began
distributing Zometa as the importer and distributor in certain provinces in China
since December 2020 and thereby started recording as part of revenue from our
sales of Zometa. After completion of IDL transfer in January 2021, we became MAH
of Zometa. We generated product revenue of RMB169.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2021. Zometa was partially sold through the distribution network
of Novartis before the completion of the conversion of distributor from Novartis to
SciClone Jiangsu in the second half of 2021. Therefore we recognized those sales by
Novartis through profit transferred from Novartis in other income.

Promotion products for business partners

Our promotion products for business partners include Farlutal, Methotrexate, and
Estracyt, which we promote and sell for Pfizer, and Holoxan, Mesna and Endoxan,
which we promote and sell for Baxter. Revenue from sales of promotion products for
business partners increased by RMB20.9 million, or 6.2% from RMB336.3 million for
the last year to RMB357.2 million in 2021.

The increase reflected our efforts in sales and marketing activities to enhance brand
recognition of our promotion products. In 2021, the number of hospital visits and
operations by patients recovered from COVID-19 pandemic as many hospitals in
China allocated significant resources to contain COVID-19 and patients suffering from
other diseases generally avoid going to hospital to prevent being infected in 2020.
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Cost of revenue

Our cost of revenue increased by 36.8% to RMB585.5 million in 2021 from
RMB428.1 million for the last year. Among the increase of cost of revenue, the
rise of product costs and freight costs generally followed the growth of sales of
Zadaxin, Zometa and promotion products. The surge of amortization of intangible
assets was resulted from Zometa’s IDL transfer in January 2021. We started to
recognize Zometa's partial amortization of intangible assets in the cost of revenue
corresponding to our product revenue of Zometa in 2021, while we recorded the full
amortization of RMB35.2 million in other expenses in 2020.

The following table sets forth our cost of revenue by amount, as a percentage of total
cost of revenue and as a percentage of total revenues for the years indicated:

BZ12A318LEE
Year ended December 31,
20214 20204
2021 2020

AREEER Aotk BBABESE ARBEET Ao EBABESK

RMB million % % of Revenue RMB million % % of Revenue

E B Product costs 416.6 71.2 16.5 364.5 85.1 19.0
A Amortization of

intangible assets 74.0 12.6 2.9 7.8 1.8 0.4

BB Freight costs 37.8 6.5 1.5 345 8.1 1.8

BERA Warehouse costs 17.9 3.1 0.7 14.8 3.5 0.8

HAh, Others 39.2 6.6 1.6 2.4 1.5 0.3

&ast Total 585.5 100.0 23.2 428.1 100.0 22.3

BN EMBEFHARE1,49058 B oig
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Our gross profit increased by RMB442.5 million, or 29.7%, to RMB1,933.0 million
in 2021 from RMB1,490.5 million for the last year, and our gross margin decreased
by 0.9 ppt to 76.8% in 2021 from 77.7% for the last year, primarily resulted
from a change of our product mix. In 2021 we generated top-line revenue from
Zometa, while Zometa had lower gross margin compared with Zadaxin as it incurred
amortization cost of intangible assets.
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Selling and Marketing Expenses

Our selling and marketing expenses increased by 26.9% to RMB579.2 million
for the year ended December 31, 2021 from RMB456.4 million for the last year,
which was mainly due to: 1) the low base in 2020 when market development and
business promotion activities were interrupted by the outbreak of COVID-19; 2) rise
of employee benefits along with the expansion of our sales and marketing team.
Promotion related expenses and employee benefits increased by RMB41.8 million and
RMB63.0 million respectively.

General and Administrative Expenses

Our general and administrative expenses decreased by 4.5% to RMB206.4 million for
the year ended December 31, 2021 from RMB216.2 million for the last year, which
was primarily attributable to the decline of listing expenses as the Company was listed
on March 3, 2021.

Research and Development Expenses

Our research and development expenses increased by 78.2% to RMB134.4 million for
the year ended December 31, 2021 from RMB75.4 million for the last year. During
the year of 2021, testing and clinical trial expenses increased by RMB44.1 million
or 154.6%, as expenses of several key research and development projects such as
RRx-001, DANYELZA®(naxitamab) and Zadaxin grew compared with the prior year,
resulted from the progressing of research and registration. In addition, with expansion
of research and development team, employee benefit increased by RMB10.8 million
or 30.1%.

Other Income and Other Expenses

Our other income decreased to RMB42.8 million for the year ended December
31, 2021 from RMB139.2 million for the last year, primarily because: i) there
was decrease in licensing income of Zometa product resulting from our licensing
arrangement with Novartis. After the completion of the conversion of distributor from
Novartis to SciClone Jiangsu in the second half of 2021, we recognized all sales of
Zometa in the product revenue; ii) in 2020, there was other income from DC Bead
business termination compensation from Boston Scientific of RMB51.4 million while
none was in 2021.

Our other expenses decreased to RMB16.8 million for the year ended December
31, 2021 from RMB75.2 million for the last year, resulted from the decrease of
amortization of intangible assets in relation to Zometa. As we completed gradual
conversion of distributor from Novartis to SciClone Jiangsu in 2021, we recognized
partial amortization in the cost of revenue corresponding to our product revenue of
Zometa, rather than full amount in other expenses.
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Other Gains, Net

We had net other gains of RMB19.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2021,
compared to net other gains of RMB28.5 million for the last year, primarily due to a
decrease of RMB17.2 million in net foreign exchange gains resulting from fluctuations
in the value of USD against RMB in 2021.

Operating Profit

As a result of the foregoing, our operating profit was RMB1,058.1 million in 2021,
compared to an operating profit of RMB834.9 million for the last year.

Finance Costs, Net

We had net finance costs of RMB32.2 million in 2021, compared to a net finance cost
of RMB18.1 million for the last year, primarily due to an increase of RMB10.8 million
in interest expenses on borrowings from China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd. Hong
Kong Branch in June 2020.

Income Tax Expense

Our income tax expense increased to RMB102.5 million in 2021 from the income tax
expenses of RMB63.1 million for the last year, which was primarily due to the increase
in our profit before income tax during the year.

Profit for the Year

As a result of the foregoing, our profit for the year was RMB923.4 million in 2021,
compared to the profit of RMB753.7 million for the last year.

Other Financial Information
Capital Structure

The Company continued to maintain a healthy and sound financial position. Our
total assets grew to RMB4,062.7 million as of December 31, 2021 from RMB2,882.6
million as of December 31, 2020, whilst our total liabilities decreased to RMB1,745.3
million as of December 31, 2021 from RMB2,570.8 million as of December 31, 2020.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

Liquidity, Financial Resources, and Gearing

We have historically funded our cash requirements principally from cash generated
from operations, and to a lesser extent, equity and debt financing. We adopt
prudent treasury policies in cash and financial management. To achieve better risk
control and minimize cost of funds, our treasury activities are centralized. Cash is
generally placed in short-term deposits mostly denominated in HKD. Our liquidity and
financing requirements are reviewed regularly. We will consider new financing while
maintaining an appropriate level of gearing in anticipation of new investments or
maturity of bank loans.

As of December 31, 2021, we had cash and cash equivalents of RMB2,127.5 million,
which were predominantly denominated in HKD. Going forward, we believe that
our liquidity requirements will be satisfied by using a combination of cash generated
from operating activities, the net proceeds received from the global offering of the
Company and other funds raised from the capital markets from time to time.

As of December 31, 2021, we had no unutilized banking facilities. Our total
borrowings were approximately RMB1,144.7 million as of December 31, 2021, all of
which was denominated in USD. The following table sets forth further details of our
banking borrowings as of December 31, 2021:

AREBETR F =

RMB million Interest rate

BEM Secured 1,144.7 RBERTRAERE
£%2.3%

LIBOR plus 2.3%

&5t Total 1,144.7 T3
N/A

HZE2021F12A831H - RPIMEBEEABL X
(BEERABERE) B43.0% (HE2020912
A31H A89.2%) °

As of December 31, 2021, we had a gearing ratio (total liabilities over total assets) of
43.0% (89.2% as of December 31, 2020).
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Contingent Liabilities

As of December 31, 2021, we did not have any material contingent liabilities.

Capital Expenditure

Our capital expenditures principally comprise expenditures for purchases of property
and equipment relating to office use and purchase of intangible assets. Our capital
expenditures changed to RMB190.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2021
from RMB469.4 million for the last year. We plan to fund our planned capital
expenditures using cash generated from operations and the net proceeds from the
global offering of the Company.

Material Acquisitions and Future Plans for Major Investments

The Company did not conduct any material acquisition or investment during the year
ended December 31, 2021.

Significant Investments Held

The Group continues to give regard to prudent capital management and liquidity risk
management in its investment strategy, and follow stringent procedures to evaluate
and approve investment projects. To decide whether to invest in certain acquisition
and investment projects, the Company will mainly consider the assessment of the
strategic impact and net present value of the project. As of December 31, 2021, the
Group held 531,438 shares in Zentalis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (NASDAQ: ZNTL, the
“Zentalis”) (the “Investment”), representing approximately 1.3% of the issued
and outstanding shares of Zentalis according to the public information. Zentalis is a
clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company focusing on discovering and developing
small molecule therapeutics targeting fundamental biological pathways of cancers.
The Group made the investment in December 2014 with the investment cost as
the nominal value of these shares and Zentalis became listed on NASDAQ in April
2020. As of December 31, 2021, the fair value of the Investment was approximately
RMB284.8 million, representing approximately 7.0% of the total asset of the Group
(December 31, 2020: 6.3%). The Group did not receive any dividend from Zentalis
during the year of 2021. Save as disclosed above, the Group did not hold any
significant investments for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Pledge of Assets

Details of pledges of assets are included in Note 30 to the financial information of this

Annual Report.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

Foreign Exchange Risk Management

Our subsidiaries operate in Cayman Islands, Mainland China and Hong Kong, and
they are exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from currency exposure, primarily
with respect to RMB. Foreign exchange risk primarily arises from recognized assets
and liabilities in our subsidiaries in Cayman Islands when receiving or to receive
foreign currencies from, or paying or to pay foreign currencies to business partners.
We manage foreign exchange risk by performing regular reviews of our foreign
exchange exposures and try to minimize these exposures through natural hedges,
wherever possible, and may enter into forward foreign exchange contracts, when
necessary. We did not enter into any forward contract or other financial instruments

to hedge our exposure to foreign currency risk in 2021.

Employees and Remuneration Policy

As of December 31, 2021, we had approximately 890 full-time employees, most of
whom were based in Mainland China, with the remainder in Hong Kong, United
States, ltaly, and the Cayman Islands.

Committed to establishing a competitive, fair remuneration and benefits system, we
continually refine our remuneration and incentive policies in order to ensure that our
employees receive competitive remuneration packages. As required under the PRC
regulations, we participate in housing fund and various employee social security plan
that are organized by applicable local municipal and provincial governments. We
also purchase commercial health and accidental insurance for our employees. We
also provide regular and specialized trainings tailored to the needs of our employees
in different departments, so that our employees may stay up to date with the latest
industrial developments and technological advancements. In order to incentivize our
employees, we have granted and planned to continue to grant share-based incentive
awards to our employees in the future to incentivize their contributions to our growth

and development.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed above, there are no important events that have occurred after the
end of the Reporting Period and up to the date of this Annual Report.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Director

Mr. Zhao Hong (#3%), aged 58, is our executive Director, chief executive officer and
president. He is a member of Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Zhao
has more than 30 years of experience in the medical and pharmaceutical industry.
Prior to joining our Group, he served as a lecturer of Nanjing Medical University
(AR ERIKE) from July 1986 to September 1992, and served in Xian Janssen
Pharmaceutical Ltd. (FAZHRVEEARAF]) from December 1992 to July 1995, a
regional sales manager, national sales director and senior vice president of Beijing
Novartis Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (At RFEZEREZH R A 7)) from July 1995 to February
2011, and an executive vice president of Simcere Pharmaceutical Group (JcE ZE3 %
&) from February 2011 to April 2013. Mr. Zhao joined SciClone US in April 2013 and
served as its CEO (China Operations), in charge of its operations in China before the
incorporation of the Company.

Mr. Zhao received his bachelor’'s degree in clinical medicine from Nanjing Medical
University (FAREEIREZ) (formerly known as Nanjing Medical College (7R %2
fE)) in July 1986, in Jiangsu province, the PRC. He obtained his Executive Master of
Business Administration (“EMBA") from China Europe International Business School
(PEEIEE TRI26%) in April 2002, in Shanghai, the PRC.

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Li Zhenfu, aged 58, is our non-executive Director and the Chairman of the
Board. Mr. Li is the chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Li is
the founder of GL Capital Group (248 & 7x), one of our substantial Shareholders, and
has served as its president and chief executive officer since February 2010. Prior to
founding GL Capital Group, Mr. Li served as the China president of Novartis Overseas
Investment AG Beijing Representative Office from June 2004 to January 2010. Mr.
Li also has served as a director of The Nature Conservancy (KERREHE) since
September 2009, a director of China Entrepreneur Club (FFEI{3KIBZEE) since
April 2009, and a vice executive president of Pharmaceutical Chamber of Commerce
of All-China Federation of Industry and Commerce (FEZETRHBEEERS)
since December 2010. Mr. Li obtained his bachelor's degree in materials science
from Beihang University (3t = finZEfin A A 22) in July 1986, in Beijing, the PRC, and his
master’s degree in metallurgical engineering from lllinois Institute of Technology in
December 1988, in Chicago, the U.S.
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Dr. Daniel Luzius Vasella, aged 68, is our non-executive Director. Dr. Vasella
has over 40 years of experience in the medical and pharmaceutical industry. Prior
to joining our Group, from December 1996 to February 2010, Dr. Vasella was
chief executive officer and from February 1999 to February 2013, he served as the
chairman of the board of Novartis International AG (New York Stock Exchange: NVS
and Six Swiss Exchange: NOVN). Dr. Vasella served as a director of XBiotech Inc.
(NASDAQ: XBIT) from November 2014 to January 2018.

Dr. Vasella has served as an independent non-executive director of PepsiCo, Inc.
(NASDAQ: PEP) since February 2002 and an independent non-executive director of
American Express Company (New York Stock Exchange: AXP) since July 2012. Dr.
Vasella was appointed as Economic Advisor to Governor of Guangdong Province, the
PRC by the governor of Guangdong Province, the PRC in November 2003. He also
served as chairman of the International Business Leaders’ Advisory Council for the
Mayor of Shanghai (IBLAC) in 2004 and 2005.

Dr. Vasella obtained the FMH Specialty certification in internal medicine in November
1985; he pursued his psychodynamic and psychotherapy training at the University of
Bern and Freudinstitut Zurich from September 1978 to May 1988, the Program of
Management Development certification from Harvard Business School in December
1989; the certified coach qualification from Der Deutsche Bundesverband Coaching
(DBVC) in Germany in June 2014; and the certified coach qualification from “The
Leadership Circle” in September 2016.

Dr. Vasella received Ordem Cruzeiro do Sul from President of Brazil, in 2000,
Harvard Business School’s Alumni Achievement Award from Harvard Business
School, in October 2003, first international award for responsible capitalism 2003
by the archbishop of canterbury, the most Rev & Rt Hon Dr Rowan Williams PC
FBA in December 2003, was entitled the foreign honorary membership of American
Academy of Arts and Sciences in 2008, and Prix Pasteur from the Institut Pasteur, in
France in 2007. Dr. Vasella was adjudged the winner of Golden Peacock Leadership
Award for Corporate Social Responsibility 2010 by the chairman of the Golden
Peacock Global Awards in September 2010.

Dr. Vasella obtained his Swiss medical diploma from the University of Bern in
December 1979, in Bern, the Switzerland, and his doctor of medicine degree from the
University of Bern in October 1980, in Bern, Switzerland. He also received an honorary
doctorate degree by the University of Basel, Switzerland.
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Ms. Lin Shirley Yi-Hsien, aged 39, is our non-executive Director. Ms. Lin has
extensive experience in investment and is currently the managing director of private
equity investment department of GL Capital, one of our substantial Shareholders. She
has been with GL Capital since August 2011.

Ms. Lin obtained her bachelor’s degree in management science and engineering from
Stanford University in June 2004.

Ms. Li Quan (Z&), aged 41, is our non-executive Director. Ms. Li is a member
of Audit Committee of the Company. Ms. Li has over ten years of experience in
investment management. Ms. Li served as an executive director of CDH Investments
Management (Hong Kong) Limited, one of our substantial Shareholders, from
December 2010 to May 2017 and has served as a managing director in private equity
department since June 2017, responsible for the management of CDH Fund V.

Ms. Li obtained her double bachelor’'s degree in cell biology and genetics, and
economy from Peking University (3t 5K 22) in July 2002, in Beijing, the PRC, and her
master’s degree in school of computing in bioinformatics from National University of
Singapore in July 2004, in Singapore.

Mr. Shi Cen (FA%), aged 46, is our non-executive Director. Mr. Shi has about 20
years of experience in the field of investment management. Mr. Shi joined Ascendent
Capital Partners (Asia) Limited (EEEZR (Z5M) BRAF]) in April 2011, and
currently serves as a partner. He currently holds directorships in several companies
including an independent non-executive director of IDG Energy Investment Limited
(Hong Kong Stock Exchange: 0650) since August 2016, and a director of BE
Education Ltd. (%zEZ BB R A7) since May 2019. Mr. Shi served as an analyst of
Goldman Sachs from November 2000 to May 2003, a vice president of CCMP Capital
Asia Pte Ltd. (formerly known as JP Morgan Partners Asia) from May 2003 to June
2007, a senior vice president of D. E. Shaw & Co. from June 2007 to March 2011,
and a director of Ningxia Xiajin Dairy Group Company Limited (% E B3 7| ¥ £ E K&
MAR AR from June 2014 to July 2020.

Mr. Shi obtained his bachelor’s degree and master’s degree, both in economics, from
Tsinghua University (BZEAZ) in July 1997 and June 1999, respectively, in Beijing,
the PRC.
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Ms. Wang Haixia (£/88), aged 48, is our non-executive Director. Ms. Wang is
currently the deputy chief executive officer of Bank of China Group Investment
Limited (FIREEEIR A BIRAA], "BOCGI"), one of our substantial Shareholders. Prior
to joining BOCGI, Ms. Wang held various positions within Bank of China Limited
(FEERTTIRD BRAR]) (Hong Kong Stock Exchange: 3988 and Shanghai Stock
Exchange: 601988) since March 1993, including the senior product manager and
deputy general manager of the E-finance Department from May 2015 to August
2019, and the deputy general manager of Digital Platform Center of Personal Digital
Banking Product Department from August 2019 to August 2020. Ms. Wang has
served as a non-executive director of Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
(Hong Kong Stock Exchange: 2008) since March 2021.

Ms. Wang obtained her bachelor’s degree in marketing from Shandong University
(LB R E2) in July 1995 and master’s degree in business administrative from Renmin
University of China (F B AR KE) in March 1999.

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Liu Guoen (2IE2.), aged 64, is our independent non-executive Director. He is a
member of Nomination Committee of the Company. Dr. Liu has served as the Dean of
Peking University Institute for Global Health and Development since 2020 (At R A2
2HREFEEEMERE), a MOH Yangtze River Scholar Professor of Economics (24
BERTE2EFIEHIR) at National School of Development of Peking University (1t
RARBBIREEIZERT) since 2013, and the director of PKU China Center for Health
Economic Research (b A2 BIAT AL BT FTH L) since 2006. Dr. Liu has served
as an independent non-executive director of MicroPort Scientific Corporation (#§ £l &8
BERIEZBERAE]) (Hong Kong Stock Exchange: 0853) since September 2010.

Dr. Liu graduated from mathematics, physics and chemistry department of Southwest
Minzu University (FEFE R & A2Z2) in 1982, in Sichuan Province, the PRC, and obtained
his master's degree in statistics from Southwestern University of Finance and
Economics (FaRIET4E A& in 1985, in Sichuan Province, the PRC, and his doctoral

degree in economics from the City University of New York in 1991.

Dr. Chen Ping, aged 63, is our independent non-executive Director. He is a member
of the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Dr. Chen is the founder of
PharmaResources (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (_£/85A 8 %R EE 208 (9 B PR 2 7)) and has been
serving as its chairman of the board and the chief executive officer since December
2007. Prior to that, Dr. Chen once served in Bristol Myers Squibb Company (New
York Stock Exchange: BMY) and was the main inventor of several patents including
Dasatini.

Dr. Chen obtained his bachelor’s degree in organic chemistry from Peking University
(AEFKE) in April 1982 in Beijing, the PRC, and his doctoral degree in organic
chemistry from Duke University in May 1990 in North Carolina State, the U.S.
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Mr. Gu Alex Yushao, aged 52, is our independent non-executive Director. He is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee of the Company and a member of the
Audit Committee of the Company. Mr. Gu has over 26 years of experience in business
administration and corporate management. Mr. Gu serves as a senior vice president,
president of Greater China operations and a member of global executive committee
of Medtronic since January 2018. Prior to that, Mr. Gu once served as a consultant
of McKinsey & Company and a corporate executive of base resins and the business
leader in Asia Pacific of SABIC Innovative Plastics. He also served as the corporate
executive of China of General Electric Company (New York Stock Exchange: GE) from
May 2004 to May 2008, the president in China of Covidien Healthcare International
Trading (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (which is currently a part of Medtronic plc) from
September 2009 to January 2015. Mr. Gu then joined Medtronic plc (New York Stock
Exchange: MDT), and served as a vice president, and the president of Medtronic's
Minimum Invasive Therapy Group (MITG) and Regional Growth Initiative Group from
January 2015 to December 2017.

Mr. Gu obtained his bachelor’s degree in engineering and Master of Science degree
in Mississippi State University in December 1991 and December 1993, respectively, in
Mississippi State, the U.S., and his Master of Business Administration ("MBA") from
the University of Chicago’s Booth School of Business in June 2001, in Chicago, the
u.s.

Ms. Wendy Hayes, aged 52, is our independent non-executive Director. She is
the chairwoman of the Audit Committee of the Company and a member of the
Nomination Committee of the Company. Ms. Hayes is currently an ALl Fellow at
Harvard University. Ms. Hayes has served as an independent director of Grace Il
Biotechnologies Inc. (NASDAQ: GRCL) since January 2021, iHuman Inc. (New York
Stock Exchange: IH) since October 2020, Burning Rock Biotech Limited (NASDAQ:
BNR) since June 2020, and Tuanche Limited (NASDAQ: TC) since November 2018.
Between May 2013 and September 2018, Ms. Hayes served as the inspections leader
at the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board in the United States. Prior to that,
Ms. Hayes was an audit partner at Deloitte (China).

Ms. Hayes is a certified public accountant in the United States (California) and China.
Ms. Hayes obtained her certified public accountant license from the California Board
of Accountancy in November 1998.

Ms. Hayes received her bachelor’'s degree in international finance from University of
International Business and Economics (#f4MEEE 5K Z) in June 1991, in Beijing,
the PRC, and her executive MBA from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business (£
JTPHE2PT) in October 2012, in Shanghai, the PRC.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

For biographical details of Mr. Zhao Hong, who form part of our senior management

u

team, please refer to “— Directors — Executive Director” in this section of this

Annual Report.

Mr. Shao Peter Chihwen, aged 59, is a vice president of our Company. Mr. Shao
has over 20 years of experience in the pharmaceutical industry. Prior to joining our
Group in February 2012, Mr. Shao worked at several U.S. pharmaceutical companies,
including Noven Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Andrx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (currently known
as Actavis, Inc.), Nektar Therapeutics, Inc. (currently known as Novartis International
AG (New York Stock Exchange: NVS and the Six Swiss Exchange: NOVN)), Jazz
Pharmaceuticals plc (NASDAQ: JAZZ), Kanghong Sagent (Chengdu) Pharmaceutical
Corporation Limited (BZ5AE® (B(HF) L% BMWRAF]) (currently known as Segent
(China) Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. (l2#RZHR A7), Flavine North America, Inc.
and Map Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (currently known as AbbVie Inc. (New York Stock
Exchange: ABBV)).

Mr. Shao obtained his bachelor’s degree in marine chemistry from Xiamen University
(EEPIAE2) in July 1979 in Fujian Province, the PRC, his master's degree in analytical
chemistry from Florida International University in April 1992 in Florida State, the U.S.,
and his MBA degree from San Jose State University in May 2007 in California State,
the U.S.

Mr. Wu Mingxiang (R 83%), aged 56, is a vice president of our Company. Mr. Wu
Mingxiang has 24 years of experience in sales and management in the medical and
pharmaceutical industry. Prior to joining our Group, he served as a pharmaceutical
sales representative and the director of South China region of Beijing Novartis
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (At RFEZERBEHRR A A]) from October 1996 to February
2014. Prior to this, Mr. Wu served as a lecturer of Jiangxi Medical College of
Nanchang University (FAE&AZ)IFEEZR) (formerly known as Jiangxi Medical
College (TFAEEEpR)).

Mr. Wu received his bachelor degree in medicine from Jiangxi Medical College of
Nanchang University (FIEAETFEER) (formerly known as Jiangxi Medical
College (TFEEET)) in June 1990 in Jiangxi Province, the PRC.
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Mr. Chang Yansong (E%#2), aged 53, is a vice president of our Company and
the vice president and general manager of oncology business unit of our Company.
Mr. Chang has 27 years of experience of marketing and business operation in the
pharmaceutical industry. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Chang served as an engineer
of Northeast Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd. (RILEZEEE XD AR A 7)) (Shenzhen
Stock Exchange: 000597), formerly known as Northeast General Pharmaceutical
Factory (RILBIEELERR) from July 1991 to February 1994, a national business
manager of Sino-American Shanghai Squibb Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. (3% /G5
EEREGRAF]) from May 1995 to February 2008, and a marketing manager of
Medtronic (Shanghai) Management Co., Ltd. (EZ (L&) EEHRAR]) from
March 2008 to May 2013.

Mr. Chang obtained his bachelor’s degree in biochemistry from Jilin University (5 #%
AZ) in July 1991 in Jilin Province, the PRC, and his EMBA from Shanghai Jiao Tong
University (/83238 A E) in December 2008 in Shanghai, the PRC.

Mr. Jia Min (E#), aged 50, is a vice president and the head of the immunization
business department of our Company. Mr. Jia has 24 years of experience relating
to sales and market development in the medical and pharmaceutical industry.
Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Jia held several positions with Shanghai Roche
Pharmaceuticals Ltd. (L/8ZKREHEERAF]) from April 1996 to April 2010 with
his last position serving as a business unit director (business unit head) of Shanghai
Roche Pharmaceuticals Ltd. Mr. Jia served as a marketing director of Nycomed
Pharmaceutical Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (XRIBAZZZH (LE) BRA
7l) from August 2010 to June 2011, and a general manager of anti-inflammatory,
analgesic and rheumatic immunity department in Simcere Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (5t
B2 L E) from August 2011 to August 2013. From August 2013 to March 2017,
Mr. Jia served as a deputy general manager and general manager of business unit of
Sunshine Guojian Pharmaceutical (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (=4 Bz ( -8) RHA
R A7) (formerly known as Shanghai CP Guojian Pharmaceutical Development Co.,
Ltd., BB EEfEEEZER AR /AR, and a vice president of 3SBio Inc. (=4 &%)
(Hong Kong Stock Exchange: 1530).

Mr. Jia was awarded the Gold Award for Excellence of Innovation in Roche
Global Pharmaceuticals 2003 Olympiad Award Competition by the Roche Global
Pharmaceuticals Division in May 2004, and won 2008 Roche Global Pharma CEO
Award for Innovation and Excellence by the Roche Global Pharmaceuticals Division in
December 2008.

Mr. Jia received his MBA from Asia International Open University (Macau) (22 (&
F9) BIFRARAE) in March 2003, in Macau. Mr. Jia also received his diploma in
management from China Europe International Business School (HFEREIFR T p20)
in December 2006 in Shanghai, the PRC, and completed the Chief Marketing Officer
course for senior management from the same school in October 2015.
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Mr. Wu Lianzong (RE’R), aged 47, is the vice president of our Company. Mr.
Wu has 22 years of experience in the regulatory registration in the pharmaceutical
industry in China. Prior to joining our Group, he once served in Allergan Information
Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., and the head of China regulatory affairs of Hospira
(China) Enterprise Management Co., Ltd. (575 (FE) ©EEEBRAF), from
October 2012 to September 2016.

Mr. Wu received his qualification of pharmacist from China Pharmaceutical
Association (FEIZEEE) on July 15, 1998. Mr. Wu obtained his bachelor’s degree
in medicine from Hebei Medical University (A/itZ8RIKE) in June 1998 in Hebei
Province, the PRC, and his master’s degree in medicinal chemistry from Peking Union
Medical College (3t 13 F1%&ZFt) (whose Chinese name was formerly known as (¥
Bl 173 F1EE BIK22) in March 2004 in Beijing, the PRC.

Dr. Guo Xiaoning (3BEEZE), aged 44, is a vice president, the head of research and
development department and the chief medical officer of our Company. Dr. Guo
has 15 years of R&D experience in the pharmaceutical industry. Prior to joining our
group, Dr. Guo served as a research affiliate of Roswell Park Cancer Institute from
July 2005 to April 2007, a senior scientist of AstraZeneca Pharmaceutical Company
Limited (New York Stock Exchange: AZN, London Stock Exchange: AZN, and Nasdaq
Stockholm AB: AZN) from June 2007 to December 2011, a program manager at
Johnson & Johnson Medical (Shanghai) Ltd. (&4 (L&) EBZEEMBRAF]) from
January 2012 to February 2014, a senior director and a clinical drug development
leader of Covance, Inc. from February 2014 to November 2018, and consecutively a
deputy general manager, the head of clinical development and regulatory affairs of
General Regeneratives (Shanghai) Limited (X 24 2R T (L&) BR2AR) from
November 2018 to March 2020.

Dr. Guo obtained his bachelor's degree in chemistry from Nanjing University (Fg
FAZ) in July 2000 in Jiangsu Province, the PRC, and his doctoral degree in
pharmacology from Shanghai Institute of Materia Medica of Chinese Academy of
Sciences (R EIRIEPE G ZEYFFIEFT) in July 2005 in Shanghai, the PRC.

Save as disclosed herein, none of the senior management of our Company held any
directorship in public companies, the securities of which are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years immediately preceding the

date of this Annual Report.

TWEHEFEIZRABMR AT SciClone Pharmaceuticals (Holdings) Limited 2021 £ & & &% ANNUAL REPORT 41



e

TERERMSE

Corporate Governance Report

ARrEEgERHRARRERN LT AE
FE2021F12A31MB LA ARR N EE
B e

TEERER
ARREESEH IR GRS RISE

of [

mf =

MR EEE -

§$EHLE HTT&E)]JL%ﬁ/E\iﬁ@ég’

RAERNBREBERER  RIATCEEE H
EEBRBEBREARRESHEEARLRER

BEMIRMAELR -

ARBERBCETRADM S+ T #b %
EOAST AN BRI ST MRS - (ERA AT
TEREREFMRMEE -

B2022F1A1H (EEATADNEE
([EEERFIFAUDAED  DEEBERHTH
BTN HIARE S EBN2022F1B1B R 2 1EH
BB EENCEEARE EETCRE
BEEARELCARANLCEERATH U

RETEXERMTANESZHERBRR
F—H o
EERL R ETHEBEZE2021F12831H

R ARE - EMT(EEE
#0605 7 R -
EERHRS

ARAFEFRACET R A+ PrEGRES
Al o

A ST RIDET

EAEBEFELBESHAE 2REFC
R EER LM HEBAE2021F12A31H —
BT EEF -

ARAF IR Bh AT BE R B AR A AR A e B (E
BREAHMEBLETNESRX S EEEIES

(MEEEmEES))  EEERELNERR
EFR - ARFMBEEREETETEESSE
EE3IMIER

42

The Board is pleased to report to the Shareholders on the corporate governance of
the Company for the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2021.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of the Company is committed to maintaining high corporate governance

standards.

The Board believes that high corporate governance standards are essential in
providing a framework for the Company to safeguard the interests of shareholders,
enhance corporate value, formulate its business strategies and policies, and enhance
its transparency and accountability.

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions of the CG Code
contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules as the basis of the Company’s
corporate governance practices.

On 1 January 2022, the amendments to the Corporate Governance Code (the “New
CG Code”) came into effect and the requirements under the New CG code will apply
to corporate governance reports for financial year commencing on or after 1 January
2022. The Board will continue to review and enhance its corporate governance
practice of the Company to ensure compliance with the New CG Code and align with
the latest developments.

In the opinion of the Directors, during the period from the Listing Date to December
31, 2021, the Company has complied with all the code provisions as set out in the
CG Code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the Directors have confirmed
that they have complied with the Model Code throughout the period from the Listing
Date to December 31, 2021.

The Company has also established written guidelines (the “Employees Written
Guidelines”) no less exacting than the Model Code for securities transactions
by employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive
information of the Company. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees
Written Guidelines by the employees was noted by the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which oversees the Group’s businesses,
strategic decisions and performance and takes decisions objectively in the best
interests of the Company.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required from a Director to
perform his responsibilities to the Company, and whether the Director is spending
sufficient time performing them.

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises eleven Directors, consisting of one executive Director,
six non-executive Directors, and four independent non-executive Directors. The
composition of the Board is as follows:

Executive Director
Mr. Zhao Hong (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Zhenfu (Chairman)

Dr. Daniel Luzius Vasella

Ms. Lin Shirley Yi-Hsien

Ms. Li Quan

Mr. Shi Cen

Ms. Wang Xiaozhuo (Resigned on June 16, 2021)
Ms. Wang Haixia (Appointed on June 16, 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Liu Guoen

Dr. Chen Ping

Mr. Gu Alex Yushao
Ms. Wendy Hayes

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Directors’ Biographical Information” on pages 34 to 38 of the Annual Report for the
year ended December 31, 2021. None of the members of the Board is related to one
another.

Board Meetings and Directors’ Attendance Records

Regular Board meetings should be held at least four times a year involving active
participation, either in person or through electronic means of communication, of a
majority of Directors.
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For the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2021, the Board held five
meetings in March, May, June, August and December, respectively.

A summary of the attendance records of the Directors at the Board meetings and
the general meeting of the Company held for the period from the Listing Date to
December 31, 2021 is set out below:

HEER EEEA
Attendance/Number of Meetings
BREFAE
EEEE; Annual General
EEpnE Name of Directors Board Meeting
R AE (7THEAEZE) Mr. Zhao Hong (Chief Executive Officer) 5/5 1/1
Li Zhenfust 4 (EF2E/F) Mr. Li Zhenfu (Chairman) 5/5 11
Daniel Luzius Vasellat§ & Dr. Daniel Luzius Vasella 5/5 1/1
Lin Shirley Yi-HsienZ =+ Ms. Lin Shirley Yi-Hsien 5/5 11
FREL Ms. Li Quan 5/5 1/1
VS s Mr. Shi Cen 5/5 171
TR+ Ms. Wang Xiaozhuo!" 2/2 0/1
TEELL® Ms. Wang Haixia® 3/3 N/AiE
2R EE L+ Dr. Liu Guoen 5/5 1/1
Chen Pingt&=+ Dr. Chen Ping 5/5 11
Gu Alex Yushaost & Mr. Gu Alex Yushao 5/5 11
Wendy HayesZ & Ms. Wendy Hayes 5/5 1/1
M5 Notes:
(1) TESZETR2021F6A16BETFNITE (1) Ms. Wang Xiaozhuo resigned as a non-executive director on June 16, 2021.
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(2) Ms. Wang Haixia was appointed as a non-executive director on June 16, 2021. After
her appointment and up to December 31, 2021, three Board meetings and no general
meeting were held.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The positions of chairman and chief executive officer of the Company are held by
Mr. Li Zhenfu and Mr. Zhao Hong respectively. The chairman provides leadership
and is responsible for the effective functioning and leadership of the Board. The
chief executive officer focuses on the Company’s business development and daily

management and operations generally.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

During the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2021, the Board at all times
met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
Independent Non-executive Directors representing more than one-third of the Board
with one of whom possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the independent
non-executive Directors in respect of his/her independence in accordance with the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of
the view that all independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors
The non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) of the
Company are appointed for a specific term of three years, subject to renewal after the

expiry of the then current term.

All the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meetings. Under the Articles of Association, at every annual general meeting
of the Company one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is
not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but not less than, one-
third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director (including those
appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years. The Articles of Association also provides that the Board shall have
power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director either
to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any Director so appointed shall
hold office only until the next following general meeting of the Company and shall

then be eligible for re-election at that meeting.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the
Board and Management
The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the Company;

and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and provides direction
to management by laying down strategies and overseeing their implementation,
monitors the Group's operational and financial performance, and ensures that sound
internal control and risk management systems are in place.
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All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning. The
independent non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring a high standard
of regulatory reporting of the Company and providing a balance in the Board for
bringing effective independent judgement on corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the Company
and may, upon request, seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances for discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held by them.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy matters,
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management, material transactions
(in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of directors and other significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and co-
ordinating the daily operation and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken against Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities. The insurance coverage would be
reviewed on an annual basis.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in order to
effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their contribution to the
Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received a formal and comprehensive induction
on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding
of the business and operations of the Company and full awareness of Director’s
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings
for Directors would be arranged and reading material on relevant topics would be
provided to Directors where appropriate.
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During the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2021, Company organized
training session conducted by the Hong Kong legal advisors for all Directors. The
training session covered a wide range of relevant topics including directors’ duties and
responsibilities, corporate governance and regulations.

The training records of the Directors for the period from the Listing Date to December

SR EMAmT

o

31, 2021 are summarized as follows:
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Executive Director
Mr. Zhao Hong (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Li Zhenfu (Chairman)

Dr. Daniel Luzius Vasella

Ms. Lin Shirley Yi-Hsien

Ms. Li Quan

Mr. Shi Cen

Ms. Wang Xiaozhuo (Resigned on June 16, 2021)
Ms. Wang Haixia (Appointed on June 16, 2021)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Dr. Liu Guoen

Dr. Chen Ping

Mr. Gu Alex Yushao

Ms. Wendy Hayes
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The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee, for overseeing particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company are
established with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with their
authority and duties. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee are posted on the Company’s website and

the Stock Exchange’s website and are available to shareholders upon request.

The list of the chairman and members of each Board committee is set out under
“Corporate Information” on page 2.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three members, namely Ms. Wendy Hayes and
Mr. Gu Alex Yushao, independent non-executive Directors, and Ms. Li Quan, non-
executive Director. Ms. Wendy Hayes is the chairwoman of the Audit Committee.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less exacting terms than
those set out in the CG Code. The main duties of the Audit Committee are to
assist the Board in reviewing the financial information and reporting process, risk
management and internal control systems, scope of audit and appointment of
external auditors, and arrangements to enable employees of the Company to raise
concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other
matters of the Company.

PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC") is the appointed auditor of the Group. The Audit
Committee annually reviews the relationship between the Company and PwC. In
addition, the Audit Committee has also reviewed the effectiveness of external audit
procedures and the independence and objectiveness of PwC, and is satisfied with the
existence of the good relationship. As a result, the Audit Committee recommends the
reappointment of PwC at the forthcoming AGM.

During the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2021, the Audit Committee
meetings were held on March 23, 2021 and August 13, 2021, respectively.

The attendance records of the members of the Audit Committee are as follows:

HEBR EE%AE

Attendance/

EREEERERE Name of Members of the Audit Committee Number of Meetings

Wendy HayesZ+ (F/#) Ms. Wendy Hayes (Chairwoman) 2/2

Gu Alex Yushaost & Mr. Gu Alex Yushao 2/2

TREZL Ms. Li Quan 12
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The Remuneration Committee consists of three members, namely Mr. Zhao Hong,
executive Director, and Mr. Gu Alex Yushao and Dr. Chen Ping, independent non-
executive Directors. Mr. Gu Alex Yushao is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of no less exacting terms
than those set out in the CG Code. The primary functions of the Remuneration
Committee include determining remuneration packages of all executive Directors
and senior management according to the authorization of the Board, making
recommendations to the Board in relation to remuneration policy and structure for all
Directors and senior management, and the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing such remuneration policy.

During the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2021, the Remuneration
Committee meetings were held on March 23, 2021, May 14, 2021 and June 10,
2021, respectively.
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The attendance records of the members of the Remuneration Committee are as

follows:
HEBR EE%E
Attendance/
FHEESRERS Name of Members of the Remuneration Committee Number of Meetings
Gu Alex Yushao%e & (£/E) Mr. Gu Alex Yushao (Chairman) 3/3
R E Mr. Zhao Hong 3/3
Chen Pingf& = Dr. Chen Ping 3/3
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FEBA

Annual Income

The remuneration of the senior management by band for the year ended December

31, 2021 is set out below:
A

Number of Persons

N ARE1,000,000TE
AR#5,000,0007T
B3 AR 10,000,0007T

Between RMB1,000,000 to RMB5,000,000 6
Over RMB10,000,000 1
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The remuneration of the directors for the year ended December 31, 2021 is set out in
Note 13(c) to the financial information of this Annual Report.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of three members, namely Mr. Li Zhenfu, non-
executive Director and Dr. Liu Guoen and Ms. Wendy Hayes, independent non-
executive Directors. Mr. Li Zhenfu is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less exacting terms
than those set out in the CG Code.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the Board
composition, making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
succession planning of Directors, assessing the independence of independent non-

executive Directors and formulating the policy concerning diversity of Board members.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would take into
account various aspects as well as factors concerning Board diversity as set out in
the Company’s Board Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee would discuss and
agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary,

and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the Nomination
Committee would consider the candidate’s relevant criteria as set out in the Nomination
Policy that are necessary to complement the corporate strategy and achieve Board

diversity, where appropriate, before making recommendation to the Board.
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During the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2021, the Nomination
Committee meetings were held on March 25, 2021 and May 11, 2021, respectively.

The attendance records of the members of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

HEBR BEHE

Attendance/

REZEGREHRS Name of Members of the Nomination Committee Number of Meetings
Li Zhenfufe & (/&) Mr. Li Zhenfu (Chairman) 2/2
2HBE L Dr. Liu Guoen 2/2
Wendy Hayes#zz+ Ms. Wendy Hayes 2/2
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which sets out the approach to
achieve diversity of the Board. The Company recognizes the importance of diversity
of the Board as it promotes board effectiveness and sees increasing diversity at
the Board level as an essential element in maintaining the Company’s competitive
advantage.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Committee will review and
assess the composition of the Board and make recommendations to the Board on
appointment of new Directors of the Company. In reviewing and assessing the
composition of the Board, the Nomination Committee will consider the benefits of all
aspects of diversity in order to maintain an appropriate range and balance of talents,
skills, experience and background on the Board.

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity on the Board
and is to enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain high standards of

corporate governance.

At present, the Nomination Committee considered that the Board is sufficiently
diverse and selection of board candidates shall be based on merit against objective
criteria and with due regard for merit and the contribution that the selected

candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy at least annually to
ensure the continued effectiveness of the Board.
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Nomination Policy
The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection and
appointment of Directors to the Nomination Committee of the Company.

The Company has adopted a Nomination Policy which sets out the selection
criteria and process and the Board succession planning considerations in relation
to nomination and appointment of Directors and aims to ensure that the Board
has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
Company.

The Nomination Policy sets out the factors for assessing the suitability and the
potential contribution to the Board of a proposed candidate, including but not limited
to the following:

o Reputation for character and integrity;

° Accomplishment and experience in the relevant industries in which the
Company’s business is involved and other professional qualifications;

° Commitment for responsibilities of the Board in respect of available time and
relevant interest;

° Diversity in aspects including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service;

o Contribution that the candidate(s) can potentially bring to the Board; and
. Plans in place for the orderly succession of the Board.

The Nomination Policy also sets out the procedures for the selection and appointment
of Directors. During the period from the Listing Date to the date of this report, there
was no change in the composition of the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy, as appropriate, to
ensure its effectiveness.

Corporate Governance Functions
The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the CG Code.

During the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2021, the Board had
reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior management,
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, the compliance of the Model Code and Written Employee Guidelines,
and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate

Governance Report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management and internal
control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining the nature and
extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives,
and establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management and overseeing
their design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal
control systems.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk management procedures and
guidelines with defined authority for implementation by key business processes and
office functions, including sales, purchase, financial reporting, human resources and
information technology.

All divisions/departments conducted internal control assessment regularly to identify
risks that potentially impact the business of the Group and various aspects including
key operational and financial processes, regulatory compliance and information
security. Self-evaluation has been conducted annually to confirm that control policies
are properly complied with by each division/department.

The management, in coordination with division/department heads, assessed
the likelihood of risk occurrence, provide treatment plans, and monitor the risk
management progress, and reported to the Audit Committee and the Board on all

findings and the effectiveness of the systems.

The management has confirmed to the Board and the Audit Committee on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems for the period from
the Listing Date to December 31, 2021.

The Company has the internal audit team which performs independent review of the
adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems. The
internal audit function examined key issues in relation to the accounting practices and
all material controls and provided its findings and recommendations for improvement
to the Audit Committee.
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The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as the management
report, reviewed the risk management and internal control systems, including the
financial, operational and compliance controls, for the period from the Listing Date
to December 31, 2021 and considered that such systems are effective and adequate.
The annual review also covered the financial reporting and staff qualifications,

experiences and relevant resources.

The Company has adopted a whistleblowing policy to facilitate employees of the
Company to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible improprieties in the
practices and procedures, including financial reporting, internal control and other
matters, in their workplace.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a general guide to
the Company’s Directors, senior management and relevant employees in handling
confidential information, monitoring information disclosure and responding to
enquiries. Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that unauthorized
access and use of inside information are strictly prohibited.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial statements

IN RESPECT OF THE

of the Company for the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2021.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as

a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report on pages 81 to 88.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

A breakdown of the remuneration payable to the external auditors of the Company,
PricewaterhouseCoopers, in respect of audit services for the year ended December
31, 2021 is set out below:

2 ENER

Fees Paid/Payable

AR®TRT

BRA% B Service Category RMB

ZEAR TS Audit Services 3,880,000
IEERTS (REIRIE - L& NEATHRE) Non-audit Services (Preparation of Environmental, Social

and Governance Report) 170,000

4,050,000
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Pan Rongrong and Ms. Chan Sin Man Nico have been appointed as the
Company’s joint company secretaries with effect from 19 February 2021. Ms. Chan
Sin Man Nico is a senior manager of corporate service of Tricor Services Limited, a
global professional services provider specializing in integrated business, corporate and

investor services.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the joint company secretaries
on corporate governance and board practices and matters. Ms. Pan Rongrong has
been designated as the primary contact person at the Company who would work and
communicate with Ms. Chan Sin Man Nico on the Company’s corporate governance

and secretarial and administrative matters.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The Company engages with shareholders through various communication channels.

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, separate resolution should be proposed
for each substantially separate issue at general meetings, including the election of
individual Director. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of

the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Articles 12.3 of the Articles of Association, general meetings shall also be
convened on the written requisition of any one or more members holding together,
as at the date of deposit of the requisition, shares representing not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carry the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company. The written requisition shall be deposited at the
principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases
to have such a principal office, the registered office of the Company, specifying
the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist(s). If the Board does not
within 21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene
the meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves
or any of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible,
as that in which meetings may be convened by the Board provided that any meeting
so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the date of
deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

Shareholders should follow the requirements and procedures as set out in the Articles

of Association, for convening a general meeting.
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Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There is no provision allowing shareholders to move new resolutions at general
meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law or the Articles of Association.
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the Company to convene a
general meeting following the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company, shareholders may
send written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal with
verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details
Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to the
following:

Address: 3401A, Windsor House, 311 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
(For the attention of the Company Secretary)
Email: ir@sciclone.com

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send the original duly
signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the
above address, and provide their full name, contact details and identification in order
to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with shareholders is essential
for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding of the Group’s business
performance and strategies. The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going
dialogue with shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and
other general meetings. At the annual general meeting, directors (or their delegates
as appropriate) are available to meet shareholders and answer their enquiries.

The Company has adopted an amended and restated Articles of Association by a special
resolution passed on January 22, 2021, and the amended and restated Articles of
Association taking effect from the Listing Date. An up-to-date version of the Articles of
Association is available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.
Save as disclosed above, there was no change in the constitutional documents of the
Company during the year ended December 31, 2021.

Policies relating to Shareholders

The Company has in place a Shareholders’ Communication Policy to ensure that
shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately addressed. The policy is regularly
reviewed to ensure its effectiveness.

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy on payment of dividends. Depending
on the financial conditions of the Company and the Group and the conditions and
factors as set out in the Dividend Policy, dividends may be proposed and/or declared
by the Board during a financial year and any final dividend for a financial year will be
subject to the shareholders’ approval.
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The Board is pleased to present the Annual Report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended December 31,
2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

We are a biopharmaceutical company with an integrated platform for product
development and commercialization. We strategically focus on some of the largest
and fast-growing therapeutic areas with significant unmet medical needs in China,
primarily including oncology and severe infection. Leveraging our integrated platform,
we strive to develop and commercialize a portfolio of high-quality marketed products,
including our proprietary product, Zadaxin, and pipeline drugs in our focused
therapeutic areas.

The analytical statements for income and contribution from results of business
segments of the Group are set out in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” and Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual
Report.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2021 are set out in the
consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the

Group on pages 89 to 90 of this Annual Report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Company’s results, assets and liabilities for the last five financial
years is set out on page 225 of this Annual Report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review and performance analysis of the Group as of the Reporting
Period are set out in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this Annual Report. Discussion details on the Group's
environmental policies and performance are set out on pages 226 to 251 of
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report and the status of the Group's
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have material impact on the
Group is set out in the section headed “Litigation and Compliance” on page 79 and
the description of the risk management and internal controls of the Company is set
out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 52 to 53. The
aforesaid discussion forms a part of the Directors’ Report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the percentage of the total purchases
attributable to the five largest suppliers was approximately 64% of the total purchase
of the Group, and purchases from the largest supplier accounted for approximately
22% of the total purchase of the Group.
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For the year ended December 31, 2021, the percentage of the total revenue
attributable to the five largest customers was approximately 80% of the total revenue
of the Group, and sales to the largest customer accounted for approximately 70% of
the total revenue of the Group.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined under the Listing
Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, owns more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) has any beneficial interest in the
Group's five largest suppliers or the Group's five largest customers.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the
year ended December 31, 2021 are set out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial

statements.

BORROWINGS

Details of the borrowings of the Group as at December 31, 2021 are set out in Note
30 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year ended
December 31, 2021 are set out in Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year ended December 31, 2021 are set out in Notes 34 and 39(b) respectively to the
audited consolidated financial statements.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM GLOBAL OFFERING

The Shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on
the Listing Date with net proceeds received by the Company from the global offering
in the amount of approximately HK$2,083.6 million after deducting underwriting
commissions and all related expenses.
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The net proceeds have been utilized in accordance with the purposes set out in

the Prospectus and approximately HK$1,439.2 million remained unutilized up to

December 31, 2021. The table below sets out the planned applications of the net

proceeds and actual usage as of December 31, 2021:

BZ2021F HZE2021F
128318 12A31HM
EE MRS e RIE
NIEFE R
e ™IE Amount of Balance of
FBEOER net Proceeds net Proceeds
Allocation utilized as of as of
of net December 31, December 31,
FEREFERER R Intended use of net proceeds proceeds 2021 2021
BEBT BEAT
HKS$ in million HKS$ in million
EBEREBFEREYNIEE  Investment in potential acquisition of
new drug candidates 30% 15.6 609.5
EERBEY Repayment of existing debts 28% 583.4 —
BRI FEEMMRME L Funds to the development and
REERHES commercialization of our clinical-stage
product candidates 26% 9.2 532.5
BERFETERENEE Investment in recruitment and
employee expansion 10% 28.2 180.2
ABEMLETERESET Funds to ongoing clinical studies for
B HINER K FE FA ) additional clinical adoptions of
SERAARIRHRES our marketed product portfolio 6% 8.0 117.0
100% 644.4 1,439.2

BLEXpmEESNS LT AHRE  AEE
WAREBASFIBEFENEMEMMELD - 1
RERENBENMBIAFERTEAEY

Save as disclosed above, since the Listing Date, the Group has not utilized any

other portion of the net proceeds. There was no change in the intended use of net

proceeds as previously disclosed in the Prospectus, and the Company will gradually
EmEY  KARAHRELRKREREE R
BESHAMSRBFEORE  WHEHR
2024512 A3V BRI A BB B RIAFE -
TERRBERDERAQAERET R LEB
EEEHNREM - EMREE AT REK
RIRNERAREBREBE RMESF -

utilize the residual amount of the net proceeds in accordance with such intended
purposes as stated in the Prospectus and expect to fully utilize the net proceeds by
December 31, 2024. The expected timeline is based on the best estimation of future
market conditions and business operations made by the Company, and remains
subject to change based on current and future development of market conditions and
actual business needs.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors as of the date of this Annual Report are:

Executive Director
Mr. Zhao Hong (Chief Executive Officer and President)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Zhenfu (Chairman)

Dr. Daniel Luzius Vasella

Ms. Lin Shirley Yi-Hsien

Ms. Li Quan

Mr. Shi Cen

Ms. Wang Haixia

Independent Non-executive Directors
Dr. Liu Guoen

Dr. Chen Ping

Mr. Gu Alex Yushao

Ms. Wendy Hayes

In accordance with Article 16.19 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Zhao Hong, Ms.
Lin Shirley Yi-Hsien, Ms. Li Quan and Dr. Chen Ping shall retire at the Annual General
Meeting. All of the above Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-

election at the Annual General Meeting.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The executive Director has entered into a service contract with the Company for an
initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date.

Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the

Company for an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from
the Listing Date.

None of the Directors has entered into any service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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EMPLOYEES, REMUNERATION AND PENSION SCHEME

A remuneration committee was set up for reviewing the Group’s emolument policy
and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior management of the
Group, having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance
of the Directors and senior management and comparable market practices. The
Company offers the executive Directors and senior management, as its employees,
with remuneration in the form of salaries, allowances, benefits in kind, performance-
related bonuses, share based payments, pensions, and other social insurance
benefits. Non-executive Directors and Independent non-executive Directors receive
compensation according to their duties (including serving as members or chairmen of
the Board committees).

Remuneration of Directors is determined based on their roles and duties and with
reference to the market conditions, the Company’s remuneration policy and the
prevailing market conditions, subject to the approval of the shareholders general
meeting. Details of remuneration of Directors and the five highest paid individuals
of the Company during the Reporting Period are set out in Note 13 to the Financial
Statements.

COMPENSATION OF
MANAGEMENT

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Group are decided

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR

by the Board with reference to the recommendation given by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Group's operating results, individual performance
and comparable market statistics.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of the five highest paid
individual in the Group are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Except as disclosed above, no other payments have been made or are payable, for the

year ended December 31, 2021, by our Group to or on behalf of any of the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As of the date of this Annual Report, Mr. Li Zhenfu, being our non-executive Director
and Chairman, held non-executive directorships in certain GL Pharmaceutical Portfolio
Companies, but was not involved in the daily management and operations of such
companies.

Save as disclosed above, none of our Directors is interested in any businesses apart
from our Group’s business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with our Group's business under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.



BEEEXN

HE2021F12A31B L FEHE - METY
RFEAMNERRA2HREMNEL LD ¥
BREERITHREBNAL -

EEREEXRS - RPFHEN
PHE S

RARESHA  BEEAEETNARARE
ERHBARRKARMEAT2ENEAR
AXBEERBENEANRS  RHRREYH
TEERAHEEAEAES -

M2021F 128318  FESRARAHE=®T
BRABRARBNEAMBABEZE(EER
(BHREEEFYEXVED) B ARH - HEEIRD
REREER HEBQREBE(ESRIBEEN)
FIEABLRAX AT E LM  sk(b)iR &
GRESANDANERAR LBz i#ER R
KEWMT

()RR 2SR B R 3 o 0 A 3

EERRE
Directors’ Report

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of any business of the Company were entered into or subsisted
during the year ended December 31, 2021.

DIRECTORS" INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to the business of the Company to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the
Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at December 31, 2021, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO), which (a) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in
the register referred to therein; or (b) were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

(i) Interest in Shares and underlying Shares

AAT S BAT
RAH B
RHHEE ADt (%) @
RHEE Approximate
Number of percentage of the
Shares or issued share
BEE BETHRAEH®S Rty underlying capital of the
Name of Director/Chief Executive Nature of Interest Shares Company (%)™
Li Zhenfust 4 RIEEE R 195,104,060 28.63%
Mr. Li Zhenfu Interest in controlled corporation @
RS R EBRER 11,979,690 1.76%
Mr. Zhao Hong Interest in Controlled corporation ©
EmlEAA® 11,456,210 1.68%
Beneficial owner®
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Notes:

The calculation is based on the total number of 681,374,263 Shares in issue as of
December 31, 2021.

GL Trade Investment L.P. held 104,968,370 Shares, whose general partner was GL Capital
Management GP Il B.C.I Ltd., a company incorporated in Canada which was wholly owned
by GL Capital Management Ltd. GL Capital Management Ltd was held by GL Partners
Capital Management Ltd as to 51% and Lion River I N.V. as to 49%. Lion River | N.V. was
wholly owned by Assicurazioni Generali S.p.A, a company listed on Italian Stock Exchange.
As GL Partners Capital Management Ltd was controlled by Mr. Li Zhenfu as to 70%, Mr. Li
Zhenfu is deemed to be interested in 104,968,370 Shares held by GL Trade Investment L.P.

GL Glee Investment Limited held 90,135,690 Shares. It was wholly owned by GL China
Opportunities Fund L.P., whose general partner was GL Capital Management GP L.P.,
whose general partner was GL Capital Management GP Limited, which was held by GL
Partners Capital Management Ltd as to 51% and Lion River | N.V. as to 49%. Lion River |
N.V. was wholly owned by Assicurazioni Generali S.p.A, a company listed on Italian Stock
Exchange. As GL Partners Capital Management Ltd was controlled by Mr. Li Zhenfu as
to 70%, Mr. Li Zhenfu is deemed to be interested in 90,135,690 Shares held by GL Glee
Investment Limited.

11,979,690 Shares.
Convergence Management Consulting Partnership Enterprise (Limited Partnership) (At =&
BERETEZAAAELE (ARA) ), which was in turn owned by its general partner,
Juli Information, as to 0.000003957%, and its limited partner, Zhoushan Kangnuo Equity
Investment Partnership Enterprise (Limited Partnership) (FFLUE#EIRE S B E (AR
&%) , "Zhoushan Kangnuo"), as to 99.999996043%. As Mr. Zhao Hong is interested
in 32.44% equity interests in Juli Information Consulting (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (E/1{E B
# (db3) BIRZA7F]) and 40.96% partnership interests in Zhoushan Kangnuo, Mr. Zhao
Hong is deemed to be interested in 11,979,690 Shares held by Convergence.

Convergence held Convergence is wholly owned by Beijing

Being options for 11,256,210 Shares granted to Mr. Zhao Hong under the Option
Incentive Plan and 200,000 Shares personally owned by Mr. Zhao Hong.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2021, none of the Directors and

chief executives of the Company had any interests or short positions in the Shares,

underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations,

recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or required

to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES OR UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at December 31, 2021, so far as the Directors or the chief executive of the
Company were aware, the Substantial Shareholders, other than the Directors or
chief executive of the Company, who had interests or short positions in the Shares
or underlying Shares as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO, were as follows:

A AT

ERITREN

BB BMOBESE (%) O

MHERGBEE Approximate

Number of percentage of

Shares or the issued share

BREE, BB EEME underlying capital of the

Name of shareholder Nature of Interest Shares Company (%)™

Li Zhenfust 4 RIEEE R 195,104,060 28.63%
Mr. Li Zhenfu Interest in controlled corporation®

GL Partners Capital Management Ltd R EBRERY 195,104,060 28.63%
Interest in controlled corporation®

Assicurazioni Generali S.p.A R AR R 195,104,060 28.63%
Interest in controlled corporation®

GL Trade Investment LP BEaiEm? 104,968,370 15.41%

Beneficial interest®

GL Capital Management GP Il B.C. | Ltd. R EEE R 104,968,370 15.41%
Interest in controlled corporation®

GL Capital Management Ltd. ZIEEEE R 104,968,370 15.41%
Interest in controlled corporation®

Lion River | N.V REEEERY 195,104,060 28.63%
Interest in controlled corporation®

GL Glee Investment Limited BEmiEme 90,135,690 13.23%

Beneficial interest®

GL China Opportunities Fund L.P RIEEE R 90,135,690 13.23%
Interest in controlled corporation®

GL Capital Management GP L.P. RIEEE RS 90,135,690 13.23%
Interest in controlled corporation®

GL Capital Management GP Limited R EE RS 90,135,690 13.23%

Interest in controlled corporation®
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EARAF
ERITRAN
BB BB (%) ®
HERAEE Approximate
Number of percentage of
Shares or the issued share
BREE LB EEME underlying capital of the
Name of shareholder Nature of Interest Shares Company (%)™
ZHBERIDF EanEmn® 84,523,130 12.40%
Ocean Falcon Limited Beneficial interest®
HIREEKRERRAF R RS 84,523,130 12.40%
Bank of China Group Investment Limited Interest in controlled corporation®
HEIRITA D BIR A A RIEEE RS 84,523,130 12.40%
Bank of China Limited Interest in controlled corporation®
PRESKREERETAF REEEERY 84,523,130 12.40%
Central Huijin Investment Ltd. Interest in controlled corporation®
HERERREFEQA ELE RS 84,523,130 12.40%
China Investment Corporation Interest in controlled corporation®
Avengers Limited et Ei 106,536,790 15.64%
Beneficial interest®
CDH Fund V, L.P EEEEEERO 106,536,790 15.64%
Interest in controlled corporation®
CDH V Holdings Company Limited R EE R 106,536,790 15.64%
Interest in controlled corporation®
China Diamond Holdings V Limited R AR 106,536,790 15.64%
Interest in controlled corporation®
China Diamond Holdings Company Limited R EEE RS 106,536,790 15.64%
Interest in controlled corporation®
Ascendent Silver (Cayman) Limited BEniEmn? 103,497,710 15.19%
Beneficial interest?”
Ascendent Capital Partners Il, L.P. R EE R 103,497,710 15.19%
Interest in controlled corporation?”
Ascendent Capital Partners Il GP, L.P ZEAEERD 103,497,710 15.19%
Interest in controlled corporation?”
Ascendent Capital Partners Il GP, Limited ZEAEERD 103,497,710 15.19%
Interest in controlled corporation?”
s R EBRER 103,497,710 15.19%
Mr. Meng Liang Interest in controlled corporation”
Boying Investments Limited BEoiEm® 53,373,820 7.83%
Beneficial interest®
REMEE REEE RO 53,373,820 7.83%

Mr. Zhu Weihang

Interest in controlled corporation®
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The calculation is based on the total number of 681,374,263 Shares in issue as of
December 31, 2021.

GL Trade Investment L.P. was an exempted limited partnership registered in Canada on
March 25, 2015. Its general partner was GL Capital Management GP Il B.C. | Ltd., a
company incorporated in Canada which was wholly owned by GL Capital Management
Ltd, which was held by GL Partners Capital Management Ltd as to 51% and Lion River
I'N.V. as to 49%. Lion River | N.V. was a company incorporated in Netherlands and was
wholly owned by Assicurazioni Generali S.p.A, a company listed on Italian Stock Exchange.
GL Partners Capital Management Ltd was a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and was controlled by Mr. Li Zhenfu, a non-executive director of our
Company as to 70%. As such, each of GL Capital Management GP Il B.C. | Ltd., GL Capital
Management Ltd, GL Partners Capital Management Ltd, Lion River | N.V., Assicurazioni
Generali S.p.A and Mr. Li Zhenfu is deemed to be interested in our Shares held by GL
Trade Investment L.P.

GL Glee Investment Limited was a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands on March 10, 2011 and was wholly owned by GL China Opportunities Fund L.P.,
a limited partnership registered in Cayman Islands whose general partner was GL Capital
Management GP L.P., a limited partnership registered in Cayman Islands, whose general
partner was GL Capital Management GP Limited, which was held by GL Partners Capital
Management Ltd as to 51% and Lion River | N.V. as to 49%. Lion River | N.V. was a
company incorporated in Netherlands and was wholly owned by Assicurazioni Generali
S.p.A, a company listed on Italian Stock Exchange. GL Partners Capital Management Ltd
was a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and was controlled by
Mr. Li Zhenfu as to 70%. As such, each of GL China Opportunities Fund L.P., GL Capital
Management GP L.P., GL Capital Management GP Limited, Lion River | N.V., Assicurazioni
Generali S.p.A, GL Partners Capital Management Ltd, and Mr. Li Zhenfu is deemed to be
interested in our Shares held by GL Glee Investment Limited.

Each of Assicurazioni Generali S.p.A, Lion River | N.V., GL Partners Capital Management
Ltd and Mr. Li Zhenfu is deemed to be interested in our Shares held by GL Trade
Investment L.P. and GL Glee Investment Limited.
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Ocean Falcon Limited was a limited company incorporated in Hong Kong on March 15,
2017 and was wholly owned by Bank of China Group Investment Limited, a limited
company incorporated in Hong Kong which in turn was wholly owned by Bank of China
Limited, a joint stock company established in the PRC with limited liability which in turn
was held by Central Huijin Investment Ltd. as to 64.02%, a limited liability company
established in the PRC which in turn was wholly owned by China Investment Corporation,
a limited liability company which was wholly owned by the State Council of the People’s
Republic of China. As such, each of Bank of China Group Investment Limited, Bank of
China Limited, Central Huijin Investment Ltd., China Investment Corporation, and State
Council of the People’s Republic of China is deemed to be interested in our Shares held by
Ocean Falcon Limited.

Avengers Limited was a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and
was wholly owned by CDH Fund V, L.P., a limited partnership registered in the Cayman
Islands. Its general partner was CDH V Holdings Company Limited, a limited liability
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands which was held by China Diamond Holdings
V Limited as to 80%, a limited liability company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
which in turns was wholly owned by China Diamond Holdings Company Limited, a limited
liability company incorporated in British Virgin Islands. As such, each of CDH Fund V,
L.P., CDH V Holdings Company Limited, China Diamond Holdings V Limited and China
Diamond Holdings Company Limited is deemed to be interested in our Shares held by
Avengers Limited.

Ascendent Silver (Cayman) Limited was a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and was wholly owned by Ascendent Capital Partners Il, L.P., an exempted
limited partnership registered under the laws of the Cayman Islands whose general partner
was Ascendent Capital Partners Il GP, L.P., an exempted limited partnership registered
under the laws of the Cayman Islands whose general partner was Ascendent Capital
Partners Il GP Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and
was wholly owned by Mr. Meng Liang. As such, each of Ascendent Capital Partners II, L.P.,
Ascendent Capital Partners Il GP, L.P., Ascendent Capital Partners Il GP Limited and Mr.
Meng Liang is deemed to be interested in our Shares held by Ascendent Silver (Cayman)
Limited.

Boying Investments Limited was a limited liability company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands and was wholly owned by Mr. Zhu Weihang, an Independent Third Party.
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Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2021,
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so far as the Directors were

aware, no other persons (other than the Directors or chief executive) had any

interests or short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares which would fall to

be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of

the SFO, or were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under

section 336 of the SFO, or who was, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of

the Shares of the Company.

SHARE PLANS

1.

Option Incentive Plan
The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Option Incentive

Plan as adopted by our Company on June 24, 2018 and as amended on

November 13, 2019. The terms of the Option Incentive Plan are not subject

to the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The purpose of the

Option Incentive Plan is to provide performance-driven, equitable and on-

going option incentives for eligible management and key employees with the

view to retaining key talents of our Company, aligning the interests of our

Company and its employees and Shareholders, making its employees to attend

to long-term development of our Company and to share increased value of our

Company. The participants of the Option Incentive Plan shall an employee who

has completed his or her probation period.

(a)

Grant and adjustment of options

Any grant to chief executive officer of our Company shall be proposed
by the chairman of the Board and subject to approval of the Board.
Any grant to any participants (excluding chief executive officer) shall be
considered by the corporate executive committee of our Company and
subject to approval of chief executive officer of our Company.

Supplementary grants to the employees who are newly engaged,
promoted, or have made special contributions to our Company and
eligible under the Option Incentive Plan may be made subject to approval
of the Board.
under the Option Incentive Plan, or is transferred to any other position

In the event that any participant becomes ineligible

or terminates his or her employment with our Company, or dies, our
Company may make adjustments to such participant pursuant to the
Option Incentive Plan. Any adjustments in respect of chief executive
officer of our Company shall be proposed by the chairman of the Board
and subject to approval of the Board, whilst any adjustments in respect
of any participants other than chief executive officer shall be considered
by the corporate executive committee of our Company and subject to

approval of the chief executive officer of our Company.
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(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Maximum number of shares subject to the Option
Incentive Plan

The underlying shares of the options under the Option Incentive Plan
shall be the Shares to be issued by our Company.

The maximum number of shares underlying the options under the Option
Incentive Plan shall be no more than 54,778,710 Shares, representing
8.08% of the total number of Shares in issue on the Listing Date.

Exercise price and payment

The exercise price of options under the Option Incentive Plan shall be
USD0.308 (subject to adjustment). Upon confirmation by the Board or its
authorized representatives on the application of exercising the options,
the options shall be exercised upon the actual payment based on the
exercise price by the grantees.

Exercise and lapse of options

The term of options under the Option Incentive Plan shall be eight years
since grant date. Subject to satisfaction of the exercising conditions,
participants shall have the right to exercise the options vested to such
participant under the Option Incentive Plan or to waive such right during
the term. Any options not exercised during the term due to any reason
of participants shall be automatically cancelled by the Board upon
expiration of the term.

Vesting schedule

For initial grants, 25% of options granted under the Option Incentive
Plan shall be vested upon each anniversary of grant date during a four-
year term.

For supplementary grants during the year of 2019, 33%, 33% and 34%
of options granted under the Option Incentive Plan shall be vested upon
each anniversary of grant date during a three-year term.
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For supplementary grants during the year of 2020, 50% and 50% of
options granted under the Option Incentive Plan shall be vested upon
each anniversary of grant date during a two-year term.

Participants who are key non-sales employees and winner of annual
Top Staff awards of our Company may vest 100% of options granted
to them at the first anniversary of grant date, subject to satisfaction of
certain vesting conditions.

The number of options to be vested over participants under the Option
Incentive Plan shall be determined based on annual performance
evaluation results, and there is no vesting of options if none of annual
performance targets is met.

Outstanding grants

As of the December 31, 2021, options to subscribe for an aggregate
of 54,778,710 Shares have been granted to a total of 130 eligible
participants by our Company at nil consideration under the Option
Incentive Plan, representing 8.08% of the total number of Shares in issue
on the Listing Date. All the options under the Share Option Incentive
Plan were granted between December 15, 2018 and March 3, 2021 (the
Listing Date) and the Company will not grant further options under the
Option Incentive Plan after the Listing.
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Movement of the options, which were granted under the Option

Incentive Plan, from the Listing Date to December 31, 2021 is as follows:

EHBHZ021E12 831 R BRESE

Number of options from the Listing Date to December 31, 2021

SRR
3A3R BE2ME e
(LWEH) 12A31H (Ern/
BESHY) WATE  SHRRE)
Outstanding (MzE1) (Mz2)
as of Outstanding Exercise
March 3, as of Price 58
2021 December 31, (USD/per  BM%
ERA RiLAH BRESDE (the Listing BRF Bt BH# 2021 option)  Vesting
Grantee Date of grant Option period Date) Granted Exercised Cancelled (Note 1) (Note2)  Schedule
EZ
Director
BEEE B2018F 128158 BRLRH 11,256,210 - - — 11,256,210 0308 it AHE
Mr.ZHAO Hong T HHA R LS —FENF
Since December 15, 8 years since One year to four
2018 and before the date of grant years from the
the Listing Date date of grant
TEFEMES
Other employees of the Group
E2018512A4158 % BRI A 43,522,500 —  (3,500,000) — 40,022,500 0308 HiLiAER
TTHREA HaT8E —EEME
Since December 15, 8 years since One year to four
2018 and before the date of grant years from the
the Listing Date date of grant
At 54,778,710 — (3,500,000) — 51,278,710
Total
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Note 1: excluding options forfeited or cancelled

Note 2: adjusted due to dividend distribution
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(g) Establishment of trustee for the Option Incentive
Plan

Our Company has engaged a professional trustee to hold and manage a
portion of the Shares to be issued under the Option Incentive Plan. Our
Company will issue up to 54,778,710 Shares to the trustee.

Post-IPO Option Plan

The purpose of the Post-IPO Option Plan is to provide selected participants
with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in our Company and to
encourage selected participants to work towards enhancing the value of our
Company and its Shares for the benefit of our Company and Shareholders as
a whole. The Post-IPO Option Plan will provide our Company with a flexible
means of retaining, incentivising, rewarding, remunerating, compensating
and/or providing benefits to selected participants. Any individual, being
an employee, director, officer, consultant, adviser, distributor, contractor,
customer, supplier, agent, business partner, joint venture business partner or
service provider of any member of our Group or any affiliate who the Board
or its delegate(s) considers, in their sole discretion, to have contributed or
will contribute to our Group is entitled to be offered and granted options.
However, no individual who is resident ‘in a place where the grant, acceptance
or exercise of options pursuant to the Post-IPO Option Plan is not permitted
under the laws and regulations of such place or where, in the view of the
Board or its delegate(s), compliance with applicable laws and regulations in
such place makes it necessary or expedient to exclude such individual, is eligible
to be offered or granted options.

(a) Maximum number of Shares

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Post-IPO Option Plan and any other
schemes shall be decided by the Shareholders upon adoption of the
Post-IPO Option Plan and in no event shall such total number of Shares
exceed 67,787,426 Shares, representing 9.94% of the issued Shares
as at the date of this report (the “Option Scheme Mandate Limit")
(excluding any Shares which may be issued pursuant to the exercise of
the options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Incentive Plan). Options
which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the rules of the Post-
IPO Option Plan (or any other share option schemes of our Company)
shall not be counted for the purpose of calculating the Option Scheme
Mandate Limit.
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The overall limit on the number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Post-IPO Option Plan and any other share option schemes of our
Company at any time (and to which the provisions of Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules are applicable) must not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue
from time to time (the “Option Scheme Limit”). No options may be
granted under any schemes of our Company (or its subsidiaries) if this
will result in the Option Scheme Limit being exceeded.

The Option Scheme Mandate Limit may be refreshed at any time by
obtaining prior approval of the Shareholders in general meeting and/
or such other requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from
time to time. However, the refreshed Option Scheme Mandate Limit
cannot exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of such
approval. Options previously granted under the Post-IPO Option Plan
and any other share option schemes of our Company (and to which
provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules are applicable) (including
those outstanding, cancelled or lapsed in accordance with its terms
or exercised), shall not be counted for the purpose of calculating the
refreshed Option Scheme Mandate Limit.

Our Company may also grant options in excess of the Option Scheme
Mandate Limit, provided such grant is to specifically identified selected
participant and is first approved by Shareholders in general meeting.



(b) RRANERZREEA

(c)

BROEEBRILE  BRAIEREE
RARBEERBREASIRAR
) A fe] L 1t S B i A 81 A
FTRENBRE(BEETERE
AT B B ) PMEM2(E A 3
B AEITET D [ K& [ & EE
SEEZTORMDAE  TE
Hjﬂé'éfﬁﬂxf‘ﬁ'ﬁ'%‘lﬂ’ﬂ%(ﬂlﬂl F‘E
B -fMABEZ2EEE-—FK
ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬂ%%\ﬁﬁﬁ&hﬁ%%
TLEERLNAARRE(RE
BT DEEERARITENE
RE)REZE-FEEER(R
HwZA) L1218 A B H AT E
ﬁ'ﬁ?é‘ﬁ&ﬂ%%?é‘ﬁﬂ’)ﬂﬁ@%@%(ﬁ

HERIPREE - MIZALRRSITHE
T aZR %Eﬁi%&ﬁ 5N
,/\Bﬁz;m RIBCEM AR ANE

17.03(9) Hjm*ﬁﬁﬁ/“%&tlj
E’Jﬁﬁﬂx%m%ziﬂw R (BIEITE
&) BRI R EZ AT - RE
FE—SHREERENESS S
ENBHERRIERARGETE
Br B -

1T 178 IR 7 19 b5 ]

T m R B R R R R R R
& ARANESS TEREEN
FRAARRRZEEEEBN(E
PR ECEITERETENR
MEE) A2 MHITREK
% -

EERRE

Directors’ Report

(b) Maximum entitlement of a grantee

(c)

Unless approved by our Shareholders, the total number of Shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be granted
under the Post-IPO Option Plan and any other share option scheme(s) of
our Company to each selected participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
total number of Shares in issue (the “Individual Limit”). Any further
grant of options to a selected participant which would result in the
aggregate number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options granted and to be granted to such selected participant (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the 12 month period up
to and including the date of such further grant exceeding the Individual
Limit shall be subject to separate approval of our Shareholders (with
such selected participant and his associates abstaining from voting). The
number and terms (including the exercise price) of options to be granted
to such participant must be fixed before Shareholders’ approval and the
date of Board meeting for proposing such further grant should be taken
as the date for the purpose of calculating the exercise price pursuant to
LR17.03(9).

Time of exercise of an option

An option may, subject to the terms and conditions upon which such
option is granted, be exercised in whole or in part by the grantee giving
notice in writing to our Company in such form as the Board may from
time to time determine stating that the option is thereby exercised and
the number of Shares in respect of which it is exercised.
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(d) Amount payable on application or acceptance of the

(e)

()

option

An offer shall be deemed to have been accepted and the option to
which the offer relates shall be deemed to have been granted and to
have taken effect when the duplicate of the offer letter comprising
acceptance of the offer duly signed by the grantee with the number of
Shares in respect of which the offer is accepted clearly stated therein,
together with a remittance in favour of our Company of HKD1.00 by
way of consideration for the grant thereof, which must be received by
our Company within 20 business days from the date on which the offer

letter is delivered to the grantee.

Subscription price

The amount payable for each Share to be subscribed for under an option
(“Subscription Price”) in the event of the option being exercised shall
be determined by the Board but shall be not less than the greater of:

(i) the closing price of a Share as stated in the daily quotations sheet
issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant;

(i) the average closing price of our Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(i) the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant.

Duration

The Post-IPO Option Plan shall be valid and effective for the period of ten
years commencing on the Listing Date (after which, no further options
shall be offered or granted under the Post-IPO Option Plan), but in all
other respects the provisions of the Post-IPO Option Plan shall remain in
full force and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise
of any options granted prior thereto or otherwise as may be required in
accordance with the provisions of the rules of the Post-IPO Option Plan.
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Movement of the options, which were granted under the Post-IPO
Option Plan, from the Listing Date to December 31, 2021 is as follows:

FHEIRMERNEEHINT
LR RSZ2021512831ABRERE
Number of options from the Listing Date to December 31, 2021
REME
HZ21F  RLAHS
3A38 ZAMUTE
(LHR®) (Bn/8h
HATE  BRE) Bz2021% ke
Outstanding  Closing price 12A31A (Br/
asof immediately HATE SHBRE)
March 3, prior to Outstanding Exercise 58
2021 grant as of Price  BER
EEA BHAS e el (the Listing ~ (HKD/per BRF BT Bit# December31,  (HKD/per Vesting
Grantee Date of grant Option period Date) option) Granted  Exercised  Cancelled 2021 option)  Schedule
TEEEMER
Other employees of the Group
021511A98 BREEHEN0F - 10.00 3,747,300 - (79,800) 3,657,500 1018 HEAHE
November 9, 2021 10 years since 2208R
the date of grant 22 months from
the date of grant
021512818 BRHBEHEN0E — 9.07 77,600 - - 77,600 929 RHEAMERT

December 1,2021 10 years since
the date of grant

Two years from

the date of grant

4t

Total

3,824,900 — (79,800) 3,745,100
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3.

Post-IPO RSU Plan

The Post-IPO RSU Plan was approved and adopted by the Shareholders on
January 22, 2021. The terms of the Post-IPO RSU Plan are not subject to the
provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules as the Post-IPO RSU Plan will not
involve the grant of options. The total number of Shares underlying the awards
to be granted under the Post-IPO RSU Plan shall be 6,689,963 Shares. Without
prejudice to the foregoing, the total number of Shares underlying the awards
to be granted under the Post-IPO RSU Plan in any financial year will not exceed
three per cent (3%) of the issued Shares as at the beginning of that financial

year.

On February 10, 2021, the Company issued and allotted an aggregate of
6,689,963 Shares to Maples Trustee Services (Cayman) Limited as trustee of
a trust with the intent that such number of Shares would ultimately be held
by SCLN ESOP Management Limited. On February 11, 2021, such number
of Shares were directed to SCLN ESOP Management Limited for the purpose
of holding Shares under the Post-IPO RSU Plan on trust for and on behalf of
grantees to be determined after the Listing. Application has been made to the
Stock Exchange for the listing of and permission to deal in such number of
Shares held by SCLN ESOP Management Limited.

As of December 31, 2021, our Company had not identified any grantee under
the Post-IPO RSU Plan and no restricted share unit was granted.

The purpose of the Post-IPO RSU Plan is to enable the directors, officers, and
other key contributors and employees of our Group to share the success of
our Company, in order to ensure a closer identification of the interests of such
persons with those of our Group and stimulate the efforts of such persons on
the Group’s behalf.
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Restricted Share Unit

An Award represents a grant of restricted share unit (”Restricted
Share Unit”, each a "RSU" or collectively “RSUs") to the grantees (the
“Grantees”). Each RSU shall represent the right to receive one Share
(subject to any adjustment in accordance with the terms of the Post-IPO
RSU Plan due to changes of share capital of our Company) upon vesting.
The number of Shares that are subject to outstanding awards of RSUs
granted under the Post-IPO RSU Plan (the “Awards” and each of them,
an Award) at any time shall not exceed the aggregate number of RSUs
that then remain available for distribution under the Post-IPO RSU Plan.
The grant of an Award to a Grantee shall be documented by and subject
to an award agreement (the “Award Agreement”), in which the terms
and conditions of the Award determined by the Board shall be set out.

Grant of Award

At the time of grant, the Board shall specify the date or dates and/or any
vesting or any other terms and conditions (which may include continuing
employment or other service relationship, achievement of pre-established
performance goals and objectives and/or such other conditions that the
Board deems appropriate in its sole and absolute discretion) on which
RSUs under an Award shall become vested.

To receive Shares underlying their RSUs, Grantees must: (i) have been
an employee of any member of our Group on a continuous and
uninterrupted basis throughout the vesting periods of their Grant, and
(i) comply with any other additional obligations determined by the Board
(the “Continued Employment Condition”). If the Grantee ceases
to meet the Continued Employment Condition at any time during any
of the vesting periods of their Grant, he or she will automatically and
without prior notice or consideration forfeit his or her RSUs.

If any RSU is forfeited prior to vesting in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the Award Agreement, then such RSU shall be forfeited
with immediate effect and of no further force or effect, and no payment
shall be made to the Grantee in respect thereof.
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(c) Vesting

Subject to the terms of the Post-IPO RSU Plan and the specific terms
and conditions applicable to each Award, the RSUs granted shall be
subject to vesting schedule and to the satisfaction of performance
and/or other conditions to be determined by the Board (if any) in its
absolute discretion. If such conditions are not satisfied, the RSU shall
automatically lapse on the date on which such conditions are not
satisfied, as determined by the Board in its absolute discretion.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this Annual Report, at no time during the year
ended December 31, 2021 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate,
and none of the Directors or any of their spouses or children under the age of 18
were granted any right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the Company
or any other body corporate or had exercised any such right.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the RSU Plan, during the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company
has not entered into any equity-linked agreement.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association or the
laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a

pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the
Shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at December 31, 2021 are set out in Note
39 to the consolidated financial statements.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Under the Articles of Association, every Director, Auditor or other officer of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a Director, Auditor or
other officer of the Company in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal,
in which judgment is given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal action
against its Directors and officers.

ISSUANCE OF DEBENTURES

During the year ended December 31, 2021, no issuance of debentures was made by
the Company.

DONATIONS

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company made charitable and other
donations in a total amount of RMB2.2 million.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set
out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 42 to 55 of this Annual Report.

SIGNIFICANT LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company was not engaged in any
litigation or arbitration of material importance and no litigation or claim of material
importance is known to the directors to be pending or threatening against the
Company.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Our Group has adopted internal control and risk management policies to monitor
the on-going compliance with relevant laws and regulations. As far as the Board
is concerned, our Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Company and its
subsidiaries in all aspects.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any
of the Company’s listed securities for the period from the Listing Date to December
31, 2021.
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended a final dividend of HKDO0.35 for the year ended
December 31, 2021 (2020: nil).

Subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the forthcoming AGM, the proposed
final dividend will be payable on June 22, 2022 to Shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company on June 2, 2022.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM of the Company will be held on Thursday, May 19, 2022. Notice of the
AGM will be published and issued to Shareholders in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to ascertain the Shareholders’ entitlements to attend and vote at the AGM,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday, May 16, 2022
to Thursday, May 19, 2022, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of
Shares will be registered. All Share transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, May
13, 2022.

In order to ascertain the Shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed final dividend,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, May 31, 2022
to Thursday, June 2, 2022, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of
Shares will be registered. All Share transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday,
May 30, 2022.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Board, as at the date of this Annual Report, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended December
31, 2021 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers. A resolution for the re-
appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as the auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

For and on behalf of the Board
SciClone Pharmaceuticals (Holdings) Limited
Hong Kong, March 24, 2022
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of

SciClone Pharmaceuticals (Holdings) Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
Opinion

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of SciClone Pharmaceuticals (Holdings) Limited

(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on pages 89

to 224, comprise:

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended

December 31, 2021;

. the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2021;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include significant

accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the

consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2021, and of its

consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then

ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and

have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing
("ISAs"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued
by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not

provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter identified in our audit is related to impairment assessment on
intangible assets that are not ready for use.



HREESSEEHw

HREETER
Key Audit Matter

Y& N 1% BRED S
Independent Auditor’s Report

Key Audit Matters (continued)

EMHWEANAEERRETEE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

MAREFWEARENERLEE 2 BEME
Impairment assessment on intangible assets that are not ready
for use

FE2HAHU B mMERNE2.6  MFE2.7 - BisE6(g) R MIFE19 -
Refer to Note 2.6, Note 2.7, Note 6(g) and Note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.

72021512 A31H  ESBE R ARER T ERARESETLEENKRE
BERARKISc2ES T ASFAMMEETASN HEFEHD
WA BERNNERREA R BEERERE AT METREANR - &
BEEBINIEEMOGE T - RAZHBE NG E - RIEHEZ
BEEAEEHANRSELREMNAKEERE  RERETFEREAE
flr &t e

As at December 31, 2021, the Group had intangible assets with the
carrying amount of RMB156.2 million that are not ready for use,
which are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired.
Management performed an annual impairment assessment at year
end with the assistance of an independent external valuer based on
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
intangible asset is related to using the multi-period excess earnings
method.

HMEEARER A EARENELEE REGAERBRENS
B BERZEA I REREREEERMGAARABORERRKRE K
hEEHEFILZF TEERERNBALRE RS HEEKEE
FfE BEVREER & -

We considered the impairment assessment of intangible assets that are
not ready for use is a key audit matter because the assessment involves
key assumptions which are subject to significant management’s
estimates and judgements, including the revenue growth rate of each
pipeline products under respective license arrangements and the
discount rate used in the multi-period excess earnings method.

HMRERBERMAREINAEAREN B EEFELD
BEMGTFERNEFEETHEE :
Our procedures performed in relation to management’s
impairment assessment on intangible assets that are not
ready for use mainly include the following:

T RED YA E TR JE B A BB I B L e R E B A
ARENEVEELETRERTORE  BREET
A4 (O] & 58 P AR BE B2 R AR BY I E KB BE B LR D
BEMMIEE REAMES R EE (A AEAR
BEFBEM) KT EERERRAEE @B
Understanding and evaluating management’s internal
control and assessment process of the impairment of
intangible assets that are not ready for use, including
development of the key assumptions applied in
determining the recoverable amount, and assessing
the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and
level of other inherent risk factors such as subjectivity
of significant assumptions used;

mEREEARLREERSENER AHEXE
W) B B BB AR A T BT R B B A5 SR e AE A FB BR S
Inquiring management and inspecting the relevant
supporting documents about the expected
achievement of drug development milestones and the
outcome of new drug development for each pipeline
products;

AEEREEERANIIBELGEMNER K
BB

Assessing the competence, capability and objectivity
of the independent external valuer engaged by
management;

EHEMNEEZERNGHT @ FFEEEERBER
TEENEEEREMAFPEVEENTKE
RATAMNZPBRKREZNEEE  RAABERER
R(NBBELRESEEEBTE LT HEBEEE
WABRERBRE)NSEBIE

Evaluating, with the assistance of our valuation
specialist, the appropriateness of multi-period excess
earnings method used by management to determine
the recoverable amount of intangible assets in the
impairment assessment by considering the industry
practice; and the reasonableness of key assumptions
used, including revenue growth rate and discount
rate by comparing with the Group’s business plan
and market data;
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BREITTEEH @ Key Audit Matters (continued)

HREETER
Key Audit Matter

BEMNESNATEERARESSE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

° BALNBAFEERXERESERN LFEMBRE
B TRBEST R B M EE U A E R B AR
AR

3 Performing retrospective review by comparing the
actual results for the current year with the Group’s
forecasts prepared in the prior year to assess the
effectiveness of management’s estimation process;

° AR ZEBRERSATAERRENERYE - 28
AEEEREEEN T T

3 Assessing sensitivities over the key assumptions used
in multi-period excess earnings method in considering
the sufficiency of headroom;

° AN BERRTEEEERERFRENR S
Mo

3 Evaluating the adequacy of disclosure of impairment
assessment of intangible assets in the consolidated
financial statement.

REMAITHEAEF  BMBREBEERARED A
AR EREEZ REGTFAROBRBRES
HER S -

Based on the audit procedures performed, we found
management’s key assumptions used in impairment
assessment of intangible assets that are not ready for use to
be supportable by the available evidence.
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all of the information included in the annual report other than
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and the Audit Committee
for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these

consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and

maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to

cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a

manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on
the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible

for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the

planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with

relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with

them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear

on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or

safeguards applied.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is
Jack Li.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, March 24, 2022
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HZE12A31BLFE
Year ended December 31,

20215 20204

2021 2020

M5 AR®T AREET T

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

A Revenue 8 2,518,474 1,918,562
PN Cost of revenue 12 (585,468) (428,106)
EF Gross profit 1,933,006 1,490,456
HEREHAX Sales and marketing expenses 12 (579,163) (456,389)
THAX Administrative expenses 12 (206,457) (216,220)
MEAX Research and development (“R&D") expenses 12 (134,389) (75,420)
H g A Other income 9 42,833 139,204
HiAX Other expenses 9,12 (16,842) (75,173)
Hihlzs — F58 Other gains — net 10 19,118 28,465
KER B Operating profit 1,058,106 834,923
& WA Finance income 11 7,958 11,478
LRI DIN Finance costs 11 (40,191) (29,592)
BERKAN — F5 Finance costs, net (32,233) (18,114)
Fr 18 B4 50 R0 8 Profit before income tax 1,025,873 816,809
SR Income tax expense 14 (102,512) (63,114)
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HZE12A31BLFE
Year ended December 31,

20214 20204
2021 2020
b ARBTT ARBFIT
Note RMB’000 RMB’'000
AAREEAELHFEARARE Profit for the year attributable to owners of
the Company 923,361 753,695
Hfth 2 mE U= Other comprehensive income
TEREF PEEEmAEE  Items that will not be reclassified
to profit or loss
URARBEFEREEHHT A Changes in the fair value of equity
Hh2HKHZHREAKRER investments at fair value through
AAEBEEE other comprehensive income (“FVOCI") 26 103,671 153,247
ARREMHBE =5 Currency translation differences of
the Company 34 (145,354) (533,651)
ZEABEEF DT B B Items that may be subsequently reclassified
EH to profit or loss
ARABINBAREBEHRE Currency translation differences
= of the Company’s subsidiaries 34 110,312 542,819
FRAX2EKWEERE Total comprehensive income for
the year 991,990 916,110
LTALTEEZEWEL#LE ©  Total comprehensive income
attributable to:
ZAN/NECTE RSN Owners of the Company 991,990 916,110
EATEEABEESRER Earnings per share attributable to owners of
(AR®) the Company (RMB) 15
BREARAEF Basic earnings per share 1.42 1.38
BR&ERT Diluted earnings per share 1.33 1.35
FITEZR224B MM T RZ S B MK EERK The notes on pages 97 to 224 are an integral part of these financial statements.
N
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

M®12H31H
As at December 31,
20214 20204
2021 2020
B 5E ARETT AREET T
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
EE Assets
kRBEE Non-current assets
FEREEE Right-of-use assets 17 21,983 8,810
L E N S Property, plant and equipment 18 7,895 5,454
BEEE Intangible assets 19 606,095 652,691
URAARBEFEREEEHT A Financial assets at fair value through
EHEENEREE profit or loss (“FVPL") 25, 26 91,524 55,936
RAnEBEFEBEZEE A Financial assets at FVOCI
HihxHEKmHemEE 25, 26 329,449 232,352
REFHIBEE Deferred tax assets 31 1,520 13,336
Hh & E Other assets 20, 25 5,156 5,151
EMEBEELRE Total non-current assets 1,063,622 973,730
RBEE Current assets
FE Inventories 21 174,660 171,585
E 5 W IE Trade receivables 22, 25 546,512 324,791
H A RB)E E Other current assets 23 90,212 60,416
LAAnEBEFEBEZHHE A Financial assets at FVPL
EHERNERmEE 25, 26 60,188 70,013
ReRREeEFEEBD Cash and cash equivalents 24, 25 2,127,488 1,118,986
SR FIE S Restricted cash 24, 25 — 163,123
MEBEEME Total current assets 2,999,060 1,908,914
EEH#E Total assets 4,062,682 2,882,644
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M®12H31H
As at December 31,
20214 20204
2021 2020
B 5E AR®T AR®ET T
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
EnkEaE Equity and liabilities
=R Liabilities
ERBEE Non-current liabilities
& 3 Borrowings 30 762,160 1,171,489
EEFRIBBAGE Deferred tax liabilities 31 14,981 9,258
HEAE Lease liabilities 25, 29,
35(c) 11,175 2,070
HEMmIERBBE Other non-current liabilities 188 194
FREEELE Total non-current liabilities 788,504 1,183,011
REAE Current liabilities
B 5N E M ERRIE Trade and other payables 28 537,802 514,098
HEAE Lease liabilities 25, 29,
35(c) 11,391 6,402
&3 Borrowings 30 382,542 782,988
PIEAFiIE A& Current tax liabilities 25,035 84,283
nBEERE Total current liabilities 956,770 1,387,771
BEEAE Total liabilities 1,745,274 2,570,782
EERE Net assets 2,317,408 311,862
AANREBEAEBGESR Equity attributable to owners of
the Company
i % Share capital 32 232 192
f&% 15 % (B Share premium 32 1,727,026 —
H Other equity 33 3) —
Hfh Other reserves 34 299,759 162,673
1RE8 &7 Retained earnings 290,394 148,997
R Total equity 2,317,408 311,862

The notes on pages 97 to 224 are an integral part of these financial statements.

FRIBEZ224E W MR BESFMN20224F The financial statements on pages 89 to 224 were approved by the Board of Directors
SH2LABMBENNELEREE - on March 24, 2022 and were signed on its behalf.

fi-P Zhao Hong
2 Director
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RNATHEE AEL
Attributable to owners of the Company
FitzE BA  ROEE Hitfrig Hivis  REAER CEH
Share Share Other Other Retained
Note capital premium Equity reserves earnings Total
ARETT ARBTT AREFr ARETT ARETT ARET:R
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R2020F1 1A M &4 Balance at January 1, 2020 — — — 1,296,133 229,044 1,525,177
2HEKE Comprehensive income
ERFE Profit for the year - — — — 753,695 753,695
NWAREENEAES Changes in the fair value of equity
STAH M2 E M R investments at FVOCI
REMNDABEERD 26 — - — 153,247 — 153,247
INEETE 5, Foreign currency translation 34 — = = 9,168 = 9,168
2HEHUEHAE Total comprehensive income — — — 162,415 753,695 916,110
HASERERTAN Transactions with equity holders of
x5 the Group
BOLER Issuance of ordinary shares 32 192 — = 25,193 = 25,385
EREETERE Appropriation to statutory reserves 34 — = = 7,588 (7,588) =
RS 17 B & B 2 Share based compensation expenses 27 — — — 66,823 — 66,823
R & Contribution from shareholders 34 — — — 8,761 = 8,761
% 8 Dividends 16 — — —  (1,404,240) (826,154)  (2,230,394)
HBASEREREAN Total transactions with equity
REEE holders of the Group 192 — —  (1,295875)  (833,742) (2,129,425)
R2020F12 A31 8 & & Balance at December 31, 2020 192 — — 162,673 148,997 311,862
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Statements of Changes In Equity

v UNGIE 2PN
Attributable to owners of the Company
BA  ROEE  HitkE - HtREE  RERF CE3
Share Share Other Other Retained
capital premium equity reserves earnings Total
fix AR®Tn ARMTRE ARETn ARETR ARETR AR%T:
Note RMB’000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R2021E1 1AM Balance at January 1, 2021 192 — — 162,673 148,997 311,862
2EKE Comprehensive income
FRFE Profit for the year - — — — 923,361 923,361
WDRBEITZAEED Changes in the fair value of equity
STAH M2 E W R E investments at FVOC|
REMAABERY 26 — — — 103,671 — 103,671
INETE T, Foreign currency translation 34 (35,042) = (35,042)
ZEREAE Total comprehensive income - - — 68,629 923,361 991,990
HASERERTAN Transactions with equity holders of
x5 the Group
BITEER Issuance of ordinary shares 32 37 1,727,026 - - — 1,727,063
BRZETERE Appropriation to statutory reserves 34 - - — 10,266 (10,266) —
B 17 B & B Share based compensation expenses 27 — — — 63,013 - 63,013
WES\HQ AR Issuance of ordinary shares to
BILRER employee share scheme trusts 32,33 3 — 3) — = —
% 8 Dividends 16 — — — (4,822) (771,698) (776,520)
HASEREREAN Total transactions with equity
RPBE holders of the Group 40 1,727,026 (3) 68,457 (781,964) 1,013,556
R2021FE12 8318 & & Balance at December 31, 2021 232 1,727,026 (3) 299,759 290,394 2,317,408
FITH E224E MMt 3t R 5% 5 B S WK A AH K The notes on pages 97 to 224 are an integral part of these financial statements.
N
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

HZE12A31BILEE

Year ended December 31,

2021 2020%F
2021 2020
BsE ARBT T AREBFIT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
RETHMBRERE Cash flows from operating activities
KEMERS Cash generated from operations 35 1,213,580 1,031,590
B UHLE Interest received 7,958 8,577
EATFIE Interest paid (47,861) (21,922)
B ETIS R Income tax paid (144,221) (37,278)
RETHMEBREFH Net cash generated from operating activities 1,029,456 980,967
REZBHMEEESRE Cash flows from investing activities
PYE - B REESNHFKIE  Payments for property, plant and equipment (5,700) (3,747)
MEFEESNHKIE Payments for intangible assets (185,112) (465,619)
W is e HATE R Acquisition of time deposit (72,759) —
WEN AR EEFEBEES)ET A Acquisition of financial assets at FVPL
EHEENeREE (1,134,412) (1,006,149)
WENAREEFEEEZEE A Acquisition of financial assets at FVOCI
Hib 2 ERRNEREE — (54,831)
HENAREBEFEBREZEHET A Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at FVPL
EHEENSREEMSRA 1,109,326 1,022,840
HEME - BEKRED Proceeds from disposal of property, plant
FriS 308 and equipment 272 —
SRR, (3Em) Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash 162,148 (163,123)
RETEHFIARSFE Net cash used in investing activities (126,237) (670,629)
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HE12A31BILEE

Year ended December 31,

20214 2020%F
2021 2020
BsE ARBT T ARBFIT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

RETBHAERERE Cash flows from financing activities
BITEEAR Issuance of ordinary shares 32 1,734,174 25,385
HENROE2E D Principal elements of lease payments 17 (10,331) (19,283)
TRMEBBITHAR Payment of debt issuance cost — (5,601)
RITIERPTISRIE Proceeds from bank borrowing — 2,123,850
ZAHRITE R Payment for bank borrowing (777,792) —
RS AAR Payment of listing expenses (3,179) (3,933)
BfRE Dividends paid 16 (827,303) (2,173,758)

BMEEBRE (FA) Net cash generated from/(used in)

ReFE financing activities 115,569 (53,340)
REeRREEGFYIBMFHE Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,018,788 256,998
FNHRERRESEEY Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 1,118,986 919,490
MERF RS RIS EE Y Effects of exchange rate changes on

wa cash and cash equivalents (10,286) (57,502)
FRESRELEEY Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 2,127,488 1,118,986
FIOTEEN4EMM T RAZET B IREAOEK The notes on pages 97 to 224 are an integral part of these financial statements.
o e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1 General information and basis of presentation

1.1

1.2

General information

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on May 13, 2020
as an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law,
Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961 as combined and revised) of the Cayman Islands.
The address of the Company’s registered office is PO Box 309, Ugland
House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and
its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally engaged in
developing and commercializing a portfolio of marketed products as well
as pipeline with potential in their focused therapeutic areas including
oncology and severe infection (the “Listing Business”).

The Company completed the initial public offering (“IPO”) and had its
shares listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“HKEx”) on
March 3, 2021.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi

(“RMB"), unless otherwise stated.

History and reorganization of the Group
In preparing for the IPO and listing of the Company’s shares on the
Main Board of the HKEx (the “Listing”),

reorganization (the “Reorganization”) pursuant to which the Listing

the Group underwent a

Business was transferred to the Company.
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1

General information and basis of presentation
(continued)

1.2 History and reorganization of the Group (continued)
Immediately prior to the Reorganization, the

was operated by SciClone Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

in the Cayman Islands, and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Operating

Entities”).
incorporated in the United States of America (the “U.S.”) in 1990.

The Reorganization involved the following steps:

(i) On April 6, 2020, SPI transferred the entire equity interests of
SciClone Pharmaceuticals Italy S.R.L. (“SP Italy”) to SPIL at cost. As

a result, SP Italy became a wholly owned subsidiary of SPIL;

(i) On May 13, 2020, the Company was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands with one share being allotted and issued to the
initial subscriber. On the same date, the subscriber share of the
Company was transferred at par value of USD0.00005 to GL
GLEE Investment Limited, one of the Ultimate Shareholders, for
the purpose of handling corporate reorganization and secretarial

matters;

(i)~ On June 16, 2020, SPI made distribution in specie of its 50%
equity interests of Silver New Cayman to Silver Biotech Investment
Limited (“SBI”), a Cayman Islands exempted company wholly
owned by Silver Biotech Holding Limited (“SBH"”). On June 18,
2020, SBI made distribution in specie of all its equity interests
of Silver New Cayman to SBH, and then Silver New Cayman

transferred all its equity interests of SPIL to SBH;

Listing Business
(“SPI"), SciClone

Pharmaceuticals International Limited (“SPIL"), a company incorporated

SPIL was directly wholly owned by SPI, a company
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1

General information and basis of presentation

(continued)

1.2 History and reorganization of the Group (continued)

(iv)

(vi)

On June 18, 2020, SBI transferred its entire equity interests
in SciClone Pharmaceuticals Limited (“SPL”) and SciClone
Pharmaceuticals Management Limited (“SPML”) to SPIL at nil
consideration. Following the transfer, SPL and SPML became
wholly owned subsidiaries of SPIL;

On June 18, 2020, SBH made a distribution in specie of its entire
equity interests of SPIL to SBE; and

On June 24, 2020, SBE transferred its entire equity interests
of SPIL to the Company. The Company allotted and issued
543,135,509 ordinary shares in total at par value of USD0.00005
each to the Ultimate Shareholders in proportion to their
shareholdings in SBE as the fully paid consideration.

Upon the completion of the Reorganization, the Company became the

holding company of the companies now comprising the Group.

As part of the Reorganization, all the relevant intellectual properties held

by SPI have been transferred to SPIL. In light of the long time frame for
the transfer, on May 28, 2020, SPI and SPIL entered into an intellectual
property license agreement, pursuant to which SPI agreed to grant

a perpetual, exclusive and royalty-free license to SPIL and its certain

affiliates with respect to such relevant intellectual properties held by SPI.
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1

General information and basis of presentation
(continued)

1.3 Basis of presentation
Immediately prior to and after the Reorganization,

Business is conducted through the Operating Entities. Pursuant to the
Reorganization, the Listing Business held through the Operating Entities
are transferred to and held by the Company. The Company has not been
involved in any other business prior to the Reorganization and does not
meet the definition of a business. The steps as described in Note 1.2
above are merely a Reorganization of the Operating Entities and did not
change the business substance and management of the Listing Business

conducted through the Operating Entities.

Accordingly, the Group resulting from the Reorganization is regarded as
a continuation of the Listing Business under the Operating Entities and
the consolidated financial statements of the companies now comprising
the Group have been prepared on a consolidated basis and is presenting

using the respective carrying value of the Listing Business for all periods

presented.

The financial information of SPI that relates to the Listing Business for the
years presented was included in the consolidated financial statements in

the following manner:

(i) Retrospective presentation method is adopted by the Group
that SPI's business was incorporated as if it had always been
consolidated with the Listing Business. Transactions and balances
of SPI were consolidated in the consolidated financial statements

at carrying values.

(i) Upon completion of the Reorganization, assets and liabilities of
SPI relating to the Listing Business which were not transferred to
the Group (mainly included cash and cash equivalents, current

tax liabilities,

accounted for as a deemed distribution to or contribution from

the shareholders (Note 34(ii)).

the Listing

other current assets and other payables) were
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS")
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
Cop. 622. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of

financial assets at FVPL or FVOCI which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note
6.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized gains/losses on
transactions between group companies are eliminated on consolidation.
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2 FEESTBEREEe 2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)
21 BEEE® 2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
— XEBEESERAR AT — New and amended standards adopted by the
RASILETER) Group
AKEBR2021F1A18H The Group has applied the following amendments for the first
BRFERS ARG XER time for their annual reporting period commencing January 1,
IATERT - 2021:
RUT ARz %%
28| K EEHRER

Effective for annual
periods beginning on

Standards or after
COVID- 1918 R — (BRI BIMEER) 1658 (BRIA) 202151718
Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions — amendments to IFRS 16 January 1, 2021
FlREENE — 28 — (ERMBmERER) 295 - (BEBESHER) F39% 20215118
(BIR B ISR 2ER) 875 - (BIRMBSmEER]) F455 Kk (BBRMBRE2ER) $£165%
(ERTA)
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2 — amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 January 1, 2021
B RT 38 1 B R HE SR Y The amendments listed above did not have any impact on the
SRV ETMZE - BEG amounts recognized in prior periods and are not expected to
TEHEASRRABMES significantly affect the current or future periods.

EARE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
— New standards and interpretations not yet

R adopted
EEMERMRESTEARAEER Standards, amendments and interpretations that have been issued
IR BN R (B ET but not yet effective and not been early adopted by the Group are
M@REBOT as follows:.
RUT ARz %%
8| WEERBEN
Effective for annual
periods beginning on
Standards or after
(BRG] 835 (BRIR) [SIBEISIESR] 20221 A1H
Amendments to IFRS 3, “Reference to the Conceptual Framework” January 1, 2022
(BEEREFER) £375% (BRIA) [ERESH — BITAHRIKA] 202251718

Amendments to IAS 37, “Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract”

20185 £ 20205 (BERMEIHRELER) 2 FEUE
Annual improvements to IFRS standards 2018-2020

(BEEHERD F1658 (BFIA) M - BERRE : (FREREANMSHR]

Amendment to IAS 16, “Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before intended use”

(BB B IMELR) F175% [REREK]

IFRS 17, “Insurance Contracts”

(REEsHERD) 15 R (ERPBRSENEBRESE2R) (BFIA) [SEERNRKE]

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2, “Disclosure of Accounting Policies”

(BEEREFEAD F19k (BAIA) [RESBE/RE LIRS ]

Amendments to IAS 1, “Classification of Liabilities as Current and Non-current”

(B EHER) F8sk (EFTA) [EFHERtAER]

Amendments to IAS 8, “Definition of Accounting Estimates”

(B EsERD) $12%% (BFIA) — BE-—XHELAMEENABRBNELRIA

Amendments to IAS 12 — Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction Tax

(BRI EZER) 21055 & CEIRERTER]) $£285% (BFIA) [RAFMEAERE AT
BRALECZENEELESOEA]

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28, “Sale or Contribution of Assets between An Investor and
Its Associate or Joint Venture”

January 1, 2022

202251 H1H
January 1, 2022

20221 °1H
January 1, 2022

2023%1A1H
January 1, 2023

2023F1H1H
January 1, 2023

20235 1A1H
January 1, 2023

20231 A1H
January 1, 2023

202351 H1H
January 1, 2023

s

.
FE

To be determined

EEE YT AR RIERT A
Rt - L FEHEE®
L“%ﬁ/ﬁﬁﬂ& FI AR
BHARENS G5 ®
i‘%&ﬁzéﬁ?éc g

statements when they become effective.

The directors have performed assessment on the new standards
and amendments, and has concluded on a preliminary basis
that these new standards and amendments would not have
# a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries
(a) Consolidation

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct
the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from
the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized gains/losses
on transactions between the companies within the Group are
eliminated on consolidation.

(i) Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account
for business combinations other than those under common
control, regardless of whether equity instruments or other
assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

. fair values of the assets transferred

. liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquired business

° equity interests issued by the Group

° fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, and

° fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2

Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)
(a) Consolidation (continued)

(i)

Business combinations (continued)

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with
limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values
at the acquisition date. The Group recognizes any non-
controlling interest in the acquired entity on an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquired
entity’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the consideration transferred, amount of
any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity, and
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in
the acquired entity over the fair value of the net identifiable
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts
are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of
the business acquired, the difference is recognized directly
in profit or loss as a bargain purchase.
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Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)
(a) Consolidation (continued)

(i)

Business combinations (continued)

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is
deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted
to their present value as at the date of exchange. The
discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing
rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be
obtained from an independent financier under comparable
terms and conditions. Contingent consideration is classified
either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified
as a financial liability are subsequently re-measured to fair
value with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair
value at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising
from such re-measurement are recognized in profit or loss.
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)
(a) Consolidation (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions — that is, as transactions with the owners of
the subsidiary in their capacity as owners. The difference
between fair value of any consideration paid and the
relevant share acquired of the carrying amount of net assets
of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on
disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in
equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained
interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value at
the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying
amount recognized in profit or loss. The fair value is the
initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate,
joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognized in other comprehensive income
("OCI") in respect of that entity are accounted for as
if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously

recognized in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)

(b)

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries in the separate financial statements
of the Company are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost
includes direct attributable costs of investment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividends received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required
upon receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in
the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

2.3 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the

24

internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker.

The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating

resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has

been identified as executive directors that makes strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation

(a)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial information of each of the Group’s
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The functional currencies of the Company and its
subsidiaries incorporated outside of Mainland China are USD,
EUR or HKD, while the functional currencies of the Company’s
subsidiaries established in Mainland China are Renminbi (“RMB").
As the major business of the Group are within Mainland China,
the Group determined to present its consolidated financial

statements in RMB (unless otherwise stated).
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2 FEESTBEBEw 2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)
2.4 HNEERE (&) 2.4 Foreign currency translation (continued)
(b) XZRK4EE (b) Transactions and balances
INERBERSE BNRT Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
JEXBE EHE2HMNME currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
BEREARGEEY - KEH transactions or valuation when items are re-measured. Foreign
AR5 RIAINEST RN EK exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
BEMBEERFREXRBRE transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange
Fri8 s my HNEE U s RS R rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
EHEERERAER o currencies are recognized in the consolidated statements of

comprehensive income.

BA 5 20 A 8 HO SN U 25 T S Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings
BREHEZEKERAOBE are presented in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
AR ZS o BT KA HMNE income, within finance costs. All other foreign exchange gains
WM EBRFERA G and losses are presented in the consolidated statements of
2EREROE Mz comprehensive income on a net basis within “Other gains/(losses)
(EE) —FHEINZED - — net”.

INE R R BEAENIEE Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign
KEERAARBEEEZ currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date
HEEEBRE - BARBE when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on
AFTEMEENRBENERE assets and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of
HIERA R BEWELEE the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation differences on
M—2BoHRE - Hlan - AR non-monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at FVPL
AEEFEEEEHTAR are recognized in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or
HIEEN R ERSIEEN loss, and translation differences on non-monetary assets such as
BEENBGBCELZ8NE equities classified as at FVOCI are recognized in OCI.

HNRRADA EERREY
—#85  THBARALE
i BRI AL R
Elhas R SR EE
2B R EBR A 2 E R
PR -
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group entities (none of
which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the presentation currency are

translated into the presentation currency as follows:

o assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are
translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance
sheet;

3 income and expenses for each income statement are

translated at average exchange rates (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect
of rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates
of the transactions); and

3 all resulting currency translation differences are recognized
in OCl.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of
a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate. Currency translation
differences arising are recognized in OCI.
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2 FEESTBEBEw 2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

25 ME-BEREE 2.5 Property, plant and equipment

mE - -BERREBE(ME BE
& 1) 1B LAk AR 3T &

R-BERABRREBEEEARIEAR

MEREHEMAX

HERAEEHERZEBEBRBANER
REBEMRRAERAREEH -
Mz BB K AER St 2R 5
FFABEENERABEXERRE L
BE(MER) - JIEBILEED
ERAEKT S NEREAEREER
BILHER - FTEHEMBEB RRE
EREHEHEANVBBEBEER
HE -

ME BERIKBOFTERABE
#ROR R A fh A AT R OB R
ARBERHEEFE  FEN
™

Property, plant and equipment (“PP&E") is stated at historical cost less
depreciation. Historical cost includes the expenditure that is directly

attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The
carrying amount of any component accounted for as a separate asset
is derecognized when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

Depreciation of PP&E is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their cost to their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, as follows:

fAET A fE A HA
Estimated useful lives

— PWARERRE 3ESEF
— Office furniture and equipment 3-5 years
— HH 45
— Vehicle 4 years
— HEWEEE FIgrAH B R B E st Al A R e &

— Leasehold improvements Shorter of remaining term of the lease and the estimated useful lives of assets

ﬁ?%ﬂﬁﬁﬁ&ﬂﬁ%@%&

BREHARETRST  TEEE
B2 -

ERAENEEESREMG K
O & %8 - HBREE B OB = AT
Wl ¢ 58 (M 5E2.7) ©

HEME BERRENERR
PRSFREREENEZRETE
THAFEEKREROEMBK
=/ (BR) — FEINER -

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.7).

Gains and losses on disposals of PP&E are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amount and are recognized in “Other gains/
(losses) — net” in the consolidated statements of comprehensive

income.
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Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

2.6 Intangible assets

(a)

R&D expenditures

Research expenditure on research activities is recognized as an
expense as incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development
activities is recognized if, and only if, all of the following have
been demonstrated:

3 it is technically feasible to complete the intangible assets so
that it will be available for use;

J management intends to complete the intangible assets and
use or sell it;

3 there is an ability to use or sell the intangible assets;

3 it can be demonstrated how the intangible assets will

generate probable future economic benefits;

3 adequate technical, financial and other resources to
complete the development and to use or sell the intangible
assets are available; and

3 the expenditure attributable to the intangible assets during

its development can be reliably measured.

The Group’s R&D expenditures incurred did not meet the
capitalization principle above and were expensed as incurred
during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

2.6 Intangible assets (continued)

(b)

Licenses

Payments made to third parties to in-license or acquire intellectual
property rights, compounds and products include initial non-
refundable upfront payments, subsequent milestone payments
and royalty payments. Upfront and milestone payments are
capitalized as intangible assets when incurred, unless these
payments are for outsourced R&D work which follow the
capitalization principle in Note 2.6(a). Royalty payments incurred
along with the underlying sales are expensed as incurred and

charged to cost of revenue.

Additional payments for purchase of intangible assets contingent
on future events are not considered on initial recognition of the
assets, but are added to the costs of the assets initially recorded
when incurred, or when related liabilities are remeasured for
changes in cash flows, if such payments are related to the costs of
the assets.

Subsequent internal R&D expenses in relation to in-license
intellectual property rights, compounds and products are expensed
unless capitalization principles are met in accordance with the

accounting policy as mentioned in Note 2.6(a).

Intangible assets associated with in-license arrangements that have
an indefinite useful life or not available for use are not subject
to amortization and are tested annually for impairment, or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they
might be impaired (Note 2.7).
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2 FEETHREHBE @ 2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)
26 BEEE®) 2.6 Intangible assets (continued)
(b) Fal(#&) (b) Licenses (continued)
TEREARES|IALTHEBAN Intangible assets recognized related to in-license arrangements
B EEANHERRFZE are amortized on the straight-line basis over their useful economic
AR FERLEFIHRA lives when they become available for use (Note 6(c)).
B (M sE6() °
A ERELEENGRTA Estimated useful lives of available for-use intangible assets are as
FERFHNOT follows:
REtAERAEH
Estimated useful lives
— #FAl S5E205F (EREESIALTHHRNTEANERIEENR (ABRER/E) )
— Licenses 5-20 years (based on the terms of the in-license arrangements or the estimated duration of product sales,
whichever is shorter)
(c) B (c) Software
AR E RIRHE A AT K Costs incurred to acquire and bring to use of software are
TEERBAETUEAR capitalized as intangible assets and amortized over their estimated
b - WAEEET A A EH useful lives (generally 3 years).
CGBEAR3F)NTAHE -
27 FeRmEEZRE 2.7 Impairment of non-financial assets
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Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not
subject to amortization and are tested annually for impairment, or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might
be impaired. Other assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal
of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

2.8 Investments and other financial assets
(a) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets

measurement categories:

in the following

—  those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either

through OCI or through profit or loss), and

— those to be measured at amortized cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for

managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the

cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will be

recorded either in profit or loss or OCI. For investments in equity

instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on

whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time

of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at

FVOCI.

See Note 25 for details of each type of financial assets.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its

business model for managing those assets changes.

(b) Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized

on the trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to

purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognized when

the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have

expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred

substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
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2 FEESTBEBEw 2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)
28 RERHEMEMEE &) 2.8 Investments and other financial assets (continued)
() #E (c) Measurement
R HERE - AEENE At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at
BMEEZREAABEMYE its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at FVPL,
FURREEFEEHE transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of
STAEHETNEREE) the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at
N EZERmEEBZEMN FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

WX BRAE - ARARE
Bt 8 B HZE AE BB
BREAHE -

EETARATETIANS Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their
MEENRERECRER entirety when determining whether their cash flows are solely
TRARERFEE &% F payment of principal and interest.

REREENRRBEERE -

E% T A Debt instruments

B TAEMNEBEFER/TAR Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the

EEEHAENEBENR Group’s business model for managing the asset and the cash

ZEEMRESREFHAM flow characteristics of the asset. The Group classifies its debt

E o AEBBEKIENSE instruments into the following measurement categories:

RUATEE8R

o EBAZR : WA NER . Amortized cost: Assets that are held for collection of
ERBREREMSEE contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
MEENRESREE solely payments of principal and interest are measured at
BYRAERFE amortized cost. Interest income from these financial assets
BIZEEEREHK is included in finance income using the effective interest
AitE - ZESRE rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is
ENHERAZE recognized directly in profit or loss and presented in “Other
RAEEGFARE gains/(losses) — net” together with foreign exchange gains
WA o R IETERE & and losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate
HERKRENEIEER line item in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
ERBERER  IWHE income.
HNTE I 2 K B 1B —

R A H A W s (&
B)—FEINZET -
BEBBERA 2@
W RAEBKRE 2
5l -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

2.8

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
(c) Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where the
assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in the
carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income
and foreign exchange gains and losses which are recognized
in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognized,
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in OCl is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognized in
"Other gains/(losses) — net”. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in “Other gains/(losses) — net” and
impairment expenses are presented as a separate line item
in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.
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Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

2.8
(c)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Measurement (continued)
Debt instruments (continued)

o FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortized
cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a
debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVPL is
recognized in profit or loss and presented net within “Other
gains/(losses) — net” in the period in which it arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair
value. Where the Group’s management has elected to present fair
value gains and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit
or loss following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends
from such investments continue to be recognized in profit or loss
as "Other income” when the Group’s right to receive payments is
established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognized
in “Other gains/(losses) — net” in the consolidated statements
of comprehensive income as applicable. Impairment losses (and
reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments measured
at FVOCI are not reported separately from other changes in fair

value.
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Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

2.8

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

(d)

(e)

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is
reported in the consolidated balance sheets when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously. The legally enforceable right
must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable
in the normal course of business and in the event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company or the counterparty.

Impairment

The Group assesses the expected credit losses associated with
its debt instruments carried at amortized cost, including loan
receivables, trade receivables and other receivables (including
receivables from licensing income, purchase rebate receivables,
rental deposits and interest receivables) on a forward-looking
basis, and with the exposure arising from financial guarantee
contracts. The impairment methodology applied depends on

whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach
permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be

recognized from initial recognition of the receivables.
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

2.8

2.9

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
(e) Impairment (continued)

Impairment on other receivables (including receivables from
licensing income, purchase rebate receivables, rental deposits and
interest receivables) and loan receivables is measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit losses,
depending on whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant increase in credit
risk of a receivable has occurred since initial recognition, then
impairment is measured as lifetime expected credit losses.

Inventories

Inventories, mainly consisting of raw materials, work in progress and
finished goods, are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value.
Cost comprises amounts related to direct materials, direct labor and an
appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure. Costs
are assigned to individual items of inventory on the basis of weighted
average costs. Costs of purchased inventory are determined after
deducting rebates and discounts. Net realizable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of

completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

2.10 Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or
services performed in the ordinary course of business. They are generally
due for settlement within 90 days and therefore all classified as current.

Trade receivables are recognized initially at the amount of consideration
that is
components, when they are recognized at fair value. The Group holds

unconditional unless they contain significant financing
the trade receivables with the objective of collecting the contractual cash
flows and therefore measures them subsequently at amortized cost using
the effective interest method. Details about the Group’s impairment
policies and the calculation of the loss allowance are disclosed in Note

2.8.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

2.11 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call
with financial institutions, other short-term and highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.

2.12 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.13 Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified as current liabilities
if payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognized initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest
method.

2.14 Borrowings
Borrowings are initially recognized at fair value, net of transaction costs
incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortized cost.
Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption amount is recognized in profit or loss over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the
establishment of loan facilities are recognized as transaction costs of
the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-
down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalized as
a prepayment for liquidity services and amortized over the period of the

facility to which it relates.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

2.14 Borrowings (continued)

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged, canceled or expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has
been extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration
paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognized in profit or loss as other income or finance costs.

Where the terms of a financial liability are renegotiated and the entity
issues equity instruments to a creditor to extinguish all or part of the
liability (debt for equity swap), a gain or loss is recognized in profit or
loss, which is measured as the difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability and the fair value of the equity instruments
issued.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the reporting period.

2.15 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are
capitalized during the period of time that is required to complete and
prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings, pending their expenditure on qualifying assets, is deducted
from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.
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Financial guarantee contract is recognized as a financial liability at the
time the guarantee is issued. The liability is initially measured at fair value
and subsequently at the higher of:

o the amount determined in accordance with the expected credit
loss model under IFRS 9 — Financial Instruments and

° the amount initially recognized less, where appropriate, the
cumulative amount of income recognized in accordance with the

principles of IFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined based on the present
value of the difference in cash flows between the contractual payments
required under the debt instrument and the payments that would be
required without the guarantee, or the estimated amount that would be
payable to a third party for assuming the obligations.

Where guarantees in relation to loans or other payables of associates
are provided for no compensation, the fair values are accounted for as
contributions and recognized as part of the cost of the investment.

2.17 Dividend distribution

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being
appropriately authorized and no longer at the discretion of the Company
and its subsidiaries, on or before the end of the reporting period but not
distributed at the end of the reporting period.

2.18 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on
the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable income tax
rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and
liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.
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Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(a)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax
laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date
in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries operate
and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to
be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognized, using the liability method, on
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognized if
they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income
tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax
rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the consolidated balance sheet date and are expected to apply
when the related deferred income tax asset is realized, or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized only if it is probable
that future taxable profit will be available to utilize those
temporary differences and losses.



2

TESHTHRRBEw

2.18 BN HA R IR #E Fr 5 % (42)

(b)

EEFFZH (#)

BEFSBEERRAER
AR A BE A Y IR BT B
ERHRAE  ERERE
8 7] LA 2 5 T B R
B MENEREETER
16 58 7 A T & 48 Bl MR SE
FT S B B BR D -

BEFREHEERRHER
AR B E A A R B B
ERMER  HERNTRE
BRAT AR REED - X F
T8 2 FE AR A5 e ) A i K
B 2= SRR LT o

BAREERLARHBITH
BN ARREERAR
i MELRFHAARE
[Fl— B # #RA AR RA RS - RAT
REEPTSHEERARIE
HeEERAEEELAR
HITRAE S B A BIR%
HEALEEENRAREREE
FBEAER - R HENH
HMEEERBBARAE -

BIEA R FE B TR 48 25 1
R AR A2 R
FEENERTHERNIAR
BRSO o FEULBER T - HIATR
DHREMEERE L EE
PAHE 21 RERR o

AREEBAKERFAIBKE
REREEXEHA AR
XERRHRBIERS - A&
Btz =M ARSI ST
He - AR EERNAE
B BN EA TR IR B S -

2

& BF B 75 3 3R BT 5
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (continued)
(b) Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable temporary

differences arising from investments in subsidiaries, except for

deferred income tax liability where the timing of the reversal

of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is

probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the

foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are

recognized on deductible

temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries

only to the extent that it is probable the temporary difference will

reverse in the future and there is sufficient taxable profit available

against which the temporary difference can be utilized.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is

a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities

and when the deferred income tax balances relate to the same

taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset

where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and

intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and

settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognized in profit or loss, except to

the extent that it relates to items recognized in OCI or directly in

equity. In this case, the tax is also recognized in OCI or directly in

equity, respectively.

Companies within the Group may be entitled to claim special tax

deductions for investments in qualifying assets or in relation to

qualifying expenditure. The Group accounts for such allowances

as tax credits, which means that the allowance reduces income tax

payable and current tax expense.
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Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

2.19 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits
that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after
the end of the period in which the employees render the related
service are recognized in respect of employees’ services up to the
end of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities
are presented as current employee benefit obligations in the
consolidated balance sheet.

Pension obligations

The Group's subsidiaries operating in Mainland China have to
make contribution to staff retirement schemes managed by local
government authorities in accordance with the relevant rules and
regulations. Contributions to these schemes are charged to the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income as and when
incurred. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to
pay further contributions once the contributions are paid by the
Group in compliance with the relevant rules and regulations.
The local government authorities are responsible for the entire
retirement scheme obligations payable to the retired employees.

Contributions made to these schemes vest immediately.

The Group also participates in the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held in a separate trustee-administered fund. Both the
Group and the employees employed by the Group in Hong Kong
are required to contribute to the scheme monthly. The Group has
no further payment obligations once the contributions have been
paid. The Group's contributions to the MPF Scheme are expensed
as incurred.
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2 FEESTBEBEw 2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)
219EERA (&) 2.19 Employee benefits (continued)
c) FELAEZL EER (c) Housing funds, medical insurances and other

BREMMERE social insurances

KEERTENEEFESR Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled to participate in
MEZERBNEENERER various government-supervised housing funds, medical insurances
Be  BERBEEMHE and other social insurance plan. The Group contributes on a
REREHE - REEE AKRR monthly basis to these funds based on certain percentages of the
EEHEMETEDE salaries of the employees, subject to certain ceiling. The Group's
MUEESHK - B—F L liability in respect of these funds is limited to the contributions
B o AEEG U SEESFEE payable in each year. Contributions to the housing funds, medical
NEE USFEEMME insurances and other social insurances are expensed as incurred.

RER -EFEAER  BE
TR Jo E At A & OR B O (i 5K
REERH -

(d) ESEZR/RE (d) Employee leave entitlements
BEEEEZNFBRNEEREE Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognized when they
S REBER - AEE R accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability
EEZEEBERBRERHER for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up
BMELEFBNGETARE to the balance sheet date. Employee entitlements to sick leave and
HEE EEEZARBL maternity leave are not recognized until the time of leave.

ERTTHER HEEEEBIE
ARBRAL -

(e) #LirE (e) Bonus plans

TEER 88 & A ANFE AN S B 3R R The expected cost of bonuses is recognized as a liability when
wEE 8 1R A IR 2 1+ the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation for
REELEEITHHEENE payment of bonus as a result of services rendered by employees
% - BB e EibEt and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made. Liabilities
BERAARE - RerrEN for bonus plans are expected to be settled within 1 year and are
BERHR—FANFE & measured at the amounts expected to be paid when they are
EERREBI MBS B settled.

£ o
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Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

2.19 Employee benefits (continued)

))

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated
by the Group before the normal retirement date, or when an
employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these
benefits. The Group recognizes termination benefits at the
earlier of the following dates: (a) when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when the Group
recognizes costs for a restructuring that is within the scope of
IAS 37 and involves the payment of terminations benefits. In
the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy,
the termination benefits are measured based on the number
of employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling due
more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period are
discounted to present value.

2.20 Share-based payment

The Group operates share incentive plan, under which it receives services

from

employees as consideration for equity instruments (restricted

shares units (“RSUs”) and options) of the Company. The fair value of

the services received in exchange for the grant of the equity instruments

(RSUs and options) is recognized as an expense in the consolidated

statements of comprehensive income with a corresponding increase in

equity.

In terms of the RSUs and options awarded to employees, the total

amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of

equity instruments (RSUs and options) granted:

including any market performance conditions;

excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance
vesting conditions; and

including the impact of any non-vesting conditions.
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(continued)

220 R B ERMNTE (&) 2.20 Share-based payment (continued)
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Non-marketing performance and service conditions are included in
calculation of the number of RSUs and options that are expected to vest.
The total amount expensed is recognized over the vesting period, which
is the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be
satisfied.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of
the number of RSUs and options that are expected to vest based on the
non-marketing performance and service conditions. It recognizes the
impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income, with a corresponding adjustment

to equity.

In some circumstances, employees may provide services in advance of the
grant date and therefore the grant date fair value is estimated for the
purposes of recognizing the expense during the period between service
commencement period and grant date.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new ordinary
shares. The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction

costs are credited to share capital and share premium.

2.21 Earnings per share

(a) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

—  the profit attributable to owners of the Company, excluding
any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares

— by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus
elements in ordinary shares issued during the year and
excluding treasury shares.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

2.21 Earnings per share (continued)

(b) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the
determination of basic earnings per share to take into account:

—  the after-income tax effect of interest and other financing
costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares, and

—  the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares
that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

2.22 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the
amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognized for
further operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an
outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the
class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognized even if the
likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the

same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to

passage of time is recognized as interest expense.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

2.23 Revenue recognition
The Group principally derives revenue from sales of products and
provision of promotion services.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable, and represents amounts receivable for goods sold or services
performed, stated net of discounts, returns and value-added taxes. The
Group recognizes revenue when the specific criteria have been met for
each of the Group’s activities, as described below.

(a) Product sales

The Group recognizes product revenue at the point in time when
the performance obligation under the terms of a contract with
the customer is satisfied and control of the product has been
transferred to the customer. The Group recognizes product
revenue from selling its proprietary product, Zadaxin, at the
shipping point and recognizes product revenue from selling
promotion products for business partners and in-licensed products
when the products have been delivered to the customers.

The Group's contractual arrangement with its exclusive
China importer and distributor for Zadaxin, contains variable
considerations in connection with the price mechanism that if
the provincial tender price is below or above a reference price
(baseline price), the Group may owe price compensation payable
to or is due price compensation receivable from the distributor.
The provincial tender price is the ultimate end-point sales price
approved by provincial authorities in China. The Group estimates
the variable consideration using the expected value method and
takes into consideration the tender price as at the report date
as well as the recent market trend. The variable consideration
(whether price compensation payable or receivable), under
the principles of IFRS 15, is recognized at the time when the
underlying originating sale is recognized.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

2.23 Revenue recognition (continued)

(b) Promotion service revenue

The Group generated promotion service revenue from the
provision of promotion services to customers. The Group
recognizes promotion  services revenue for designated
pharmaceutical products over time in the period in which its
customers simultaneously receive and consume the benefits
provided by the promotion and marketing services as specified in

promotion service contract.

2.24 Leases

The Group leases office and buildings as lessee. Rental contracts are
typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 5 years with no extension option.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions.

Leases are recognized as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability
at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by the Group.
Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost.
The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as
to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance
of the liability for each period. The right-of-use asset is amortized over
the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line
basis.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

2.24 Leases (continued)
Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a

present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the

following lease payments:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any
lease incentives receivable

variable lease payments that are based on an index or a rate
amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value
guarantees

the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably

certain to exercise that option, and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term
reflects the lessee exercising that option.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

any lease payments made at or before the commencement date

less any lease incentives received

any initial direct costs, and

restoration costs.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

2.24 Leases (continued)

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in
the lease, if that rate can be determined, or the Group’s incremental

borrowing rate.

Payments associated with short-term leases are recognized on a straight-
line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with
a lease term of 12 months or less and leases with a remaining term of 12
months or less as of the date of initial adoption of IFRS 16.

The right-of-use assets and the lease liabilities are present separately on
the consolidated balance sheets.

Lease transaction is considered as a single transaction in which the asset
and liability are integrally linked, there is no net temporary difference
recognition at inception. Subsequently, as differences arise on settlement
of the liability and the amortization of the leased asset, there will be
a net temporary difference on which deferred tax is recognized. The
Group's deferred tax balances related to lease transactions were minimal
as at December 31, 2021 and 2020.

2.25 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognized at their fair value where
there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received, and the

Group will comply with all required conditions.

Government grants related to costs are deferred and recognized in profit
or loss over the period necessary to match them with the costs that they
are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to PP&E are included in non-current liabilities
as deferred income and are credited to profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the expected lives of the related assets.
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2

3

Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

2.26 Interest income

Interest income from financial assets at FVPL is included in the net fair
value gains/(losses) on these assets. Interest income on financial assets
at amortized cost and financial assets at FVOCI calculated using the
effective interest method is recognized in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income as part of other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset except for financial assets that
subsequently become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets
the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).

Interest income is presented as finance income where it is earned from
financial assets that are held for cash management purposes. Any other
interest income is included in other income.

Financial risk management

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk
(including foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The overall risk management program of the Group focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize
potential adverse effects on financial performance of the Group.
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Financial risk management (continuea)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk

(i)

Foreign exchange risk

The transactions of the Company are denominated and

settled in its functional currency, USD. The Group's
subsidiaries in the Cayman Islands and Hong Kong are
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect to RMB. Foreign
exchange risk primarily arose from recognized assets and
liabilities in the Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in
the Cayman Islands when receiving or to receive foreign
currencies from, or paying or to pay foreign currencies to

business partners.

For the Group’s subsidiaries whose functional currency is
USD, if RMB had strengthened/weakened by 5% against
USD with all other variables held constant, the impacts on
the profit before income tax for the year ended December
31, 2021 would have been approximately RMB12,253,000
higher/lower (2020: RMB16,153,000 higher/lower), mainly
as a result of net foreign exchange gains or losses on
translation of net monetary assets denominated in RMB.
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Financial risk management (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)

(i) Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risks arise from long-term
borrowings. Borrowings obtained in June 2020 (Note 30) at
floating rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate

risk which is partially offset by cash held at variable rates.

If the interest rate of borrowings with floating rate had
been 50 basis points higher/lower, the profit before income
tax for the year ended December 31, 2021 would have
been approximately RMB7,985,000 lower/higher (2020:
RMBS5,293,000 lower/higher).

(b) Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its cash and
cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade receivables, other
receivables (including receivables from licensing income, purchase
rebate receivables, rental deposits and interest receivables),
loan receivables and financial guarantee contracts. The carrying
amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, other
receivables (including receivables from licensing income, purchase
rebate receivables, rental deposits and interest receivables),
loan receivables and financial guarantee contracts represent the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial
assets. The Group did not record any significant credit losses
during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.
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Financial risk management (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

(i)

Credit risk of cash and cash equivalents and
restricted cash

To manage this risk arising from cash and cash equivalents
and restricted cash, they are mainly placed with banks
with high credit rating. There has been no recent history
of default in relation to these financial institutions. The
expected credit loss is close to zero.

Credit risk of trade receivables

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to
measure expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. To
measure the expected credit losses, trade receivable has
been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and

the days past due.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles
of sales over a period of at least 24 months before the
balance sheet date and the corresponding historical credit
losses experienced within this period. The historical loss
rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability
of the customers to settle the receivables, or significant
adverse changes in the market environment, including,
among others, the economic impact of the unprecedented
COVID-19 on the customers.
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Financial risk management (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(ii)

Credit risk of trade receivables (continued)

The expected credit loss was minimal at December 31, 2021
and 2020 as the trade receivables were considered to be of

low credit risk.

As at December 31, 2021, approximately 50% (2020:
84%) of the Group's trade receivables were due from a
subsidiary of a sizeable state-owned pharmaceutical product
distributor (“Customer A”), and approximately 30% (2020:
nil) of the Group’s trade receivables were due from a
subsidiary of the other sizeable state-owned pharmaceutical
("Customer B”), that was

product distributor newly

engaged in 2021.

The credit period granted to the Group’s customers is
usually no more than 90 days and the credit quality of
these customers is assessed based on the financial positions
of the customers, past experience and other factors. In
view of the sound collection history of receivables due
from the customers, management believes that the credit
risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding trade receivables
balances due from the customers is not significant. The
Group considered the impact of COVID-19, incorporated
related forward-looking factors to measure expected
credit losses, and determined that the expected credit loss
remained to be minimal as at December 31, 2021 and
2020.
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3 SREREERE® 3 Financial risk management continueq)
31 e@EBEZ#®) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) EEREE %) (b) Credit risk (continued)
(i) B 5 KW A 1 (i) Credit risk of trade receivables (continued)
1= E /&% (&)
TRBMLEBRRKRNE The following table summarized customers with balances
2 W IE10%M & greater than 10% of trade receivables:
B
M128318
As at December 31,
202145 20204
2021 2020
BEA Customer A 50% 84%
®FB Customer B 30% =
(i) H 1% 1 35 K A (i) Credit risk of other financial assets at amortized
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cost

Other financial assets at amortized cost mainly comprise
time deposits, receivables from licensing income, purchase
rebate receivables, rental deposits and interest receivables.
The Group considers the probability of default upon initial
recognition of asset and whether there has been significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis during the years
ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. To assess whether
there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group
compares risk of a default occurring on the assets as at
the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date
of initial recognition. Especially the following indicators are

incorporated:
o actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial economic conditions that are

expected to cause a significant change to the counter
party’s ability to meet its obligations;
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3 £RBERBEER® 3 Financial risk management (continued)
31 sREBEE®E) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) EEREE %) (b) Credit risk (continued)
A 1 15 # 15 L A (iii)  Credit risk of other financial assets at amortized
FTEM A E Ccost (continued)
HY 1= B /7 B (&)
e HFITHKE . actual or expected significant changes in the
¥BEERNTE operating results of the counter party;
B ;
e HWFFEHE
BRITRESE . significant changes in the expected performance and
ERNEH B8 behavior of the counter party, including changes in
BHFAIMAR the payment status of the counter party.
BEREES o
m 2021 & 12 A 31 As at December 31, 2021, there was no significant increase
H BY%RERESE in credit risk since initial recognition (2020: nil). The Group
B B I 4 78 1 assessed that the expected credit losses for these financial
(20204 : &) - A% assets within the next 12 months are not material.
EmREZELR
BENRRKI12BEA A
WEHEEBELY T
BEKR
TREMEHRANE The following table summarized third parties with balances
HRBEE10%M E greater than 10% of other current assets:
=75
"12831H
As at December 31,
20215 20204
2021 2020
2~ alD Company D 86% 17%
AN TFIE Company E - 52%
NC@ Company C — 23%
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Financial risk management (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient
cash and the availability of funding through adequate committed
credit facilities. The Group’s primary cash requirements are for
payments for acquisition of license arrangements, purchases of
inventories, payments for operating expenses, capital injections
into subsidiaries, and unexpected cash outflow due to other
unforeseen crisis.

To manage the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains
a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The Group expects to fund its
future cash flow needs through a combination of cash generated
from operating activities, the net proceeds received from the
global offering of the Company and other funds raised from the
capital markets from time to time.

The cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and other current
assets (excluding prepayments) held by the Group are expected to
readily generate cash inflows for managing liquidity risk.

At December 31, 2021, the Group had net current assets
of RMB2,042,290,000 (2020: RMB521,143,000). With the
consideration of anticipated operation cash inflows, and the ability
of adjusting the pace of its operation expansion and expenditures,
the directors are of the opinion that the Group has sufficient cash

flows in the near future to manage the liquidity risks.
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3

Financial risk management (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

The table below analyzes the Group’s non-derivative financial

liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining

period at the balance sheets date to the contractual maturity date.

1FUR 122%F 2855 S5ELLE At
Less than Between 1 Between 2 More than
1 year and 2 years and 5 years 5 years Total
AR®T T AR®T T ARBT T ARBT T AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
#2021%12A31H At December 31, 2021
25N Eﬁﬂfgﬁ HIB Trade and other payables
(TEBEENFEREL)  (excuding salaries and
bonus payables) 444,924 — — — 444,924
& & Borrowings 406,751 401,749 389,106 — 1,197,606
HEAE Lease liabilities 11,422 9,170 3,032 — 23,624
863,097 410,919 392,138 — 1,666,154
#2020%512A31A8 At December 31, 2020
B 5 R H M E N FIE Trade and other payables
(TREENFH € RIEL) (excluding salaries and
bonus payables) 432,884 — — — 432,884
(R Borrowings 863,338 416,355 802,080 — 2,081,773
HEARF Lease liabilities 6,514 2,186 31 — 8,731
1,302,736 418,541 802,111 — 2,523,388
M2021F12A318 - &% As at December 31, 2021, the Group did not have derivative

3 0T £ & B & E (2020
FE) -
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Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group considers its capital structure as the aggregate of total equity and
long-term debt less cash and cash equivalents. The Group manages its capital
structure and makes adjustments to it in order to have funds available to
support the business activities which the directors intend to pursue in addition
to maximizing the return to shareholders. The directors do not establish
guantitative return on capital criteria for management, but rather relies on the
expertise of the Group’s management to sustain future development of the
business.

In order to carry out current operations and pay for administrative costs, the
Group will spend its existing working capital and raise additional amounts as
needed. The Group reviews its capital management approach on an on-going
basis and believes that this approach, given the relative size of the Group, is
reasonable.

Fair value estimation

The table below analyzes the Group’s financial instruments carried at fair value
as of each balance sheet date, by level of the inputs to valuation techniques
used to measure fair value. Such inputs are categorized into three levels within

a fair value hierarchy as follows:

3 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities (level 1);

3 Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2); and

o Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market

data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).
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5 DREEMFT® 5  Fair value estimation (continueq)
T &5 R 2021 F %2020 12 A31H The following table presents the Group's assets that are measured at fair value
BARBEFEZALSEEE - as at December 31, 2021 and 2020:
E—BR BB E=E& a5t
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
ARSTR AR®BTR AR¥TRT AR%TxR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
7A20215F12H31H As at December 31, 2021
UAREBEFEHEEE8 A Financial assets at FVPL —
EHBEENERmEE — Current — structured deposits
mE) — &M TE R (T EE26) (Note 26) — 50,183 — 50,183
URAARBEFEAEESHT A Financial assets at FVPL —
ERERNEREE — Current — transferable certificate of
B — A T (M15E26)  deposits (Note 26) — — 10,005 10,005
UARBEFEHEEEZS A Financial assets at FVOC| —
EerERENe/REE — Non-Current — equity investments
JEME — R E (FF7E26) (Note 26) 284,819 — 44,630 329,449
AR EBEGFEHEES A Financial assets at FVPL —
ERERNEREE — Non-Current — equity investments
SEmE — R E (ff7E26) (Note 26) 1,485 — — 1,485
LARBEFEBEZEF A Financial assets at FVPL —
ENBsNEmEE — Non-Current — debt investments
JEmE — BEHRE (FfaE26) (Note 26) — — 90,039 90,039
286,304 50,183 144,674 481,161
72020%12H31H As at December 31, 2020
LWAREBEFEBEZS A Financial assets at FVPL —
EHERNEREE — Current — structured deposits
B — BT R (BT RE26) (Note 26) — 70,013 — 70,013
AAREBESFEBEZEE A Financial assets at FVOCI —
H2EKmNe/mEE — Non-Current — equity investments
EmE — RERE (FiFE26) (Note 26) 180,106 — 52,246 232,352
WAREBEFEHBEZSE A Financial assets at FVPL —
EHERNEREE — Non-Current — equity investments
FETE — RAEIRE (Mi+E26) (Note 26) 2,948 — — 2,948
UARBEFTEAEEEH A Finandial assets at FVPL —
ENEENERmEE — Non-Current — debt investments
EmE — BERRE (HE26) (Note 26) — — 52,988 52,988
183,054 70,013 105,234 358,301
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5

Fair value estimation (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based
on quoted market prices at each of the reporting dates. A market is
regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available
from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or
regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly
occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted
market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current
bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.

Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active
market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximize the use of
observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible
on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value
of an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

Financial instruments in level 3
If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable
market data, the instrument is included in level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:

o Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments;

. Discounted cash flow model and unobservable inputs mainly
including assumptions of expected future cash flows and discount
rate; and

o A combination of observable and unobservable inputs, including

risk-free rate and expected volatility, etc.
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5 AREBEEME® 5  Fair value estimation (continued)
() EE=ZEBARANEMIE (c) Financial instruments in level 3 (continued)
(#)
AEBEERBBENE=ZERT Level 3 instruments of the Group's assets and liabilities include long-term
BEBEUAABEFESEHES equity and debt investments measured at FVPL and long-term equity
SFABHER RERARES investment measured at FVOCI (Note 26).
BEURNAARBEAEAAE
B et A E fib 2 W s 8 R AR
B & (FzE26) °
TREHNEHZE20214F K% 2020512 The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments of long-
A3MBLEEFENUNAREBEETEZR term debt investments measured at FVPL for the years ended December
HE8:t \EPBER 2 RPED 31, 2021 and 2020.
BRENE="ERIALZS -
BZ12A318LFE
Year ended December 31,
20214 2020%F
2021 2020
ARET T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
F 1) At beginning of the year 52,988 21,400
NE Addition 38,912 39,149
AREBEEEY Changes in fair value — (6,179)
5 =% Exchange differences (1,861) (1,382)
FR At the end of the year 90,039 52,988
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5 AREBEEME® 5  Fair value estimation (continued)
() EE=ZEBARANEMIE (c) Financial instruments in level 3 (continued)
(#)
TREHEHZE2021F %20205F12 The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments of
A3MBLFEEUAAEBEFER certificate of deposits measured at FVPL for the years ended December
HEHF AEHER 2 ERAREN 31, 2021 and 2020.
EZERTEZY -
BZ12A310LFE
Year ended December 31,
20215 20204
2021 2020
AR%T AREEFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FH At beginning of the year — =
= Addition 10,000 —
NREEEE Changes in fair value 317 —
REMKFER 2 W Gains recognized in other gains (312)
FR At the end of the year 10,005 —
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Fair value estimation (continueq)

(c) Financial instruments in level 3 (continued)

The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments of equity
investment measured at FVOCI for the years ended December 31, 2021

HEEHH AHM2ERE 2 RiE and 2020.
BRENE="ERIEZS -
BZ12A31HLLFE
Year ended December 31,
20214 20204
2021 2020
AR®ET T AREEFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
F1) At beginning of the year 52,246 37,491
NE Addition — 54,831
B A —E A (T EEG) Transfer to Level 1 (Note (i) — (68,017)
ARBEEED Changes in fair value (6,384) 28,899
ME W Z &R Exchange differences (1,232) (958)
FR At the end of the year 44,630 52,246
B 2 Note:
(i) HE2021F12A318IEFE - (i) There were no transfers between level 1, 2 and 3 of fair value

PABEEBHRIBENE B
B FE—EREE-EBHZH
W AR o B Z20209F12 A 31
BIEFE BEBRELHRA
B LT - £ % /49,566,0003 7T
(H% M AR %68,017,0007T)
NeEMITARE-"ERERE
E—EH -

AEERETHBERRRAERE
F-ERTEMGBENEK - %E
BREARBELAEEGHREMN
HEIE Z2L5F-REMML
ERNEEASEEF=BRITA
WAREE KEREGEEIN
MEEERZHE -

hierarchy classifications during the year ended December 31, 2021.
Financial instruments with the amount of USD9,566,000 (equivalent to
RMB68,017,000) was transferred from level 3 to level 1 upon the public
listing of the corresponding investee during the year ended December 31,
2020.

The Group has a team that manages the valuation of level 3 instruments
for financial reporting purposes. The team manages the valuation
exercise of the investments on a case by case basis. At least once every
year, the team would use valuation techniques to determine the fair
value of the Group's level 3 instruments. External valuation experts are
involved when necessary.
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5 AAREBEME®

5 Fair value estimation (continueq)

(00 EE=EBHAANSRIA (c) Financial instruments in level 3 (continued)
(&)
F=BHATEAENHEZTEBER The valuation of the level 3 instruments mainly included long-term debt
FEMARNUAAREEFEREHR investments measured at FVPL in unlisted companies (Note 26), short-
B AEHEBERORBELEK term investments measured at FVPL (Note 26) and equity investments
& (HsE26) - LAAREEFER measured at FVOCI (Note 26). As these instruments are not traded
HEFPTAEHIETNERHKE in an active market, their fair values have been determined by using
(fsE26) R A AR EBEFFEAEE various applicable valuation techniques, including discounted cash flows
SE G AEMEERENRER approach etc.
& (MisE26) HRZEILANE
RERBMSEE HARBED
ERAZEEBNGERN(RER
RREREBEZ)ETE °
TERBAEEEEEE="ERD The following table summarizes the quantitative information about
hAEEMEMAERATIEHERE the significant unobservable inputs used in recurring level 3 fair value
ARBHENEE - measurements.
RAREE FABER BWAZHEE FABEMASH
Rt ®12A831H BWARIE ®128318 BN REENER
Relationship of
Fair value at Unobservable Range of inputs unobservable inputs
Description December 31, inputs December 31, to fair value
20214 20204 20214 20204
2021 2020 2021 2020
ARBTT AR%®TT
RMB’000 RMB’000
NARBEAEEEZEHTA 90,039 52,988 TR I8 47.20% 49.97% TR ERE -
EEHBERNEBHIEE AR BEEBE
Debt investments measured Expected The higher the expected
at FVPL volatility volatility, the lower
the fair value
NARBEAEEEZEHTA 10,005 = BRER & 3.36% TEMA BRI RS
EEBERN I ERTRE AR BEEBE
Transferable certificate of Discount NA The higher the discount
deposits measured at FVPL rate rate, the lower
the fair value
NARBEAEEEZEHTA 44,630 52,246 TR IR TEA TNEM TR RS -
Hib 2 EE R RERE AREEWS
Equity investments measured Expected NA NA The higher the expected
at FVOClI volatility volatility, the higher

the fair value
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5 Fair value estimation (continueq)

(c)

Financial instruments in level 3 (continued)

If the expected volatility had decreased/increased by 5% with all other
variables held constant, the fair value of debt investments measured
at FVPL would have been increased/decreased by approximately
RMB146,000 as of December 31, 2021
RMB150,000).

(2020: increased/decreased

If the expected volatility had decreased/increased by 5% with all other
variables held constant, the fair value of equity investments measured at
FVOCI would have been decreased/increased by approximately nil as of
December 31, 2021 (2020: decreased/increased nil).

If the discount rate had decreased/increased by 5% with all other
variables held constant, the fair value of transferable certificate of
deposits measured at FVPL would have been increased/decreased by
approximately RMB472,000 as of December 31, 2021 (2020: decreased/
increased nil).

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets that are not
measured at fair value, including cash and cash equivalents, trade
receivables, and other financial assets at amortized cost and the Group's
financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value, including trade
and other payables and lease liabilities approximate their fair values due
to short maturities or the interest rates are close to the market interest
rates.

151



& BF B 7 ) 2R B 53
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6

152

BA 58 & 5T b 5 & M

it RkAERBEBELRREIMEE
(BREAHEEHEBATHEEA RS
EMRREMN) MEFERT M

AEBHRKELMGBHRBR - EE
& FMELENSFH A ARZERINAR
ERER -RTEMBFEFEARRR
EREERABREEENFHRENMGE
TR FR XA -

SFENAREE

HRTAEFEERTENERE
E - EARBEERRENMHE
RWMETHE cREHEAEAT
AMBEERR RIEARTE
EcRARABANETERRRE
- AAETHEMAAEEER
BRARTER - FHERKESH

==

B

(a)

IR 13 B = B9 <
ERHBRENAABERER
HESREABEON AR EE
8 o Ubdh  REBAMFDA
FENAEENARANERA
S H(MER)ERBHRE
LTHmEREREGE AEE
£ & W R TE HA R AR A TT EE 1R 1
EEZEROBRHNEBHEAR
BRZEBRENRS - ZFH
SARBRERNE B LS BB R
ARBEREDREEBNE @R
NWRBELENETELEERY
& EMmA RN ME R H
EFEEBATE -

(b)

6

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical

experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are

believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The

resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related

actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of

causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year are addressed below.

(a)

(b)

Fair value of measurement

Fair value of financial assets, in the absence of an active market, is
estimated by using appropriate valuation techniques. Such valuations
were based on certain assumptions about credit risk, volatility and
liquidity risks associated with the instruments, which are subject to
uncertainty and might materially differ from the actual results. Further

details are disclosed in Note 5.

Share-based compensation expenses

The fair values of share options granted are measured on the respective
grant dates based on the fair value of the underlying shares. In addition,
the Group is required to estimate the expected percentage of grantees
that will remain in employment with the Group or, where applicable,
if the performance conditions for vesting will be met at the end of the
vesting period. The Group only recognizes an expense for those share
options expected to vest over the vesting period during which the
grantees become unconditionally entitled to these share-based awards.
Changes in these estimates and assumptions could have a material effect
on the determination of the fair value of the share options and the
amount of such share-based awards expected to become vested, which
may in turn significantly impact the determination of the share-based
compensation expenses.
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6 Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(continued)

(c)

(d)

R&D expenses

R&D expenditures incurred on the Group’s R&D activities, including
conducting pre-clinical studies and clinical trials, manufacturing
development efforts and activities related to regulatory filings for the
Group's drug candidates, are capitalized as intangible asset only when
the Group can demonstrate i) the technical feasibility of completing
the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, ii) the
Group's intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it,
iii) the Group’s ability to use or sell the intangible asset, iv) how the
intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits, v) the
Group's availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources
to complete and vi) the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset. Expenditures that do not meet these
capitalization principles are recognized as R&D expenses. During all years
presented, the Group’s R&D expenditures incurred did not meet these

capitalization principles for any products and were expensed as incurred.

Payments made to third parties to in-license or acquire intellectual
property rights, compounds and products, including initial upfront and
subsequent milestone payments, are capitalized, unless these payments
are for outsourced R&D work which follow the capitalization principle in
the proceeding paragraph.

Useful lives of intangible assets

The Group’'s finite life intangible assets generated from its in-license
arrangements are amortized on a straight-line basis over their useful
economic lives, which are estimated to be the period of the in-license
arrangement. If the Group's estimate of the duration of sale of product
is shorter than the arrangement period, then the shorter period is used.
Additional amortization is recognized if the estimated useful economic
lives are different from the previous estimation. Useful lives are reviewed
at the end of the year based on changes in circumstances.
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Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(continued)

(e) Current and deferred income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in different jurisdictions. Significant
judgment is required in determining the worldwide provision for income
taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group recognizes liabilities
for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional
taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in

the period in which such determination is made.

For temporary differences which give rise to deferred tax assets, the
Group assesses the likelihood that the deferred income tax assets could
be recovered. Deferred tax assets are recognized based on the Group's

estimates and assumptions that they will be recovered from taxable

income arising from continuing operations in the foreseeable future.

(f) Variable arrangement in contract with customers

When the consideration in a contract with customers includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group
will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the
customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract inception
and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant revenue
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur

when the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is

subsequently resolved.
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Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(continued)

(g) Impairment of intangible assets associated with

license arrangements

Intangible assets associated with license arrangements that have an
indefinite useful life or not available for use are tested annually for
impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that they might be impaired. The Group obtained license
arrangements through acquisition for the purpose of continuing the
research and development work and commercialization of the products,
which are classified as license within intangible assets.

An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the intangible
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an intangible asset’s fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. The impairment assessment of intangible
assets involves significant management’s estimates and judgements,
including the discount rate used in the mutli-period excess earnings
method and the revenue growth rate of each pipeline products. The
impairment test is based on the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (“CGU") to which the intangible asset is related. Key

assumptions are disclosed in Note 19.

Segment information

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as the executive
directors of the Group, who reviews the Group’s consolidated results as
a whole when making decisions about allocating resources and assessing
performance. Therefore, it is determined that the Group’s operations represent
a single operating segment.
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Segment information (continued)

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the geographical
information on the total revenues is as follows:

BZ12A31ALEE
Year ended December 31,
20214 20204
2021 2020
AR®T ARBT T
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
AR A Mainland China 2,461,986 98 1,834,161 96
Hith Others 56,488 2 84,401 4
2,518,474 1,918,562

REENEMASNRERMIAREER
HEENERBEELRNT :

The total of non-current assets other than financial instruments and deferred
tax assets, broken down by location of the assets, are shown as follows:

BZ12A831BLLEE
Year ended December 31,
202145 20204
2021 2020

AR¥T ARBT T
RMB’'000 % RMB’000 %
R A Mainland China 28,089 4 21,822 3
Hi Others 607,884 96 645,133 97

635,973 666,955

#H ZE20214F % 2020412 8318 Ik 4F
B HAEEZBRABERBARIONNE

The customers which contributed over 10% of the total revenue of the Group
for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 are listed as below:

FuT :
BZ12A310LEE
Year ended December 31,
20214 20204
2021 2020
% %
BFEA Customer A 70% 79%
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8 WA 8 Revenue
BZ12A310LFE
Year ended December 31,
20214 20204
2021 2020
AR®ETT AREBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
RE— 2 R Recognized at a point in time
— EmiEEa — Product sales 2,518,474 1,918,562
9 HMWARHEMBEX 9 Other income and other expenses
(i) HMwA (i) Other income
HZ12A31BLLEE
Year ended December 31,
20215 20204
2021 2020
AR%T T AREFTT
RMB’'000 RMB’000
83 ONE) Licensing income (a) 31,939 77,853
I 7 B(b) Government grants (b) 8,598 9,948
SR 2N Royalty income 1,764 —
WL IERHE«Q License termination compensation (c) — 51,403
H A Others 532 —
42,833 139,204
(i) HMEX (ii) Other expenses
BZ12A310LLEE
Year ended December 31,
20214 2020%F
2021 2020
AR®ETT ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
IR ER EE @A)  Amortization of intangible assets associated with licensing (a) 16,842 75,173
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Httlw A RH

(if)

ftb BA Sz )

H B @

(a)

202028 @ AEEEFE
# X &) &Novartis Pharma AG
(EIFEEDILE TH
#NBEUTEENNA
R - AR R ()E
REMEFBEMNHEEE
BB TR R O 2R
(ML) + (it B 22
BRERE —RBREH
;%%Fﬁh e - mERE
BEEEER ~§Eﬁv&iﬁ%
REHE BHEEERY
60,000,000 3 7T (8 & Eé /\
R#424,770,0007T ) i & &
& EY 8202042 A #£1%
HBREIRAFTAHE -

RARBERBERGERE

G EIDLZ AT fER — RSB
BUERYE  EHREmEE

?EE':P.%%&%%EEDD E\I
MAEBZNHERE - &
KEi%EzozoizHuElté

AR E BN RS ERE
mEIDLZ B ¢ K(b)E 2020
F2RA24B R —FH(UK
FERE) HEIXIMNTAR
SERFBEARIENEM
WAIR B ERERARIE
fih B 2 R B MR B
)Eﬁ °

9

Other income and other expenses (continued)

(ii) Other expenses (continued)

(a)

In February 2020, the Group entered into several agreements with
Novartis AG and Novartis Pharma AG (collectively “Novartis”) to
purchase all of the rights, title and interests in, to and under the
assets of (i) marketing authorization, including but not limited to
the import drug license (“IDL") of Zometa product in the PRC and
(i) trademarks, domain names, commercial information, medical
information, records and marketing authorization data, in each
case relating solely and exclusively to Zometa product in the PRC,
from Novartis. The total purchase consideration of USD60,000,000
(equivalent to RMB424,770,000) was recorded as intangible assets
and amortized over 5 years on a straightline basis from February
2020.

Prior to the Group obtains the IDL of Zometa product in the
PRC, as a transitional arrangement, it was agreed that Novartis
would continue to sell Zometa product in the PRC and pay the
profit of the sales to the Group during the period from February
24, 2020 until the earlier of (a) the date of obtaining the IDL for
Zometa product in the PRC by the Group and (b) one year from
February 24, 2020. The profit to be paid by Novartis to the Group
is recorded as licensing income in “Other income” and related

amortization expense in “Other expenses”.
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Ha AR HEAMBEE @
HB X

(if)

(a)

(#)

2021618 - NEE A
ERADLEE WK RE
TRFPBEM EMHTAIFA
A(TMAH]) » %2021 5§ T
FF - AEBEAAET R
BAMMEMDHEEHHA
FEAAREEH - B E2021
F12A3MBLEFE A&
EREREMMEERER
BIBRAl £BAARE
169,751,000 7T (2020 F :
AR ¥4,653,0007T) © 18 fE
WEFEESHEAIARKE
60,572,000 7T 5t Al 4 A X
AR](2020F : ) - AK -
AEBBRERBAARE
31,939,0007T (2020 4F : A
R #77,853,0007T) * 1A /&
WEFEESHEAIARKE
16,842,0007C (2020F = A
R #75,173,0007T) 5t AT &
fib 5 32 1 - 3B M T B A AR
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Other income and other expenses (continued)

(ii) Other expenses (continued)

(a)

(continued)

In January 2021, the Group completed the transfer of IDL
for Zometa, and became the Marketing Authorization Holder
("MAH") of Zometa in the PRC. In the second half of 2021, the
Group completed the conversion of the registered distributor
from Novartis to the Group in all the provinces in the PRC. For
the year ended December 31, 2021, the Group recognized
the sales of Zometa product as “Revenue” with an amount of
RMB169,751,000 (2020: RMB4,653,000)
amortization expense of the intangible assets of RMB60,572,000
(2020: nil).
Group recognized the licensing income with an amount of
RMB31,939,000 (2020: RMB77,853,000) with corresponding
amortization expense of the intangible assets of RMB16,842,000
(2020: RMB75,173,000) recorded in “Other expenses” during the
period that the transitional arrangement was effective at provincial

with corresponding

recorded in “Cost of revenue” Meanwhile, the

level.
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HBWARERE
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(ii)
(b)

ftb BA Sz)

BGHBNSEIRABH - B
N FE R 75 B PIT BT 75 B9 R
MGG EMEBEER -

2020548 - AEE K —
BEESIERHRAKIET
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Mo NEEERBE
4% 1 % 18 48 %8 498,500,000
ETHHER - HERER
2020 12 A £ B i ¥5 7& 7%
MR HHERETHEE
B AR #51,403,0007T 89 5%
BEWHERAEMKA -

9 Other income and other expenses (continued)

(ii) Other expenses (continued)

(b)  Government grants are all income related and there exist no

unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attaching to these

government grants.

(©)  In April 2020, a licensing partner of the Group early terminated

the Group’s distributorship of an in-licensed product, and the

Group received compensations for the termination with the total

amount of approximately USD8,500,000. The compensation was

fully settled and recognized as other income with the amount of
RMB51,403,000 upon completion of the transfer of prescribed
registrations and documents in December 2020.

=L 10 Other gains — net
BZ12A31HLLEE
Year ended December 31
2021%F 20204
2021 2020
AR®T T AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
HEME  MENMREUREFR Loss on disposal of PP&E and software
& — (164)
KARBESEAEZESHAALH Change in fair value of financial assets at
Tﬁmm%mﬂéﬁ’&fﬁﬁﬁ& FVPL — money market funds
EEmEEAS i 6
NARBEAZEEESH;AEH Change in fair value of financial assets at
BalemEE A EEE FVPL — equity investments
IR E (1.411) (414)
NARBEAEAEZESH AL Change in fair value of financial assets at
BENEREEANBEE FVPL — certificate of deposits
TFRE 317 —
NARBEAEZEEEESH;AEH Change in fair value of financial assets at
BENsREEAAEES FVPL — structured deposits
MR 3,684 2,036
NARBESEAEZESH AL Change in fair value of financial assets at
BENEREEANBEE FVPL — debt investments
BEBIRE — (6,179)
HNGE Uy 25 F 58 Net foreign exchange gains 14,948 32,194
Hth Others 1,580 986
19,118 28,465
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BZ12A310LFE

Year ended December 31,
20214 20204
2021 2020
AR®ETT AREBT T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
IRITERF B WA Interest income from bank deposits 7,958 11,478
5= ON Finance income 7,958 11,478
g RS2 Interest expenses on borrowings (39,299) (28,480)
HEHBENERE (KizE17) Interest expenses on lease liabilities (Note 17) (892) (1,112)
SN Finance costs (40,191) (29,592)
&R A FEE Finance costs, net (32,233) (18,114)

TWEHEFEIZRABMRAE SciClone Pharmaceuticals (Holdings) Limited 2021 £ & & &% ANNUAL REPORT
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12 REEETHAX

12 Expenses by nature

BZ12A31HLLFE
Year ended December 31,

20215 20204
2021 2020
FisE AR%T AREFTT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Kk EERFEEE) Changes in inventories of finished goods and
work in process (14,245) (41,307)
SEHIEMREMENE 585 Raw materials and trading merchandise consumed 442,247 405,681
EERMAX Employee benefit expenses 13 445,980 379,385
TG R ERMEBHEERX Market development and business
promotion expenses 194,216 152,997
A B 6 Amortization of intangible assets 19 93,891 85,312
HEMRHE RGRRARE Testing and clinical trial fees for R&D 72,576 28,504
ER N &R Travel and meeting expenses 57,598 41,431
EmREEREEIE Impairment losses of intangible assets 19 57,104 19,627
EH X Transportation expense 37,833 34,498
BERGE Professional service fees 33,122 24,273
RArEE Royalty fee 20,536 —
&MU Write-downs of inventories 21 16,367 112
FREEE#E Amortization of right-of-use assets 17 10,989 19,658
INZR NN VNG Utilities and office expense 8,192 10,222
isilh-a Listing expense 7,735 42,815
1% £ B 5 B Auditors’ remuneration 3,880 2,604
M - BELRENE Depreciation of PP&E 18 2,966 8,640
HAh Others 31,332 36,856
WARKA ~ HE R HRAX - Total cost of revenue, sales and
THAX - AR R marketing expenses, administrative expenses,
HibF 2% R&D expenses and other expenses 1,522,319 1,251,308
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13 Employee benefit expenses

BZ12A31HILEE
Year ended December 31,

20215 20204

2021 2020

AR®ET T AREBT T

RMB’000 RMB’'000

TE& - FeMiea Wages, salaries, bonuses 318,591 281,649

ARG BEREE N (M5E27)  Share-based payments (Note 27) 63,013 66,823

BRIRBET B (a) Contributions to pension plans (a) 26,239 2,795
FEAES BERRK Housing funds, medical insurance and

Hibrt 2 @A K(Db) other social welfare contributions (b) 38,137 28,118

445,980 379,385

(a)

RIEFBEEOLRENRE A&
EAETHEEESMBERELAR
REEIER - NEBEREBIRAH
WA(BEIE & 2HR
B4 - BB ER)BLN8%E A M
FTEIfH IR MASEBIZAERBE KA
H16%E20% (B —E LR
Amar 8l - B AINE
KERBNOER MR &L —2F
Ef -BEREEORAKTEEE
FEfHRIKE BT B RIKERT
E T - ENCOVID-19&% 15 » &
AR E RSB B20204F
2AENAHBEYHEREENED
A - HE2021F128318 IEF
B BRRRKERENAZ (2020
& AR#23,202,0007T) °

HZE2021F12A31BILEFE - &K
SEHARERTHEBHRIZ
AR ET B E BRI A
90,0007 7t (#HE M A R 175,000
70) (20205 : F) - A 72021
F12A31BAK E A # A ER
BRIRBHEIOKFEHHERGLW E
™ A8 Bl Bt 8% + 75 58 26(2)8% F7 it )
72190008 T (HE R AR
179,000 7T ) (2020 4F : 309,000
70 HBE R AR ¥260,0000T) °
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(a)

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group contributes
to state-sponsored retirement schemes for its employees in the PRC.
The Group's employees make monthly contributions to the schemes at
approximately 8% of the relevant income (comprising wages, salaries,
allowances and bonus, and subject to maximum caps), while the Group
contributes 16% to 20% of such relevant income, subject to certain
ceiling and has no further obligations for the actual payment of post-
retirement benefits beyond the contributions. The state-sponsored
retirement schemes are responsible for the entire post-retirement benefit
obligations payable to the retired employees. The local governments
in the PRC exempt the Group’s portion of contribution on the post-
retirement benefits during the period from February to December 2020
in view of COVID-19 Pandemic. During the year ended December
31, 2021, the exempted post-retirement benefits were nil (2020:
RMB23,202,000).

HKD90,000 (equivalent to RMB75,000) (2020: of forfeited
contributions by the Group on behalf of its employees who left the

nil)

schemes prior to vesting fully in such contributions were utilized during
the year ended December 31, 2021, leaving HKD219,000 (equivalent
to RMB179,000) (2020: HKD309,000, equivalent to RMB260,000)
available as at December 31, 2021 for utilization by the Group to reduce
the existing level of contributions as described in paragraph 26(2) of
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules.
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13 EER/ABE @
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(b)

AEERTENEEFESES
BRFEENEEATES  BE
R RERBRANEMEELS
RE:E - AEEEREEEH
L HM21%E24% (RE — F L
BIMZEESER - AEEHZ
SEHEMEMT USBEEMNN
HERAR - EHRCOVID-19%& 15 -
R B i 5 BT A e AN & 8 52020
F2AZEN AYEYEEERBAX
ERBAMEK - B E20215F128
3NBIEFE BEReBEREM
RERBRAT(Q020F : ARK
2,315,0007T) ©

13 Employee benefit expenses (continued)

(b)

Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled to participate in

various government-supervised housing funds, medical insurance,
unemployment insurance and other employee social insurance plan.
The Group contributes on a monthly basis to these funds based on
approximately 21% to 24% of the salaries of the employees, subject to
certain ceiling. The Group's liability in respect of these funds is limited
to the contributions payable in each period. The local governments in
the PRC exempt the Group’s portion of contribution on the medical
insurance and unemployment insurance during the period from February
to December 2020 in view of COVID-19 Pandemic. During the year
ended December 31, 2021, the exempted medical insurance and

unemployment insurance were nil (2020: RMB2,315,000).
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13 EETB/ABEX

13 Employee benefit expenses (continued)

() ESEARER (c) Benefits and interests of directors
—EFH2 — Directors’ emoluments
HZE2021F12A31HIEFE - & The remuneration of each director of the Company paid/payable by the
EHEN BN AATIEBRESE Group for the year ended December 31, 2021 are set out as follows:
WEBMIT
EEAES
BACER  BERRA
I5 - §¢ —REiR Hftr g EfbfEE
A Fig | BRHH & Eshe RERL ROMEEX At
Housing
funds,
medical
Pension insurance
costs- and other
Wages, defined social Other Share-based
salaries,  contribution welfare employee Director's Discretionary compensation
bonuses plans  contributions benefits fees bonus expenses Total
ARETR  AR¥Tn ARETn ARETn ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
BE011F12A31BLFE  For the year ended
December 31, 2021
#irEs Executive Director
BREEN Mr. ZHAO Hong (i) 7,162 57 64 124 — — 18,433 25,840
FUnES Non-executive Directors
LI Zhenfu’ (i) Mr. L Zhenfu (i) — = — — — = = =
Daniel Luzius VASELLATE (i)  Dr. Daniel Luzius VASELLA (ii) - - - - 569 - = 569
LIN Shirley Yi-HsienZ£(vi) Ms. LIN Shirley Yi-Hsien (vi) = — = = — = = =
B R Ms. LI Quan (i - - — — — = = =
BE () Mr. SHI Cen (i - - - - — - = —
TESLLW) Ms. WANG Xiaozhuo (v) = = = = = = = =
TR Ms. WANG Haixia (vii - - - - - - - -
BUFHTEE Independent Non-
executive Directors
BB EL() Dr. LIU Guoen (iv) — - - - 569 - - 569
CHEN Pingfé-t() Dr. CHEN Ping (i) = — = = 569 = = 569
GU Alex Yushao % A(iv) Mr. GU Alex Yushao (iv) - - - - 569 - - 569
Wendy HAYESZ L (v) Ms. Wendy HAYES (iv) - - - - 569 - — 569
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13 EERAEXZ @ 13 Employee benefit expenses (ontinued)
() EERANREZR#E) (c) Benefits and interests of directors (continued)
— EEM2(E) — Directors’ emoluments (continued)
B Z=2020F12A31HIEFE - & The remuneration of each director of the Company paid/payable by the
EFEON EBNEAARELES Group for the year ended December 31, 2020 are set out as follows:
BEF BT
fiEAES

RAEER  ERREN
TE #& —REMR Etde  HiE&

HTEAL BE BN &M EE2E REEL  ROEMERR CH)
Housing
funds,
medical
Pension insurance
costs- and other
Wages, defined social Other Share-based
salaries,  contribution welfare employee Director's  Discretionary ~ compensation
bonuses plans  contributions benefits fees bonus expenses Total

ARBTT ARETR ARMTR ARMTT ARETR  ARETR  ARMTT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

BZ2020512831B.LEE  For the year ended

December 31, 2020

HrES Executive Director

BRRH) Mr. ZHAO Hong () 6,621 - 52 121 - - 21,963 28,757
*urES Non-executive Directors

LI Zhenfu’% (i) Mr. L Zhenfu (i) = = — — _ _ _ _
Daniel Luzius VASELLAB £-(iii) ~ Dr. Daniel Luzius VASELLA (i) = — — — _ _ _ _
RAS (i) Mr. SHI Cen (i) — — — _ _ _ _ _
TEELL(W) Ms. WANG Xiaozhuo (v) — — - — _ _ _ _
FRTL() Ms. LI Quan (i = - - - _ _ _ _
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EETARESE)
— EEHE(E)

(@)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

M2020F6 A248 - MEXE
EZEAERRBNITES -

202046 4248 - LI Zhenfust
£ CRAEEERFRLTESR
EAARRFERTES -

% 2020 & 8 A 27 A - Daniel
Luzius VASELLATE T # Z T A A
RAIFFHITESE -

202142 H198 * GU  Alex
Yushaost 4 + CHEN Pingst & -
2B B 5 & kWendy HAYESZ
TEZEABARABLIENT
£E -

M2020F6 8248 TEREX
TRZTAARAFERITE
£ WN2021F6 16 B BT ©

}202142 850 » LIN  Shirley
Yi-Hsien X + B ZE R AR RI3E
WITES -

R2021F6A1680  THEL
THEZTAAARFRITES -
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13 Employee benefit expenses (continued)

(c) Benefits and interests of directors (continued)
— Directors’ emoluments (continued)

@

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

Mr. ZHAO Hong was appointed as the executive director of the Company
on June 24, 2020.

Mr. LI Zhenfu, Mr. SHI Cen, and Ms. LI Quan were appointed as non-
executive directors of the Company on June 24, 2020.

Dr. Daniel Luzius VASELLA was appointed as a non-executive director of the
Company on August 27, 2020.

Mr. GU Alex Yushao, Mr. CHEN Ping, Mr. LIU Guoen and Ms. Wendy
HAYES were appointed as independent non-executive directors of the
Company on February 19, 2021.

Ms. WANG Xiaozhuo was appointed as a non-executive director of the
Company on June 24, 2020 and resigned from the Company on June 16,
2021.

Ms. LIN Shirley Yi — Hsien was appointed as a non-executive director of the
Company in on February 5, 2021.

Ms. WANG Haixia was appointed as a non-executive director of the
Company on June 16, 2021.
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(o)

EEEANRERE)
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13 Employee benefit expenses (continued)

(c)

Benefits and interests of directors (continued)

— Directors’ retirement benefits and termination benefits

None of the directors received or receive any retirement benefits or
termination benefits during the years ended December 31, 2021 and
2020.

— Consideration provided to third parties for making available
directors’ services

During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company did
not pay consideration to any third parties for making available directors’

services.

— Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in
favor of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and controlled
entities with such directors

As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, there were no loans, quasi-loans
and other dealings arrangement in favor of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and controlled entities with such directors.

— Directors’ material interest in transactions, arrangements or
contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to
the Group’s business in which the Company was a party and in which
a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly subsisted at the end of the years or at any time during the
years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.
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13 EERAEXZ @ 13 Employee benefit expenses (continued)
d ZEESHFHMAL (d) Five highest paid individuals
REBEE2021F12A31HLEFE - The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group
rEBREESME ALTBE— for the year ended December 31, 2021 include one director (2020: one)
BEE(20205F - —H)(EM < whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown in analysis above.
R B D) o RE E2021 The emoluments payable to the remaining four individuals during the
FKR2020F12A31BIEFE @ & years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

MRBOBEALTHOME0T :

BZE12A318LFE
Year ended December 31,
20215 20204
2021 2020
AR%T R ARBFIT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
TE& - HoMiEs Wages, salaries, bonuses 13,961 12,570
LARRAD B ERER S 3R Share-based payments 7,982 9,512
FEAES - BERBA Housing funds, medical insurance and
Hibt g @FIHR other social welfare contributions 363 246
HibfE 8E7F Other employee benefits 151 716
22,457 23,044
5 %5 B 8 LA T #6 [B &9 &% = B B Excluding the director, the number of highest paid individuals whose
AT(TEEEE)NAHRET : remunerations for each year fell within the following band is as follows:
BZ12A310LLEE
Year ended December 31,
20215 20204
2021 2020
HetE Emolument band
AR#3,000,001TE RMB3,000,001 to RMB4,000,000
AR #4,000,0007T 1 2
ANER#4,000,001 T2 RMB4,000,001 to RMB5,000,000
AR #5,000,0007T 2 1
AR#10,000,0017TFE RMB10,000,001 to RMB11,000,000
AR#11,000,0007T 1 1
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14 FERHEAX

14 Income tax expense

AEBWAESHBEIMOT : The income tax expense of the Group are analyzed as follows:
BZE12A31BLFE
Year ended December 31,
20215 20204
2021 2020
ARET T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BNERFR1S Current income tax 84,973 73,432
RIEFTISHL Deferred income tax 17,539 (10,318)
R8BI Income tax expense 102,512 63,114
AEEBAFBORBENREAER The tax on the Group's profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount
RAEEETEEANENHETER/Y that would arise using the tax rate applicable to profit of the entities

BETmEEE BT

comprising the Group as follows:

HZ12A831BLLEE
Year ended December 31,

202145 2020%F

2021 2020

ARET ARBT T

RMB'000 RMB’000

Fris i FE Profit before income tax 1,025,873 816,809

BB ETE () Calculated at applicable tax rates (a) 84,642 58,392

FREDFEHIHE (b) PRC withholding tax (b) 5,723 3,018

NAIBLETE R NBR MBS (0) Expenses not deductible for income tax purposes (c) 17,167 7,037
AIERIEILEFT SR EERN Tax losses for which no deferred income tax assets

FIEE R was recognized 3,009 1,104

R e il AR FE SR R TE B4R Utilization of previously unrecognized tax losses (1,555) (765)

TFmEEE Over provision in prior years (6,474) (5,672)

e BB Income tax expense 102,512 63,114
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MR EERELERIE A G (M=
31)

FAIRFTEBINBRMWEAEX
AN B A H E 20214 2 20204F12
A3MALEEETANBNFAYE
EREPBEBERMEREMANEHE
FERERFABREN TR ZE
o BHEBRRUKRAS -

WAEBEEZRKABMR AT SciClone Pharmaceuticals (Holdings) Limited 2021 £ & i &5 ANNUAL REPORT

B oF B 5 R 2R BT |

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

14 Income tax expense (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Current income tax

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of its operations in
Mainland China was calculated at tax rate of 25% on the assessable
profits for the periods presented, based on the existing legislation,

interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

The Company and some of its subsidiaries are incorporated in the
Cayman Islands as exempted companies with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and accordingly, are exempted

from Cayman Islands income tax.

Entities incorporated in Hong Kong are subject to Hong Kong profits tax,
of which, the tax rate is 8.25% for assessable profits in the first HKD 2
million and 16.5% for any assessable profits in excess.

PRC withholding tax

According to the applicable PRC tax regulations, dividends distributed
by a company established in the PRC to a foreign investor with respect
to profits derived after January 1, 2008 are generally subject to a 5% or
10% withholding income tax, depending on the country incorporation of
the foreign investors. The Group has recognized deferred tax liabilities at
5% withholding tax rate for undistributed profits of its subsidiaries in the
PRC in accordance with the double taxation treaty arrangement between
the PRC and Hong Kong (Note 31).

Expenses not deductible for income tax purposes

The Group's non-deductible expenses during the years ended December
31, 2021 and 2020 mainly
entertainment expenses and uninvoiced expenses pursuant to the

represented non-deductible meals,

relevant laws and regulations promulgated by the State Tax Bureau of
the PRC.
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15 8REAR
(a) MIAEFEHRE  EREAREFTRE
@A AR B EEA A FE AL FE R LA
BT TR NET S ESETE -

(a)

15 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable
to owners of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the respective period.

BZ12A31HLLEE
Year ended December 31,

2021%F 20204

2021 2020

AR®ET T AREFTT

RMB’000 RMB’'000

KA RHER AEEFRFE Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company 923,361 753,695
BT AR ey IR e 8L Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue

(FR) (thousand shares) 651,801 547,981
ERREARZF] Basic earnings per share (expressed in RMB per share)

(ABIRARBRT) 1.42 1.38

(b) ERBBRMHZBREERAM
BEBSE I ML ERRE KA
BRETENETBEROMETHH
FFTEBE - HZE2021F %20204
NANBIEEE  SREERA
Th 48 2 AT 1M AR 1T (66 B9 B AR 4
BETETHLBRMAE (EH
BFERERE) -

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assumed conversion
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. For the years ended December
31, 2021 and 2020, diluted earnings per share was calculated by
considering the ordinary shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding
share options (using the treasury stock method).

BZ12A310LLEE
Year ended December 31,

20215 20204

2021 2020

ARETT ARBFIT

RMB’000 RMB’'000

RNRBEE A FAFE Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company 923,361 753,695
B BT E AR A g a2 Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue

(FR%) (thousand shares) 651,801 547,981

fEREN TS Diluted impact of share options 43,558 11,432

TR E R A AR Weighted average number of ordinary shares for
IEFEHE (FRR) diluted earnings per share (thousand shares) 695,359 559,413
TRREERT| Diluted earnings per share 1.33 1.35
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

16 Dividends

In February 2021, the Company declared dividends of RMB776,520,000 to
then shareholders of the Company. The Company fully paid such dividends on
March 2, 2021, the date before its listing on the Main Board of the HKEx.

Dividends during the year ended December 31, 2020 represented dividends
declared by SPI and the companies now comprising the Group to the then
owners of the companies for the year ended December 31, 2020, after
eliminating intra-group dividends. The rates for dividend and the number of
shares ranking for dividends are not presented as such information is not
considered meaningful for the purpose of this report.

BZ12A31HLLFE
Year ended December 31,

20214 20204

2021 2020

ARET T ARBFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

FYIEMEE Dividends payable at beginning of the year 52,199 —
FATRKE Declaration of dividends during the year 776,520 2,230,394
FREMRE Dividends paid during the year (827,303) (2,173,758)
ME 3 =5 Exchange differences (1,416) (4,437)
FREMEE Dividends payable at end of the year — 52,199

TWEHEFEIZRABMRAE SciClone Pharmaceuticals (Holdings) Limited 2021 £ & & &% ANNUAL REPORT
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17 ERAEEE 17 Right-of-use assets
HEWE
Leased properties
ARET T
RMB’000
7202051818 At January 1, 2020
B Cost 88,253
RETEEH Accumulated amortization (62,171)
REFE Net book amount 26,082
HZE2020F12A318 L EE Year ended December 31, 2020
FHEREFE Opening net book amount 26,082
fEHERE Exchange differences (622)
NE Additions 3,008
#iHBA Amortization charge (19,658)
FREEFE Closing net book amount 8,810
7202056128310 At December 31, 2020
D% Cost 77,982
RETEEH Accumulated amortization (69,172)
REFE Net book amount 8,810
BZ2021F12A31HILEE Year ended December 31, 2021
FHEREFE Opening net book amount 8,810
M H =R Exchange differences (263)
NE Additions 24,425
B Amortization charge (10,989)
FREREEFE Closing net book amount 21,983
720214128318 At December 31, 2021
B AR Cost 49,850
Rty Accumulated amortization (27.867)
REEE Net book amount 21,983
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17 ERAEEE® 17 Right-of-use assets (continued)
A EUIREEHBRERERTH The consolidated statements of comprehensive income and the consolidated
ERARNEENTIEE - statements of cash flows contain the following amounts relating to leases:
BZE12A318LFEE
Year ended December 31,
20214 20204
2021 2020
AR¥T T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
fF A E S Amortization of right-of-use assets 10,989 19,658
FESZH Interest expenses 892 1,112
FASHEENH Expenses relating to short-term leases 242 56
wEEFHENRER Cash outflow for leases as operating activities (1,134) (1,168)
BEERHHENRESARL Cash outflow for leases as financing activities (10,331) (19,283)
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18 Mk -BERKRHE

18 Property, plant and equipment

WARE HE
&) B YIEHEE &%
Office
furniture and Leasehold
equipment Vehicle improvements Total
AR%T T AR¥ET T AR®ET T AR®T T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
7A2020F181H At January 1, 2020
PR Cost 50,221 569 13,388 64,178
REITE Accumulated depreciation (42,623) (445) (12,089) (55,157)
BRENFE Net book amount 7,598 124 1,299 9,021
E £2020F12H31H Year ended December 31, 2020
IEEE
FYERMFE Opening net book amount 7,598 124 1,299 9,021
P& 5 =48 Exchange differences 1,540 5 (55) 1,490
NE Additions 3,747 — — 3,747
HE Disposals (164) — — (164)
TEER Depreciation charge (7,267) (129) (1,244) (8,640)
FRIREFE Closing net book amount 5,454 — — 5,454
7A2020%12831A At December 31, 2020
AR Cost 44,604 561 2,751 47,916
2 E Accumulated depreciation (39,150) (561) (2,751) (42,462)
REFE Net book amount 5,454 — — 5,454
# Z£2021%F12H31H Year ended December 31, 2021
IHEE
FYREFE Opening net book amount 5,454 — — 5,454
bE =5 Exchange differences (21) — — (21)
NE Additions 5,700 — — 5,700
HeE Disposals (272) — — (272)
HEEH Depreciation charge (2,966) — — (2,966)
FREEFE Closing net book amount 7,895 — — 7,895
7A2021%F12A31H At December 31, 2021
BN Cost 47,897 561 2,751 51,209
2EE Accumulated depreciation (40,002) (561) (2,751) (43,314)
REFE Net book amount 7,895 — — 7,895
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18 % BERRH® 18 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
MERYBFAGHEZERERATE Depreciation expenses have been charged to the consolidated statements of
Al comprehensive income as follows:
BZ12A318LFE
Year ended December 31,
20214 202045
2021 2020
ARET T AREFTT
RMB’'000 RMB’000
L oNZN Cost of revenue 1,280 5,362
HE KA Sales and marketing expenses 954 2,670
THRAX Administrative expenses 573 293
T EE R 2 R&D expenses 159 315
2,966 8,640
19 B EE 19 Intangible assets
R B4 &5t
Licenses Software Total
ARET T ARETT AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
72020F1H18 At January 1, 2020
BAR Cost 170,381 12,981 183,362
RETHEH Accumulated amortization (5,302) (8,809) (14,111)
AR E Net book amount 165,079 4,172 169,251

HZ2020F12A31BLLEE Year ended December 31, 2020

FUREFE Opening net book amount 165,079 4,172 169,251

bE H =58 Exchange differences (40,282) (81) (40,363)
wNE (BREEG)) Additions (Note (i) 627,363 1,379 628,742

BiHER Amortization charge (83,040) (2,272) (85,312)
wEEE (M) Impairment losses (Note (iii)) (19,627) — (19,627)
FREEFE Closing net book amount 649,493 3,198 652,691

7A2020%12H831H At December 31, 2020

BRAR Cost 753,239 14,360 767,599

RETHESH Accumulated amortization (84,171) (11,162) (95,333)
IEEE Impairment losses (19,575) — (19,575)
REFE Net book amount 649,493 3,198 652,691

BAEBERRAEMR DA SciClone Pharmaceuticals (Holdings) Limited 2021 £ &£ $k 5 ANNUAL REPORT 177



& O B 15 R B

At

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

19 BERXEE®

19 Intangible assets (continueq)

wiE g &5t
Licenses Software Total
AR®ET T AR®ET T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BZ2021FE12A31BLEE Year ended December 31, 2021
FYEREFE Opening net book amount 649,493 3,198 652,691
fE 5, =58 Exchange differences (13,891) (29) (13,920)
g (PEEG)) Additions (Note (ii)) 114,687 3,632 118,319
HiHE A Amortization charge (90,884) (3,007) (93,891)
FEERE (MsEdv) Impairment losses (Note (iv)) (57,104) = (57,104)
FREMFE Closing net book amount 602,301 3,794 606,095
A2021%12A31H At December 31, 2021
PR A Cost 854,569 17,992 872,561
S 4 Accumulated amortization (176,037) (14,198) (190,235)
WEER Impairment losses (76,231) — (76,231)
SR FHE Net book amount 602,301 3,794 606,095
B sE - Note:
(i) HZE2020F12A3181LFE - BREE (i) Addition of intangible assets in the year ended December 31, 2020 was primarily
HABETEZENAEBWE TERY due to the Group’s acquisition of the license of Zometa and the upfront
FFA] % [ BEADANYELZA® (PP Z B 1) & payments for new license arrangements related to DANYELZA® (naxitamab) and
OmburtamabZ5 74 89 #7 % # %2 Bk &0 78 v Omburtamab.
o
(ii) HZE2021F12A31BLEEEREER (ii) Addition of intangible assets in the year ended December 31, 2021 was due to the
& T) B R A & B B BHSPI0-PI3KE Group's acquisition of the license of HSP90-PI3K and milestone payments for in-
# LA RDANYELZA® (B P8 & B 1) R &% licensed pipeline drugs including DANYELZA® (naxitamab) and Oravig.
WA ERES|AEFEYHEZEN
=%,
(i) H20204F - #EIRE - SGX-942 K B = (i) In 2020, it was reported that SGX-942 failed to achieve its Phase Il clinical
) HIIER Eﬁﬁ%& Eh o At - K20205 endpoint. As a result, the Group provided full impairment against the related
12318 " ASBEEHEHREREE intangible asset with the amount of RMB19,627,000 (USD3 million) as at December
1 2 S8R E B B A R #19,627,000 31, 2020. The impairment losses were recognized as administrative expenses in the
T(BAEEXET) - #HE2020F12 A31 consolidated statements of comprehensive income for the year ended December
BLEFEE FEREBEREGHEZE 31, 2020.
et RATERBITHF X °
(iv)  R2021F  ARZEBERFENIF= (iv)  In 2021, Angiomax failed to be enrolled in the list of the fourth volume-based

REZE ASEFTENETHER
B MERRREETFTERRATE
M - A2021F 128310 - AEEE

MBAREBHHE

SRR

AR ¥41,000,0007T LA #5 H B EF B
ENREEMRAEETEKRSEE -

BEAh - FA2021F 12 A318 » Z B2 &%
WA BT E O — 25 5 BABTL-0812 /)
MRS AEEHEBEFEEE
i & FE R E B B A R ¥ 16,104,000 7T

(2,523,000%7t) °

HE2021F12A318LFE - BRE
B ARKS7,104000 TR & 2 E
W RAERBITRAX -
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procurement. Consequently, the Group rearranged the business plan for Angiomax,
which led to an uncertainty in future sales. As at December 31, 2021, the Group
revisited the sales forecast of Angiomax and recorded an impairment provision of
RMB41,000,000 to write down the carrying value of the related intangible asset to
its recoverable amount.

In addition, as at December 31, 2021, considering the financial difficulties
of the licensor to fund for its further development of ABTL-0812, the Group
provided full impairment against the related intangible asset with the amount of
RMB16,104,000 (USD2,523,000).

The aggregated impairment losses of RMB57,104,000 were recognized as
administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income
for the year ended December 31, 2021.
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19 BEREEEw 19 Intangible assets (continued)
BHEAYEAGHEZEBERATEE Amortization expenses have been charged to the consolidated statements of
Al comprehensive income as follows:
HZ12A31BLLEE
Year ended December 31,
20214 202045
2021 2020
ARET T AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
WK A Cost of revenue 74,042 7,867
HE R EHMAX Sales and marketing expenses 2,536 1,892
THRX Administrative expenses 181 180
EE R R&D expenses 290 200
HAibpA (FF5E9) Other expenses (Note 9) 16,842 75,173
93,891 85,312

ERER S
(a) HEAIEHHKESIAZ
HHEYEEEE

R2021%F 128318 » H KA f#H{E
AREESIAZEEENERLE
ER®EEA AR 156,205,000
7t (20204 : A K #267,674,000
L) cREEBFVEENFERE
AAESRBEEZETLEEREBY
ReEEEN([REEEEM])
Rr el & RE#ETT - BEMNHR S
EXENERERER  -KMAB
BEZBE LT GEMESERER
EOTFERENR  UWEFT2R
BEREEKRA ERASEHE
MO KESE AR BEDE
REPBEREE  BAEER
BRKMAEREEEMORER -
AEIESHSEREERAMET
HEEMBARSEREREE
R HEENERGTEAR
AR (1£2030F 20374 ) fE B 1
& e
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Impairment test

(a)

Intangible assets associated with in-license
arrangements that are not ready for use

As at December 31, 2021, the carrying amount of intangible assets
associated with in-license arrangements that were not ready for use was
RMB156,205,000 (2020: RMB267,674,000). Annual impairment test is
performed in respect of these intangible assets based on the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (“CGU") to which the intangible
asset is related. The appropriate CGU is at the product level. The annual
impairment test is performed for each pipeline product by engaging
an independent appraiser to estimate fair value less cost to sell as the
recoverable amount of each pipeline product. The fair value is based on
the multi-period excess earnings method and the Group estimated the
forecast period till the year from 2030 to 2037 for its pipeline products
based on the timing of clinical development and regulatory approval,
commercial ramp up to reach expected peak revenue potential, and the
length of exclusivity for each pipeline product.
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19

180

BEEE®
VRN : v )

(a)

BERITEHRES AL

HIEB L EEEE (#)

BEMERNMGIRATERE
I [ 1R A 0 7 AL RS R < MR A8
REDENGABYBEEER
75 AR ARSI AR SRR 0 B 08
mRAENBRBELREER
mAENMEE ABE(NE
A2 EE RTBREE) Tt

st

ﬁo

BRARBERAXITDERALRR
B E AT AEKF - I AE B
NRMRIAHARRERES - =K
ABRRHENBEDLETHE -

AR EERRB AL X
RRAEEN —REB LTS E
B HRBEARNEEEBERE (K
AARERRAE - TIHEE - 6
B RABERRBRIMAREGEES
BRTSEE) -

7 4 B3B38 8 0 — B 5 B K0 B
BREH D — A E 5 %R
EREFTRBERS  WIEE
SEEmEAETRESENEE
B MRS RS TE -

19 Intangible assets (continued)

Impairment test (continued)

(a)

Intangible assets associated with in-license
arrangements that are not ready for use (continued)

The estimated revenue of each pipeline product is based on
management'’s expectations of timing of commercialization. Revenue
growth rates are based on the key inputs, such as the estimated market
penetration rates and market sizes etc., of each intangible asset from the
expected commercialization for each of the individual intangible asset

associated with in-license arrangements that is not ready for use..

The costs and operating expenses are estimated as a percentage over
the revenue forecast period based on the current margin levels of
comparable companies with adjustments made to reflect the expected
future price changes.

The discount rates used are post-tax and represent the Group’s general
business and market risk and were derived from capital asset pricing
model by taking applicable market data into account, such as risk free
rate, market premium, beta, company specific risk and size premium.

The Group performed sensitivity test by increasing the discount rate
by one percentage point or decreasing the revenue growth rate by
one percentage point, which are the key assumptions determining the
recoverable amount of each intangible assets, with all other variables
held constant.
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19 BEREEEw 19 Intangible assets (continued)

R R ) Impairment test (continued)

(a) BEERGIEAHRESAZ (a) Intangible assets associated with in-license
HEHHEI Y T & E () arrangements that are not ready for use (continued)
AR ETE20214F 2020412 A 31 The key assumptions used for the calculations of the recoverable
BEEMERDO YR €58 &Y amounts and the impacts on the amounts by which the recoverable
AN EESRESHEERDE amounts above their respective carrying amount (headroom) for each of
(RE)NEENTEMKANEH the pipeline products as at December 31, 2021 and 2020 are as bellow:

BEROT

PT-112 PT-112
MW12831H
As at December 31,
20214 20204
2021 2020
ALIR % Discount rate 17% 17%
WA R E Revenue growth rate 2.9%-174.4% 18.2%-80.7%
A E SR (AREFIT) Recoverable amount (in RMB thousand) 93,180 59,243
REE (ARBFIT) Carrying amount (in RMB thousand) 22,315 22,837
BRER Headroom 70,865 36,406
ALIR RIE NN REEH B Impact headroom by increasing discount rate (8,067) (4,861)
A= R D S R FE R o 2 Impact headroom by decreasing revenue growth rate (3,226) (2,819)

BAEBERRAEMR DA SciClone Pharmaceuticals (Holdings) Limited 2021 £ &£ $k 5 ANNUAL REPORT 181



& BF B 7S 3, R BT 5
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

19 BERXEE®
VRN : v )
(a) BEATJREBAHERESIAZL
HHHE R EEEE (&)

19 Intangible assets (continueq)

Impairment test (continued)

Vibativ

(a) Intangible assets associated with in-license
arrangements that are not ready for use (continued)

Vibativ
M"12A31H
As at December 31,
20214 20204
2021 2020
AL IR % Discount rate 17% 17%
AR Revenue growth rate -0.3%-30.5% 0.7%-23.2%
A EeEE (ARETIT) Recoverable amount (in RMB thousand) 556,201 536,171
fREE (ARBTT) Carrying amount (in RMB thousand) 19,127 19,575
ERER Headroom 537,074 516,596
ALIR RIG N RARE ) o & Impact headroom by increasing discount rate (28,469) (28,905)
WA SR R D R RE R S 2 Impact headroom by decreasing revenue growth rate (20,800) (21,734)
PEN-866 PEN-866
M"12A318
As at December 31,
20214 20204
2021 2020
AL IR % Discount rate 17% 17%
WA R & Revenue growth rate -0.3%-210.1% 7.0%-97.6%
A EeEE (ARETT) Recoverable amount (in RMB thousand) 871,188 230,296
frEE (AREBTT) Carrying amount (in RMB thousand) 25,503 26,100
FRTR Headroom 845,685 204,196
ALIR RIS RARE ) o & Impact headroom by increasing discount rate (64,897) (18,479)
W A3 R R D> AR B & Impact headroom by decreasing revenue growth rate (11,688) (3,158)
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19 BERXEE®

AR

(a) BARIAEHHRES AL
I ETE B E ()
RRx-001

19 Intangible assets (continueq)

Impairment test (continued)
(a) Intangible assets associated with in-license
arrangements that are not ready for use (continued)

RRx-001
M"12A31H
As at December 31,
20214 20204
2021 2020
AL IR % Discount rate 17% 17%
AR Revenue growth rate 5.0%-135.7% 3.0%-132.8%
A EeEE (ARETIT) Recoverable amount (in RMB thousand) 681,952 389,403
fREE (ARBTT) Carrying amount (in RMB thousand) 44,630 45,674
ERER Headroom 637,322 343,729
Hgiﬁfi‘jjugﬁ%%ﬁﬂﬁw 2 Impact headroom by increasing discount rate (61,991) (28,318)
WA SR R D R RE R S 2 Impact headroom by decreasing revenue growth rate (40,852) (23,692)
Omburtamab Omburtamab
M"12A318
As at December 31,
20214 20204
2021 2020
AL IR % Discount rate 17% 17%
AL =& Revenue growth rate 5.0%-225.0% 3.0%-100.0%
AE£E (AREFT) Recoverable amount (in RMB thousand) 182,383 44,355
fRmEE (AREBTT) Carrying amount (in RMB thousand) 31,879 32,625
R Headroom 150,504 11,730
Eﬁiﬁ%im%ﬁ%%ﬁﬂ’j%’iﬂ Impact headroom by increasing discount rate (14,002) (5,468)
W A8 = KR D S AR RE Ry S 2 Impact headroom by decreasing revenue growth rate (8,716) (3,732)

ENLAFREFEHEBRTDER
BT ARARBR

Considering there was still sufficient headroom based on the sensitivity

il AR R F] assessments above, the Group believes that a reasonably possible

EESEREVEERKRDSEM change in any of the key assumptions, on which the Group has based
KENEMEEREEESEA its determination of the recoverable amount of each above intangible

s HTIeBRAKREER assets, would not cause their carrying amounts to exceed their
ﬁ HAllgE & %8 -

respective recoverable amounts.
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19 BEREEEw 19 Intangible assets (continued)

VERER: N ) Impairment test (continued)

(a) BEERGIEAHRESAZ (a) Intangible assets associated with in-license
HEEEFEEE &) arrangements that are not ready for use (continued)
HSP90-PI3K HSP90-PI3K

®12A318

As at December 31,

202145 20204
2021 2020
BHIR & Discount rate TEA TER
NA NA
PN Revenue growth rate RiE R TER
NA NA
AkEeE (ARETT) Recoverable amount (in RMB thousand) i
12,751 NA
REE (ARKBFIT) Carrying amount (in RMB thousand) i A
12,751 NA

184

(b)

7N 5 B 722021 F 9 A U BEHSPIO-
PI3KHY X #E 5| A © 2021412 A
31 8 + HSP9O-PI3K1 B 7 B& K Al
ME - ZEERMBER - EWHE
mMIFEBANEERITEBS - K
EBER2021F12A3MBEH &
#@ ' HSP90-PI3KE Ff & 2 & &= I
R E -

B il sE B4R - BRABTL-0812
KSGX-942 5h - FA2021 & %2020
F12 A31H ER A A A &4 5
AZHHBANEFEEYERE -

HEBFEIEWRESIAZLZ
HHENEEEE
M2021F 12318 - ERMAH
EREHOXESIALTHER
MNEFEENEEEAARK
446,097,0007C (2020 F : A R#
381,819,0007T) °

Brc BN - REE 2021512
A31ATEH R mE LR E
SIAZHEBENEREES SR
EREMAEE -

(b)

The Group acquired the in-license of HSP90-PI3K in September 2021.
As at December 31, 2021, HSP90-PI3K was still at pre-clinical stage.
With the consideration of R&D progress, operation of the pipeline
product holder, and industry trend, the Group concluded that there
was no impairment for the intangible asset related to HSP90-PI3K as at
December 31, 2021.

Based on the results of above assessments, except for ABTL-0812 and
SGX-942, there was no impairment for the intangible assets associated
with in-license arrangements that were not ready for use as at
December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Intangible assets associated with in-license
arrangements that are commercialized

As at December 31, 2021, the carrying amount of intangible assets
associated with in-license arrangements that had commenced sales and
amortization was RMB446,097,000 (2020: RMB381,819,000).

Except for Angiomax, the Group did not identify any indicator that
the intangible assets associated with in-license arrangements that are
commercialized would be impaired as at December 31, 2021.
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20 HhEE 20 Other assets
®W12A318
As at December 31,
20214 20204
2021 2020
AR®TT ANR¥ETFIT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
REHEK AT ENERTA - Financial instruments at amortized costs:
— HEZRS — Rental deposits 5,156 5,151
21 FE 21 Inventories
M12A31H
As at December 31,
20215 20204
2021 2020
AR®ETT AR¥ETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
R R Raw materials 36,310 47,481
BN SR Finished goods 138,001 124,025
T8 Work in progress 349 79
174,660 171,585

ERFEROERBEA SR FENSEE
RIFEMR - Wt AEHEERERORA
RA]—18 - HE20215F 12831 B I FEHTF
B #M0m A AR #16,367,0007T (20204F : AR
#112,0007T) °

Write-downs of inventories were recognized for the amount by which the
carrying amount of the inventories exceeds its net realizable value and was
recorded in “cost of revenue” in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income. Write-downs of inventories were RMB16,367,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2021 (2020: RMB112,000).

j=v:] = .
22 ESEWRRE 22 Trade receivables
M12A31H
As at December 31,
202145 20204
2021 2020
ARET T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
B 5 W ERIE Trade receivables 546,512 324,791
B B S EYGRIERERE Less: allowance for impairment of trade receivables — —
BB REWRTE — F58 Trade receivables — net 546,512 324,791
M2021F K2020F 1283108 » A& B E 5 fE As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, fair values of the trade receivables of the
WHREHARBEELKREERS ° Group approximated their carrying amounts.
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22 BESEWRFERIE 22 Trade receivables (continued)

() ERNBZAHNEFRWREZ (@) Aging analysis of trade receivables based on the invoice date is as
REATWT : follows:
M"12A31H
As at December 31,
20215 20204
2021 2020
AR%T T AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
6fE AR Up to 6 months 546,512 307,824
621218 A 6 to 12 months — 914
—FEF More than one year = 16,053
546,512 324,791
REENE H W HIE — R The Group's trade receivables are generally collectible within 90 days
EHHEHNIORAYKE - &Z 5 E from the invoice date. No interest is charged on the trade receivables.
YR IE SR S o
(b) ZZ UGB 5 EHEE (b) Trade receivables were denominated in following currencies:
M12A31H
As at December 31,
20214 202045
2021 2020
AR¥T T AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR RMB 545,665 323,766
E usD 260 422
BT HKD 587 603
546,512 324,791
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(c)

7 & B e RSB R B 15 s 5 2R AL
FIRML AT B E 5 UK
BENBEHEERR  EREED
FEBERABVLERET N
BR -HHERXDENEEE
FPHNRERARBENELE
EFEE -BELBEBEXEEARN
RREBTZEETF &E R WA
BE N M R BB A R & E AT A AT
BUHEER -

20214 %2020F 12 A31H ' #
B 5% 55 FE W SR TR 0 MR M R GE 8%
ZHE SRR SBECHEBEEDS
B BWEBFERDFAEATRAR
R BRI R R EA R - BB
EEBBHG/) - NREBEFER
20214 K2020F 12 A31 B TEH
=B BB R 5 RCOVID-19K) &7
ZLWAERERIEERZE - AR
TEF20214 & 2020512 A318H
FEHEEBEBDBE/ -

23 HttRB&EE
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22 Trade receivables (continueq)

(c)

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring
expected credit losses of trade receivables, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognized from initial recognition. The expected
loss rates are based on the payment profiles of related customers
and the corresponding historical credit losses. The historical loss rates
are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle
the receivables.

As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, the expected credit loss was
minimal as these receivables had no history of default, most amount
of trade receivables were subsequently settled, and there was no
unfavorable current condition and forecast future economic condition
identified. The Group considered the impact of COVID-19 and
incorporated related forward-looking factors to measure expected credit
losses as at December 31, 2021 and 2020 and determined that the
expected credit loss remained to be minimal as at December 31, 2021
and 2020.

23 Other current assets

M"12A31H
As at December 31,
2021% 20205
2021 2020
AR®ET T AREBTTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
HEHEA A ENeRTIA Financial instruments at amortized costs:
— TE TR — Time deposits 72,759 —
— IR R B EIRIE — Purchase rebate receivables 6,940 19,865
— HERe — Rental deposits 624 992
— JEUFI B — Interest receivables 527 2,901
— B A EYRIE — Receivables from licensing income — 25,508
Efth Others:
— ENBRAABRE — Prepaid clinical trial fee 4,971 2,793
— FBHRER — Prepaid insurance 2,454 153
— M{E BB — Advance to employee 259 315
— B EAX — Prepaid listing expenses — 7,112
— Hfth — Others 1,678 777
90,212 60,416
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23 HWRBEE») 23 Other current assets (continusd)

M2021F12A318  EbmEHEED As at December 31, 2021, the carrying amounts of other current assets were
BREEE Z BT (20206 : ARH) primarily denominated in HKD (2020: RMB) and approximated their fair values
AE BEERSHREAHNAREER at each of the reporting dates. Other financial assets that are measured at
HBE - REBEKNATENEMSREE amortized costs included time deposits, receivables from licensing income,
BRETHER  HiEKRAEIKRKIE & purchase rebate receivables from the suppliers, rental deposits and interest
It rEm iR  HERS REKF receivables were considered to be of low credit risk, and thus the impairment
B HERREERBRERE Bt & provision recognized during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was
20214 K% 20205412 A31H It F E limited to 12 months expected losses. The expected credit losses were minimal
REBEREERN12E A FEHERE - as these receivables had no history of default, certain amount of receivables
M20214 % 2020128318 © AR Z were subsequently settled, and there was no unfavorable current conditions
ERWRIBN B\ R - BT EEK and forecast future economic conditions identified as at December 31, 2021
BeHEEEDES  BUEEFERTNG and 2020.

B AT & TR R AR AR - IR
FEBEEE ) -

24 BHERBEEEBYURS 24 Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash
PR %l 3R &

®12A318
As at December 31,
20214 20204
2021 2020
AR¥T AREET T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
BeERERFERS Cash in bank and in hand 2,127,488 1,282,109
B ZBR RS (a) Less: restricted cash (a) — (163,123)
Be kReEEY Cash and cash equivalents 2,127,488 1,118,986
ATy E®ETE - Denominated in:
M12A31H
As at December 31,
20215 20204
2021 2020
AR®T T AREET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
BT HKD 1,090,319 3,316
EV usD 695,999 856,651
N RMB 341,131 258,956
BT EUR 39 63
2,127,488 1,118,986
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PR %l 38 & (&)
(a) ZRHIRE

R2020F12 8318 » LB HIIRE
ARASBEREELEEMRHE
8 77 ¥ {R #9 ¥% £ 25,000,000 3% JT
(HHE R AR%163,123,0007T)
ZERBER2021F12 A31H IEF
ERWEETEERER -

25 ZEREINEMTR
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24 Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash
(continued)

(a) Restricted cash
As at December 31, 2020, the restricted cash was a deposit of
USD25,000,000 (equivalent to RMB163,123,000) for the bank guarantee
provided for the Group’s acquisition of intangible assets, which was
released upon the acquisition of the intangible assets during the year
ended December 31, 2021.

25 Financial instruments by category

M12A31H
As at December 31,
20214 20204
2021 2020
AR®ET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
REHEEEBRESINEE Assets as per consolidated balance sheet
REEK AT ENERMEE Financial assets at amortized costs:
— B S RWGIA — Trade receivables 546,512 324,791
— RekBEEED — Cash and cash equivalents 2,127,488 1,118,986
— HEtneEE (TRIEEMRE) — Other current assets (excluding prepayments) 80,850 49,266
— XREIRE — Restricted cash — 163,123
— HEEE (TEREBEMRER — Other assets (excluding prepayments and
FEUSER 7 tax receivables) 5,156 5,151
NAREBEFEBEEESHTA Financial assets at FVOCI:
Hith2HMRENSEE
— LARBEAZEEHEEHFA — Long-term investments measured at FVOC|
Hth2mEkamRAKE 329,449 232,352
NAREBEGZBEZSEHTA Financial assets at FVPL:
EHBERNeREE :
— UARBEAZEEEEZHA — Short-term investments measured at FVPL
EHBEENEERE 60,188 70,013
— AR EEFEBEEZEFA — Long-term investments measured at FVPL
EHERNRAKE 91,524 55,936
3,241,167 2,019,618
REMEEEBERESNER Liabilities as per consolidated balance sheet
LKA ENERIAE - Financial liabilities at amortized costs:
— B REMENKE (T8 — Trade and other payables (excluding salaries and
FERT & RIEAT) bonus payables) 444,924 432,884
— AHHEAE — Lease liabilities — current 11,391 6,402
— JERNHAHE B E — Lease liabilities — non-current 11,175 2,070
467,490 441,356
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26 TREERRKRE

26 Financial assets and investments

(@) UAREBEEFEEHES (a) Financial assets at FVPL
SFAEHERNEMEE
KAnBEFEAHZHFAE The financial assets at FVPL comprise the following investments:
HEZHNSREERRENTE
A -
®12A318
As at December 31,
20214 20204
2021 2020
ARET T ARBTT
RMB'000 RMB'000
kREBEE Non-current assets
— RERE — W) — Equity investments — Listed (i) 1,485 2,948
— BEBRA) — Debt investments (ii) 90,039 52,988
91,524 55,936
REBEE Current assets
AR EBEEAHEEEHFA Short-term investments measured at
2 ERB R A T BRI A (iil) FVPL (jii)
— ERBMTER — Structured deposits 50,183 70,013
— AR RE — Transferable certificate of deposits 10,005 —
60,188 70,013

(b) UAnEESEAHEZEH
st A E 2 [ W B & R
aE
WAAEEGEEEEHFAL
fEERENSREEREAT

(b) Financial assets at FVOCI

The financial assets at FVOCI comprise the following investments:

K& :
M®12A31H
As at December 31,
20214 20204
2021 2020
ARET ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ERBEE Non-current assets
— RIERE — Em) — Equity investments — Listed (i) 284,819 180,106
— B&HEIRE — FE b (B#3E5)  — Equity investments — Unlisted (Note 5) 44,630 52,246
329,449 232,352
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26 SWMEERRE

(b) K&
&t A
BE
()

(ii)

REEFEAEHS
H % [ U A & Al
(%)
RERE — Ll
EWEHFORR BEREE
BB KEEETE - 2R
BT EEALAL BE
SIBR - MAIMBRBRA -

EFRE
R2021F 12 A31H - &
SEEENEFGRARS
ETENEBEBRRERZE
WERERETENERELE
BIBARBERARE
90,039,000 7T (20204 : A
R #52,988,0007T )

ZERERE  QEREE
AR I B B =
NEBHEERWEIREH B
IREBHTEE B E & 58 & B A
SEMBFEHRMNAER
B 55 B’ (b)MT & — 18 7] DA
EEERBERKEFEL
BERBEEDREKE
R(QTE B £ WA E J7 SR
5 B B 4R 2 B T A Y
EEFHEEBRNEKRE
Koo fEREEER iR AR
HFENZERENRESRE
EEEAINAERFE
B S EEREETIUE
BEE Al ZFREE
AEBTAAR  FEAN
DABEFEBEEHFA
EHBEZNESMEETE -
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26 Financial assets and investments (continueq)

(b) Financial assets at FVOCI (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Equity investments — Listed

The fair values of listed securities are determined based on the
closing prices quoted in active markets. They are accounted for
using their fair values based on quoted market prices without any
deduction for transaction costs.

Debt investments

The Group made debt investments with embedded derivatives
in certain investees which principally engaged in pharmaceutical
business, the aggregated fair values of which were amounted
to RMB90,039,000 (2020: RMB52,988,000) as at December 31,
2021.

These investments include: (a) redeemable preferred shares that
the Group has the right to require and demand the investees
to redeem all of the shares held by the Group at guaranteed
predetermined fixed amount upon redemption events which are
out of control of the investee; (b) loan receivables embedded
with a warrant to acquire preferred shares of the investee at an
assigned price; and (c) loan receivables that can be converted into
preferred shares of the investee upon conversion events which
are out of control of the investee. These investments, together
with the above embedded features are considered in their entirety
when determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest. Accordingly, they are accounted for as debt
instruments and are measured at financial assets at FVPL.
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26 TREERRE®

26 Financial assets and investments (continueq)

(b) A2 AEEFE H HE g (b) Financial assets at FVOCI (continued)
AAHEMEZEHBENER
BE#)
(i) A RXAABEFTEHAE (iii) Short-term investments measured at FVPL
BEEAER B R
HHIRE
DWARBESSBHEEEHE The short-term investments measured at FVPL are structured
AEHIBXNEHIEEE deposits, transferable certificate of deposits and money market
UARMRETHEN LG funds, denominated in RMB and USD, with expected rates of
UGS  EBEEZER return ranging from 1.15% to 3.32%, 3.36% and 2.07% per
EEmERES  HE2021 annum for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020,
£ %2020 12 831 H 14 respectively. The returns on all of these investments are not
B HIEHEOBRD BN guaranteed, hence their contractual cash flows do not qualify
M 1.15%% 3.32% % 3.36% for solely payments of principal and interest. Therefore, they are
F207% 2R c FTAEZS® measured at FVPL. None of these investments were past due.
EMEREERE  WEA
HNBRERETTEERIM
R RASERE - Bk
ARBEFEEHZEHHA
EHER  REREHRA
Hy o
ANABEIIENRRES R The fair values are based on cash flow discounted using the
s HAEREEEHER expected return based on management judgment and the fair
FEHAM MR E - mEEN value of structured deposits, transferable certificate of deposits
FH DEEERBEREK and money market funds are within level 2, level 3 and level 3 of
TEESH AL BESRIE the fair value hierarchy, respectively.
RE_ER B=ZBEEE
ZRBRAABERFKTE -
(iv) BERNER %5 (iv) Amounts recognized in profit or loss
BZE12A31BLEE
For the year ended December 31,
20215 20204
2021 2020
ARBT T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BiEREN AR BES Fair value changes on equity investments (1,411) (414)
BEEEREN QR EEE Fair value changes on debt investments — (6,179)
AR EEGSEEEZESTA Fair value changes on short-term investments
EHERNREBRERN measured at FVPL
RREEEE
— EEMIEES — Money market funds — 6
— EREMER — Structured deposits 3,684 2,036
— AEETRE — Transferable certificate of deposits 317 —
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26 SREERBE

(b) UAREBEFTEAEEED
s AE b 2K S8 £ #l

26 Financial assets and investments (continueq)

(b) Financial assets at FVOCI (continued)

EE@®)
(v) REM=ZE Kz FE (v) Amounts recognized in OCI
R £

BZ12A31BLEE
For the year ended December 31,

202145 20204
2021 2020
AR¥T T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
RARBEAEEEEHTA Fair value changes on equity investments
Hih 2 EW R RERER measured at FVOC|
RABEEED 103,671 153,247

27 URAREFRNNTRK 27 Share-based payments

720184 6 A  SBEX 4 & 8 X B &+ &
(20185t &l]) r M AKEES
MESELRBZHRE -2018F 5
Bl TR £4.22F EMSBEE @A (15
Ho3 418 8RTMKRAT.78%) AR %
1T - 2018 F+TEITE THEREHENEL
HRAREBHRAYNE - BERT
AEBEEENERZHEOREMNSF
W THTZRARERE G BERE

2018412 8 ~ 20194 4 A - 2020 4F
4 A 202057 A8 » SBED Bl | & & &
& 8 #% i 3,878,500 {3 - 339,000 17 -
936,12117 % 650,00017 85 I& = HR 4% - AT
5 8 % 32 HAE @9 9% 1 15 B A AR R
REAEER D R ERBENE Z A (8
BEABERE 25 AIHE - il a8
ERERBIE  AEXSERBHANER
FEAA - AEERSREMRENT
HEBE RGO M - W HE
FRERBEBNAE -

In June 2018, SBE adopted an employee incentive plan (the “2018 Plan”),
which permits the grant of stock options to the employees and directors of the
Group. Under the 2018 Plan, a total of 4.22 million, representing 7.78% of
53.41 million common stocks of SBE were initially reserved for issuance. The
stock options of under the 2018 Plan have a contractual term of eight years
from the grant date. Stock based compensation expenses related to the stock
options granted to the Group’s employees were pushed down and recorded in
the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

In December 2018, April 2019, April 2020 and July 2020, SBE granted
3,878,500, 339,000, 936,121 and 650,000 stock options to the Group’s
employees, respectively. All of the stock options were granted with
performance conditions of which vesting is contingent upon meeting company-
wide performance goals and respective individual's personal performance
goals, compensation cost is recognized over the requisite service period if it is
probable that the performance target will be achieved. The Group reassesses
the probability of achieving the performance conditions at the end of each
reporting period and records cumulative catch-up adjustments for any changes

to its assessment.
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194

UG RER NN

SBERR2019F 11 AMERRIRERE -
BIERR BIREALH] - R2018F 12 A K
20194 A 1B HR2018F #H I R K A BB IR
ERTEERSE LB S FHELS24E
T o WARITEBARERILERN
X -

202066 A + A RA RITEE A M R K
W 5 — TE B AR RE B ET 21 (120206 &5t
2 ABR2018F 518 - HIEFH K IE
- EASBEAY20184F 5T ZI4H A - 1 & AXSBE
BRI D ARRAFIOKREKG - &
#H1& - AN A H IR L I BEASBEIR 35 —
B WARZETHEREERDMSH
35 o

M2021F 18228 AARIFEMNE XA
FEERBRESS  BUtTREES
BARTEATZN6778EBERE
HiRE - s AHBERBRETE TR
FHEMNGHNBHRER TEHRERHT
E o

M20216F2 A58 - AARESSHER
HE2020F12A31BEWMAHREBAF
FHERERRSRRKREAI12008E
ELWETE - ARRBMN2021F3A2
A&k B - BERBIRENLL
il » 20184128 + 20194F4 A + 2020
F4 8 K2020F7 A 2018 F 51 & T %
THRERE Z/TEEN0S24ETTEE
FAEF0308E T c WARTHEERAE
HREEROMEHEL

27 Share-based payments (continued)

SBE distributed dividends to its shareholders in November 2019, exercise prices
for the share options granted under the 2018 Plan in December 2018 and
April 2019 were automatically adjusted from USD8 to USD5.24 based on the
proportion of dividend distribution. No incremental share-based compensation

expense was recognized as a result of the exercise price adjustment.

In June 2020, together with the Reorganization, the Company adopted another
option incentive plan (the “2020 Plan”) to replace the 2018 Plan, and its terms
and conditions remain the same as the 2018 Plan of SBE except that each share
of SBE proportionally splits into 10 shares of the Company. The Company’s
proportion of equity remained the same as SBE after the Reorganization. No
incremental share-based compensation expense was recognized as a result of

this modification.

On January 22, 2021, the Company adopted the Post-IPO Option Plan, under
which stock options with a total of no more than 67.78 million shares can
be granted to the selected participants. The stock options under the Post-IPO
Option Plan have a contractual term of ten years from the grant date.

On February 5, 2021, the Company’'s board of directors approved and
declared a dividend of approximately USD120.0 million from its consolidated
retained earnings as of December 31, 2020 to its existing shareholders and
the dividends were paid on March 2, 2021. Exercise prices for the share
options granted under the 2018 Plan in December 2018, April 2019, April
2020 and July 2020 are automatically adjusted from USD0.524 to USD0.308
based on the proportion of this dividend distribution. No incremental share
based compensation expense was recognized as a result of the exercise price
adjustment.
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27 URGAEBRNSR ) 27 Share-based payments (continued)

R2021F » ARABRBEH X AREER In 2021, the Company granted 3,824,900 stock options to the Group's
FERR ST Bl MA@ 8 T 13,824,900 employees under the Post-IPO Option Plan. All of the stock options were
ERZHE - FTEREZHENTTHN granted with performance conditions of which vesting is contingent upon
RGN  REAEINARIEEBER meeting company-wide performance goals and respective individual's personal
B RERAE AGREIZ%E S0 performance goals, compensation cost is recognized over the requisite service
B meangEINENEE  EKE period if it is probable that the performance target will be achieved.

PR 75 5B 13 i 38 3 B AKX

TRBMB E2021F12A31BIEFE The following table summarizes activities of stock options granted to the
REBXAFEERERETEZFETA Group's employees under the Post-IPO Option Plan for the year ended
SEEENBREHEL December 31, 2021:

BZ2021F12A318 LFE
Year ended December 31, 2021
BHBREN
FHITEE
(&) BREHE
Average
exercise price
per option (HKD) Number of options

REA) As at beginning of the year — —
FRER Granted during the year 10.16 3,824,900
FAERK Forfeited during the year 10.16 (79,800)
RER As at year end 10.16 3,745,100
RERFBRAIITE Vested and exercisable at year end — —
HE2021F12A31B L FE - BRIE For the year ended December 31, 2021, total expenses arising from share-
AEERANAZTIPMNERLAHEER based payment transactions under the Post-IPO Option Plan recognized as part
BRETETURMDAEROARZ of employee benefit expense were amounted to RMB3,644,000 (2020: nil).
S8 8 AR %3,644,0007T (2020
F:F)e
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27 URBRHBAEBNSR® 27

TERBMEBEZ2021F12 8318 IEFE
BIE2020F 51 &% F A& E {2 8 K B %

Share-based payments (continued)

The following table summarizes activities of stock options granted to the
Group’s employees under the 2020 Plan for the year ended December 31,

ST 2021:
BZ2021F12A318LFE
Year ended December 31, 2021

BHBREN

FHTEE
(%) BREHE

Average exercise
price per option Number of
(UsSD) options
REA] As at beginning of year 0.524 54,778,710
RER As at year end 0.308 54,778,710
RERFEBRAIITE Vested and exercisable at year end 0.308 40,835,105

TR A E£2020F12 831 B IEE &
1B #20184F 51 2| (520204 6 A #2020
FHERR)BETFTAEEEENERE

The following table summarizes activities of stock options granted to the
Group’s employees under the 2018 Plan, which was replaced by the 2020 Plan
in June 2020, for the year ended December 31, 2020:

HEEE
HZE2020F12A31HILEE
Year ended December 31, 2020

BHBREN

FITEE
(%) BREHE

Average exercise
price per option Number of
(USD) options
REH As at beginning of year 5.24 4,162,800
1202046 A ATH Granted before June 2020 5.24 936,121
202046 ARNR I Forfeited before June 2020 5.24 (271,050)
7202046 A KR #r 5 Share splits in June 2020 0.524 43,450,839
7202046 A& HH Granted after June 2020 0.524 6,500,000
RER As at year end 0.524 54,778,710
RERFBRA{TE Vested and exercisable at year end 0.524 21,363,500

HE2021F12A31B It FE - BRE
AREERAFEZ D H2020F 518 T
LRDAEERONRZZNARI A
A R #59,349,0007T (20204F : AR ¥
66,823,0007T) °

196

For the year ended December 31, 2021, total expenses arising from share-
based payment transactions under the 2020 Plan recognized as part of
employee benefit expense were amounted to RMB59,349,000 (2020:
RMB66,823,000).
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27 URGAEBRNSR ) 27 Share-based payments (continued)

MBI ZE20214F &2020F 12 A31H IEF Share options outstanding as at the end of the years ended December 31,
REARITEAERENIERAR RI1TEE 2021 and 2020 have the following expiry date and exercise prices:
LU
BB AR
KB A 1IfEE 20214128318
Share options
Grant Date Expiry date Exercise price December 31, 2021
2018412 A15H 2026512 A15H 0.308% 7T
December 15, 2018 December 15, 2026 USDO0.308 35,976,500
201954 A1H 202744A1H 0.308%E7T
April 1, 2019 April 1, 2027 USDO0.308 2,941,000
20204A1H 20284718 0.308% 7T
April 1, 2020 April 1, 2028 USDO0.308 9,361,210
2020F7A18 2028%7H1H 0.308% 7T
July 1, 2020 July 1, 2028 USDO0.308 6,500,000
720214 203148 A31H K&2031411H30H 9.2977T-10.18% 7T
During the year of 2021 August 31, 2031 and November 30, 2031 HKD9.29-HKD10.18 3,745,100
HEr
Total 58,523,810
PASE R M AR TR RE AR A B DN S 1A RIBR & KO HAMR 5.65%F
Weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding at end of year 5.65 years
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27 URGAEBRNSR ) 27 Share-based payments (continued)

RE 20214 % 2020612 A318 IF4F
RERTENBREND BB RITEE

Share options outstanding as at the end of the years ended December 31,
2021 and 2020 have the following expiry date and exercise prices: (continued)

mr (&)
fBRE
i B ZHHE 1IfE(E 2020 12A318
Share options
Grant Date Expiry date Exercise price December 31, 2020
2018412 H15H 2026512 H15H 0.5243%7T 35,976,500
December 15, 2018 December 15, 2026 UsD0.524
201954 A1H 20274 F18 0.5243%7T 2,941,000
April 1, 2019 April 1, 2027 UsSD0.524
2020%4A1H 202854 H1H 0.524%7T 9,361,210
April 1, 2020 April 1, 2028 UsDO0.524
20207A1H 20285 7H1H 0.524% 7T 6,500,000
July 1, 2020 July 1, 2028 uUsD0.524
#ET 54,778,710
Total
PASE R i AR A TR RE AR R B DA S 1A I BR A KO EARR 6.384F
Weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding at end of year 6.38 years

L BREND AEE

REE R DB EERBRE BRI W
SHBBENR A EE - A TRA
SRR (KA R (A = A B

BA R ER G B H A

Fair value of options granted
The fair value of each option granted under the Post-IPO Option Plan were
estimated on the date of each grant using the binomial option pricing model

with the assumptions (or ranges thereof) in the following table:

BZE12A31HLLEE
For the year ended December 31,
2021 20205
2021 2020
7fEE (B) Exercise price (HKD) 9.29-10.18 TER NA
FERRREHARR Option life 105
10 years TEA N/A
TREARR D B TEEAER K B Expected price volatility of the underlying shares 47.37%-49.63% R N/A
ER R = Risk-free interest rate 1.49%-1.57% TEA N/A
PR B B0 BRESN Fair value per option at grant date (HKD) 3.79-4.66 TEA N/A

[AEE (Br)
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27 LR BERNS R

FIREBRENQAAEEE)

E2020F R2018FFEI TR THEE
HENRAAEE  NEATERMIIER
(KEBE)FEFA-_BANPEECEELR

27 Share-based payments (continued)

Fair value of options granted (continued)

The fair value of each option granted under the 2020 and 2018 Plan were
estimated on the date of each grant using the binomial option pricing model
with the assumptions (or ranges thereof) in the following table:

FEE T A G

BE12A31BLLEE
For the year ended December 31,
2021 20204
2021 2020
1TERE (ET) Exercise price (USD) TEA N/A 5.24
B AR i AARR Option life TEHA N/A 8%
8 years
FRRA AR (D Y TR BRE S K &) Expected price volatility of the underlying shares TEF N/A  48.50%-48.66%
4 3 [ | R Risk-free interest rate TEA N/A 0.69%
R B ERES5EREN Fair value per option at grant date (USD) FiEA N/A 8.77-11.17

~REE (ET)

HUBRGRAERNNRRS E
ERB X

R F MR AR BB FIBSTH 5 MU
B BERMNRZSr@EAZMT :

Expenses arising from share-based payment transactions

Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognized
during the year as part of employee benefit expense were as follows:

BZE12A318LLFE
For the year ended December 31,
20214 20204
2021 2020
AR®T T ARBFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000

SRR Recognized in:

N Cost of revenue 834 658
SHE K& SHR AR Sales and marketing expenses 20,522 16,696
THAX Administrative expenses 35,902 41,390
AR R&D expenses 5,755 8,079
RO 8% Total share-based compensation expenses 63,013 66,823
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28 EZRHMENKE 28 Trade and other payables
M12A318
As at December 31,
20215 20204
2021 2020
AR%T T ARBFIT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
E 5 ENRRIA) Trade payables (a) 126,920 57,546
EEREEMNTIE (M) Payables for purchase of a license (Note 9(a)) 95,636 163,123
EfEE RIEA Salaries and bonus payable 92,878 81,214
B &R HER Y Payables for marketing and promotion expenses 87,948 78,340
R R MR R AR E Payables for testing and clinical trial fees for R&D 48,369 15,871
ENEERGE Payables for professional service fee 29,706 15,216
B EmAEX Payables for listing expenses — 26,790
FERARE Dividends payable — 52,199
Hith Others 56,345 23,799
537,802 514,098
() REEEEBRBPEREERH (@) Aging analysis of the trade payables based on invoice date at the
HWE S EMNRIBEORE SN respective balances sheet dates are as follows:
T
M12831H
As at December 31,
2021 2020%F
2021 2020
AR®ETF T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
PR—&F Less than 1 year 126,920 57,546
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®12A318
As at December 31,
20214 20204
2021 2020
AR®T T AREBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AT HAR B B A AR AR & 3K Minimum lease payments due
— —FR — Within 1 year 11,422 6,514
— —EWF — Between 1 and 2 years 9,170 2,186
— MERF — Between 2 and 5 years 3,032 31
23,624 8,731
B RKREEE R Less: future finance charges (1,058) (259)
HEBEHE Present value of lease liabilities 22,566 8,472
—FR Within 1 year 11,391 6,402
—EME Between 1 and 2 years 8,536 2,042
MERF Between 2 and 5 years 2,639 28
22,566 8,472
[+ = 0
30 B 30 Borrowings
M12A31H
As at December 31,
20215 20204
2021 2020
AR®TF AREET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
EREBEE Non-current liabilities
—FEEENRIER Long-term borrowings due after one year 762,160 1,171,489
REBEE Current liabilities
—FRE N RBAER Long-term borrowings due within one year 382,542 782,988
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30

202

H £H L
1EI FA (&)

202068 - RARIKZEWE A A
SPLEFRBERARTRNHDBERRARE S
DITERADNEE —HEBER30H
BETHRITHRE(RE]) SPIL(K
HMBRAR(WER)) MBRIBDEE
RE BRI W E RIEARZRE MK

o
oA °

2020668 - —£ &R A300HEXE
JT(HHE R ARE2,123,850,0007T) A
FHEHFEER((BER]) BZERE
FIRE c 20%M A& B HEREBRIAT
RERER  (WARBMAIERE X
ARABE((BERAAHAEE)HBRE
2020F 11 4RI ER B X AREE -
BHIEAAR20206F 11 B4BEH (i)
WARRDRRE XN AFEERFHER
KRFE20204E11 A48 A 5K & R A B3
€ BHEREATEQARQRMNE XA
BEBN—EA  kb)2021F3A31H
(AN EEB%E) ZAIEL -

ARNABR2021E3 A3 EF BB Z AT
FTRERBXAMBEE - RIFERE
% ' SPILE % BIR2021F3 A31H &
201 F 11 A4 B EEHe0EEE TR
F_HeoEBE=XETT °

30 Borrowings (continued)

In June 2020, SPIL, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, obtained
a bank facility (the “Facility”) with a total amount of USD300 million from
China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch (the “Lender”)
with substantially all of SPIL's (and its subsidiaries’, as applicable) assets and

common stocks pledged as security for the Facility.

In June 2020, a five-year loan of USD300 million (equivalent to
RMB2,123,850,000) (the “Loan") with floating rate was drawn down from the
Facility. The first installment of 20% principal amount shall be repaid according
to the following schedule: (i) if the Company has not yet submitted its initial
public offering (“IPO"”) application or has completed its IPO by November
4, 2020, the first installment shall be made on November 4, 2020; (ii) if the
Company has submitted IPO application but not yet completed its IPO before
November 4, 2020, the first installment shall be made until the earlier of (a)
one month after the Company’s IPO and (b) March 31, 2021.

The Company completed its IPO on the Main Board of the HKEx on March 3,
2021. According to the repayments schedule, SPIL repaid the first installment of
USD60 million and the second installment of USD60 million on March 31, 2021
and November 4, 2021, respectively.
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30 f& @) 30 Borrowings (continued)
ZEFNFE G BHERO TR The remaining repayment installments of the Loan are as follows:
RENEELEBR
B FEx
Required Principal
Dates Payments
usbD’000
DHNRE= 2022411 74R 60,000
3 installment November 4, 2022
2 BN RE O 202311848 60,000
4™ installment November 4, 2023
DEIN R E R 2024511 H4R 60,000
5" installment November 4, 2024
BERBITHRARFERX Debt Issuance Costs and Interest Expense
SPILRE 7% @ & 2 4 795,000 7T (18 & 7 SPIL incurred a cost of USD795,000 (equivalent to RMBS5,601,000) in
AR #5,601,0007T) BRI KA+ 3% AKX AN # connection with the Facility, and the costs were recorded as debt issuance costs
uET’ELa BEITHA - IR ERNERE offsetting the carrying value of the borrowings. The debt issuance costs are
° BT BT A EIR A R being amortized to interest expense over the life of the debt using the effective
E%f%ﬂ’\)ﬁ%;,ﬁﬁlﬁ\ﬂ&%&ﬁﬁi*' BRX - interest method.
B 220215 K 2020512 A31H L5 For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, interest expenses in
ErEZREREEHENNERX connection with the Facility Agreement was USD6,087,000 (equivalent
2 5l 36,087,000 T(HHE X AR to RMB39,299,000) and USD4,131,000 (equivalent to RMB28,480,000),
39,299,000 ) X 4,131,0003 7T (FHE © respectively.

AR #28,480,0007T) °
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31 EZERMEBH

31 Deferred income taxes

REFRBEBEENMELHREBEBAGBH DTN The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as follows:
B
"12A31H
As at December 31,
20215 20204
2021 2020
AR®ETF T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BELEREEE ! Deferred tax assets:

— BR12 A REER — Deferred tax assets to be settled within 12 months
IEIERIA A B 1,520 13,336
ELERIEEE Deferred tax liabilities:
— BR1I2EAREER — Deferred tax liabilities to be settled after 12 months
BRETRIERE (14,981) (9,258)
B £20214 k202012 A31H Ik F The movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities for the years ended
B -REMGHEEEBEEZ SR December 31, 2021 and 2020 without taking into consideration the offsetting
REREESERENEBEER) O TR of balances within the same jurisdiction, are as follows:
N
BERBEE
Deferred tax assets-
R FERE FEREERE a5t
Provision for Provision for
unrealized inventory
profits obsolescence Total
AR¥T T AR®T T AR®T T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
B Z2020F181H As of January 1, 2020 — — —
KBz 0B Charged to profit or loss 13,336 — 13,336
742020%12H31H At December 31, 2020 13,336 — 13,336
B Z2021F181H As of January 1, 2021 13,336 = 13,336
(Gt ABZ) /BT (Credited)/charged to profit or loss (13,336) 1,520 (11,816)
720215F12H31H At December 31, 2021 = 1,520 1,520
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31 BEMSBH 2 31 Deferred income taxes (continued)

EEHREBESE — BNHR
Deferred tax
liabilities — withholding tax

AR¥®T T

RMB’000

#HZ2020F1481A8 As of January 1, 2020 (6,240)
R AP R Charged to profit or loss (3,018)
7A2020512A31H At December 31, 2020 (9,258)
BZE2021F1818 As of January 1, 2021 (9,258)
BRIk Charged to profit or loss (5,723)
720216128318 At December 31, 2021 (14,981)
EEBERIENZZE OB R ER Deferred income tax assets are recognized for tax losses carrying forwards and
AHERE  helMAENHRIEEIE deductible temporary differences to the extent that realization of the related
RN TR E=BERELERESHE tax benefits through the future taxable profits is probable. As at December
E o R2021%F 1283180 » AEBI K 31, 2021, the Group did not recognize deferred income tax assets in respect
gt AR #44,147,0007T (202045 : AR of losses of RMB44,147,000 (2020: RMB33,398,000). The tax losses of the
#33,398,0007T) B E5 18 #E R IE I FT 15 Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China will expire from 2022 to
TEE o NEBE R B A AL T M B 2026. Tax losses of the Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong can be

REHHIAE B 2022 F E2026 5 5 carried forward indefinitely.
B o REBREBZMALAME R
BT IEE B ER A -
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32 BARKG®E

32 Share capital and share premium

BT
TimREE [N iqbayinti-| st
Number of
ordinary Share Share
shares issued capital premium Total
ARBFIT ARBTT ARETET
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
742020558138 At May 13, 2020
(MR BEH) (a) (date of incorporation) (a) 1 — — —
RARELSPILEY 2 B AR A R 2R T Issuance of ordinary shares in
FITEBR() exchange for the entire
equity interests of SPIL (a) 543,135,509 188 — 188
MITERRA B REEET Issuance of ordinary shares to
L iBAR(b) the executives and
directors (b) 12,064,290 4 — 4
742020128318 At December 31, 2020 555,199,800 192 — 192
BT
ZERHE €S BHEE st
Number of
ordinary Share Share
shares issued capital premium Total
AR¥T AR®BTRT AR®TR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
7"2021FE181H At January 1, 2021 555,199,800 192 — 192
BRARBEEREITEBAR(C Issuance of ordinary shares upon
IPO (c) 115,984,500 37 1,727,026 1,727,063
e 8 Rp s EMEFER1T Issuance of ordinary shares to
EiEAR(d, e) employee share scheme trusts (d, e) 10,189,963 3 — 3
A2021%12A31H At December 31, 2021 681,374,263 232 1,727,026 1,727,258
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32 BRARKRBEE®)

(a)

AR AR 202045 A 13 B s Ak
3 v TE R A A 50,000 % T (5
/£ 1,000,000,000 i% & & ™ & A
0.00005% oWy F@AR) - A A -
SBEEH —EZREERTIRT A
f% o 7A2020%6 A248 » AR A
JZSBER% R HASBEAY £ A% Lt I 1A 18
£ 3% 17543,135,509 i% A% 15 (P 7
1.2(b)) °

MR2020F 8 A7H » KA A MU
3,657,000 T(HH & RN AR
25,385,0007T) KR EMAITHRA B
N #E E 517 O BE 312,064,290 %

Bt e

M2021F3A3H EHF BB
RFERLET®E  ARAIUE
% 18.80 /% JT % 77 115,984,500
BEBR EEMESHREL
%8 #9 2,180,509,000 & 7T (48 B
» A R # 1,814,837,000 7T) °
BB ERMHBETEEZHBEBRD
EWmHAX MMTERBEFELNA
2,075,049,000 T (M E RN AR
#1,727,063,0007T ) °
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32 Share capital and share premium (continued)

(a)

The Company was incorporated on May 13, 2020 with an authorized
share capital of USD50,000 divided into 1,000,000,000 ordinary shares
with a par value of USD0.00005 each. On the same date, 1 ordinary
share was issued to one of the shareholders of SBE. On June 24, 2020,
the Company issued 543,135,509 shares to the shareholders of SBE in
proportion to their shareholdings in SBE (Note 1.2(b)).

On August 7, 2020, the Company issued and allotted 12,064,290 shares
to the executives and directors at the consideration of USD3,657,000
(equivalent to RMB25,385,000).

On March 3, 2021, the Company, upon its listing on the Main Board
of the HKEx, issued 115,984,500 ordinary shares at HKD18.80 per
share, and raised gross proceeds of approximately HKD2,180,509,000
(equivalent to RMB1,814,837,000). The net proceeds were
approximately HKD2,075,049,000 (equivalent to RMB1,727,063,000)
after deducting listing expenses directly relating to the share issuance.
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32 RARKRD @ E

208

(d)

R2021F1 8228 - AR AKRRE
B R ER 49 LA BR 19 B BB A 14 3K
AE(BEXRAHREAZRER
HEME]) B AREE
6,689,963 1% B 17 1% 2 17 M &% T
AEEBETES SHABUR
HmBERERERES R L
MEAEZETEBIEERR

MR2021F2 8108 * AR A EH
RAFRBERITRGIRG BALLG
B 817 R AL B A 356,689,963 % &
WA - R2021F28 118 » %Z &
B #) @R E H B FSCLN ESOP
Management Limited ([ 32 FR # &
BEMETE])  UREARAY
RAFRBERIRGIRG BALLG
BILEREA B RRRERAR
BERER -

B ZE2021F12 8318 AR A
BEREBRAREEERZRGEKRN
BT E THRBEMARA - IR
FR M Z R AR D EA - R
% 15 8 iz 15 5 #5 8 796,689,963 %
LBRARINERA R EFRG -

R2021F11A11B » KRR AE
A B8 IR #E B 32 A PR A R)(SciClone
Option Management Limited) ([ &
IR A5 7E |) % 17 & BL 53,500,000
BREimak - A B T17#20204
B TEENE BB ERE - &
Z20219F 128318 @ BREET
5 5 #93,500,000 8% % 15 A BR 51| /E
RRABEFRGD -

32 Share capital and share premium (continued)

(d)

On January 22, 2021, the Company's shareholders approved and
adopted a share based payment scheme (the “Post-IPO RSU Plan”),
under which a total number of 6,689,963 shares of the Company
will be issued and granted to certain directors, officers, and other key
contributors and employees of the Group subject to certain vesting

conditions after the Listing.

On February 10, 2021, the Company issued and allotted an aggregate
of 6,689,963 ordinary shares for the Post-IPO RSU Plan. On February
11, 2021, such number of ordinary shares were directed to SCLN ESOP
Management Limited (“the RSU Trust”) for the purpose of holding
ordinary shares under the Company’s Post-IPO RSU Plan on trust for and
on behalf of grantees.

As of December 31, 2021, the Company had not identified any grantee
under the Post-IPO RSU Plan and no restricted share unit was granted.
6,689,963 ordinary shares held in the RSU Trust accounted for as
treasury shares of the Company.

On November 11, 2021, the Company issued and allotted 3,500,000
ordinary shares to SciClone Option Management Limited (“the Option
Trust”) for the purpose of facilitating employees to exercise their vested
shares options granted under the 2020 Plan. As of December 31, 2021,
the 3,500,000 shares held in the Option Trust were accounted for as
treasury shares of the Company.
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33 HittfEH= 33 Other equity
®W12A831H R12A831H
As at December 31, As at December 31,
20214 2020%F 20214 20204
2021 2020 2021 2020
B %k ARET T AREF T
Shares Shares RMB’000 RMB’000
BEFRG Treasury shares 10,189,963 — 3 —
EERDAERNELAEZETARAESR Treasury shares are shares in the Company that are held by share trusts for the
Pt EIETIRMDAAIFEE N ARNA TR purpose of issuing shares under the Company’s employee share schemes.
{/\ ®
B&HEE ARET T
Number of
A Details shares RMB’000
A2021F181H At January 1, 2021 — —
AR BR& (D 5T EE5E387TE @AY Issuance of ordinary shares to employee share scheme trusts 10,189,963 3
A2021512831H At December 31, 2021 10,189,963 3
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34 Hftnfdfs 34 Other reserve
BAf
BETE
BH®H
T AE A
2EKER BEHRER EEBH
SREE ROMEREE EX ] N - CUN @t
Financial ~ Share-based Currency Statutory
asset at compensation  translation surplus Capital
Fvod reserve  differences reserve reserve Total
ARBTRT AR%ETR AR®Tr AR¥Tz ARWTRT AR%TxR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
2020515 1A M4EER Balance at January 1, 2020 37,020 96,231 12,186 7,987 1,142,709 1,296,133
BATE B Issuance of ordinary shares — — — — 25,193 25,193
INEFE K, Foreign currency translation = = 9,168 = = 9,168
EEELTREND Appropriation to statutory reserves (i) — — — 7,588 — 7,588
NAREBEFEEEED Changes in the fair value of
AR M2 E KR equity Investments at FVOC|
BRERENAABEES 153,247 — — — — 153,247
RIOMERS Share-based compensation expenses = 66,823 = = — 66,823
R 3R A i) Contribution from shareholders (ii) = = = = 8,761 8,761
%8 Dividends — — — — (1,404,240) (1,404,240)
R2020F 12831 B &R Balance at December 31, 2020 190,267 163,054 21,354 15,575 (227,577) 162,673
K202051 518 M4 Balance at January 1, 2021 190,267 163,054 21,354 15,575 (227,577) 162,673
INEEE K, Foreign currency translation — — (35,042) — — (35,042)
BREETREID Appropriation to statutory reserves (i) = = = 10,266 = 10,266
WA BETEAEES Changes in the fair value of
AR EKER equity investments at FVOC|
RERENAABEZS 103,671 = = = = 103,671
Bt A& Share-based compensation expenses = 63,013 = = = 63,013
RS Dividends = = = = (4,822) (4,822)
W2021F12831A & Balance at December 31, 2021 293,938 226,067 (13,688) 25,841 (232,399) 299,759
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34 Other reserve (continued)

iy BE(PEARELMBE(HER]) (i) In accordance with the Company Law of the People’s Republic of China
RN aLE) R B A 5 AR SZ A9 (the “PRC") and the stipulated provisions of the articles of association
BRIEMEWNEB AR RAELEZEM of subsidiaries incorporated with limited liabilities in Mainland China,
Bl ZE R al BB AT appropriation of net profits (after offsetting accumulated losses from
FERFNBEEOMAT TITER prior years) should be made by these companies to their respective
EHREZENEEEGBLATEE R statutory surplus reserve funds and discretionary reserve funds before
TELEE HEBEFAUSE TR distributions are made to the equity owners. The percentage of
SHEEA DETEERBAE appropriation to statutory surplus reserve fund is 10%. The amount to
CHEDLEI0% - BAEER be transferred to discretionary reserve fund is determined by the equity
BN ERARE RN ERE owners of these companies. When the balance of the statutory surplus
BARE BETERBAESE reserve fund reaches 50% of the registered capital, such transfer needs
#43% B 7t & A 50% 85 BN 55 78 # not to be made. Both statutory surplus reserve fund and discretionary
R EZTERBABEERAEERTE reserves fund can be capitalized as capital of an enterprise, provided that
SR EBIECENE AR  ERERE the remaining statutory surplus reserve fund shall not be less than 25%
ERBRABE T ELIRFMER of the registered capital.
M25% ©
AN - IREBECRE AR EFBSINE In addition, in accordance with the Law of the People’s Republic of
155K ) K AR B A 3 0 7 98 A T China on Enterprises with Foreign Investments and the stipulated
RAWMARERMAG  ZF provisions of the articles of association of wholly owned foreign
ARAEBNBRATFERFTEIE subsidiaries in Mainland China, appropriation from net profits (after
BHNENERERESBMNRHE offsetting accumulated losses brought forward from prior years) should
He HEZFEESHNATNE be made by these companies to their respective reserve fund. The
DA DRERE10% © & i@ percentage of net profit to be appropriated to the reserve fund is not
H & #8E B & R50%1& Bl less than 10% of the net profit. When the balance of the reserve fund
BEBK FREZEAANEZE reaches 50% of the registered capital, such transfer needs not to be
ExgmiER  FEEE2AUH made. With approvals obtained from respective boards of directors of
VEEE BB NIEINE R these companies, the Reserve Fund can be used to offset accumulated
deficit or to increase capital.
(i) EEZTNE REBEBEAEEMN (i)  Upon completion of the Reorganization, net liabilities of SPI which
SPIEEFHEEARERRLEA were not transferred to the Group were accounted for as a deemed
Bk o TRl EATKASPIFE contribution from the Shareholders. The following table summarizes the
EREEFHKR : assets and liabilities of SPI upon the completion of the Reorganization:
REHE
Contribution from
shareholders
ARBTTT
RMB’'000
RERREEEBY Cash and cash equivalents 1,948
HtmEEE Other current assets 4,526
mBHIBEAE Current tax liabilities (14,683)
B 5 R E A e 58 Trade and other payables (552)
(8,761)
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35 REREBEEH

(a) HRERBRE

35 Cash flow information

(a) Cash generated from operations

BZ12A310LLEE
Year ended December 31,

20215 20204
2021 2020
AR%T R AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
FriSHiaFE Profit before income tax 1,025,873 816,809
FEIER Adjustments for:
M - BERRETE Depreciation of PP&E 2,966 8,640
| B E# Amortization of intangible assets 93,891 85,312
FREEERH Amortization of right-of-use assets 10,989 19,658
NAREBEGTZBEZEHTA Change in fair value of financial assets at FVPL
EHBERNeREEN
RREEEE (2,590) 4,551
FEHOR Write-downs of inventories 16,367 112
B EERERE Impairment losses of intangible assets 57,104 19,627
&5 < Share-based compensation 63,013 66,823
FEUA Interest income (7,958) (11,478)
HEME -« BRERBREUKR Loss on sale of PP&E and
EmREERNEIR intangible assets — 164
FEMAX Interest expense 40,191 29,592
HNE I Foreign exchange gains (39,438) (5,358)
EEESRE Change in working capital:
FEIGM Increase in inventories (13,087) (41,058)
BHREWRIE (#mn) R (Increase)/decrease in trade receivables (221,721) 26,771
EfnEhEEREMEE Decrease/(increase) in other current assets and other assets
WA, (Em) 39,030 (29,910)
E 5 K H A FE S FRIEIE AN Increase in trade and other payables 148,950 41,335
KERMBRSE Cash generated from operations 1,213,580 1,031,590
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35 REREER 35 Cash flow information (continued)
(b) kRERERMEED (b) Non-cash investing and financing activities
BZ12A310LLEE
Year ended December 31,
20214 2020%F
2021 2020
ARET T AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BERBKRIEFERSPIBEFEE Deemed contributions from shareholders with
(TEERE) MRE derecognition of net liabilities (excluding cash) of
R HE  (FiFE34(ii) SPI upon the Reorganization (Note 34(ii)) — 10,709
BRAHELHREFREEE Acquisition of right-of-use assets through lease
(BF5E17) arrangements (Note 17) 24,425 3,008
(0 Be (EK)FHEEHEK (c) Net cash/(debt) reconciliation
UNTHINREERENES (E Set out below is an analysis of net cash/(debt) and the movements in net
B)FERES (B FEE cash/(debt) for each of the years presented.
BT e
®12A318
As at December 31,
20214 20204
2021 2020
ARET T AREEFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
RERREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 2,127,488 1,118,986
Bk — —FAEE Borrowings — repayable within one year (382,542) (782,988)
B — —FREER Borrowings — repayable after one year (762,160) (1,171,489)
HEaE — —FREH Lease liabilities — due within one year (11,391) (6,402)
HEBE — —F&3IH Lease liabilities — due after one year (11,175) (2,070)
Be, (EH) F8 Net cash/(debt) 960,220 (843,963)
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35 HEREER @)

(0 BE (EXK)FHEHEKR®

35 Cash flow information (continueq)

HEE

Other assets

(c) Net cash/(debt) reconciliation (continued)

METHEENER

Liabilities from

financing activities

BER
RELEEY HESE RN &ast
Cash
and cash Lease
equivalents liabilities Borrowings Total
AR®T T ARBT T ARBT T AR®T T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

H2021F1 518 WERSE Net debt as at January 1, 2021 1,118,986 (8,472)  (1,954,477) (843,963)
RERERE Financing cash flows 1,018,788 10,331 777,792 1,806,911
FHEE New leases — (24,425) — (24,425)
SN Foreign exchange adjustments (10,286) — 24,313 14,027
Hh &5 Other changes

MBEFAXZ Interest expense — (892) (39,299) (40,191)

FEKIE Interest payments (presented as

(UEERERELY) operating cash flows) — 892 46,969 47,861

A2021F12A31BENREFE Net cash as at December 31, 2021 2,127,488 (22,566) (1,144,702) 960,220
202018 1HNIRESRE Net cash as at January 1, 2020 919,490 (26,458) — 893,032
MERLRE Financing cash flows 256,998 19,283 (2,123,850)  (1,847,569)
s New leases — (3,008) — (3,008)
SN S B Foreign exchange adjustments (57,502) 1,711 177,043 121,252
Hib &g Other changes

FEMAX Interest expense — (1,112) (28,480) (29,592)

B FRIA Interest payments (presented as

(AEEREREBL7) operating cash flows) — 1,112 20,810 21,922

72020512318 EKFE Net debt as at December 31, 2020 1,118,986 (8,472) (1,954,477) (843,963)
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AT RBANAEBA &R RER
SHARKZHEET -

(a) BWRERELNER

B 0F B 5 #R R BT R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

36 Significant related party transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or
indirectly, to control the other party or exercise significant influence over
the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Parties are also
considered to be related if they are subject to common control, common
significant influence or joint control.

The following companies are related parties of the Group that had balances
and/or transactions with the Group.

(@) Names and relationships with related parties

18 &
Name Relationship
SBH (*) EIER A )

Avengers Limited

GL Trade Investment LP

Ascendent Silver (Cayman) Limited

GL GLEE Investment Limited

ZHAR LR
Ocean Falcon limited
Convergence International Holdings Ltd.

3 B20206 A ' ARAlEHE
& SBHTB AR A/ H#
ERAA

Intermediate holding company
HARBBEERZEBHRE

Shareholder with significant influence over the Company
HARBEERZEHRE

Shareholder with significant influence over the Company
HARBEERZEHRR

Shareholder with significant influence over the Company
HARRBERZENKRR

Shareholder with significant influence over the Company
HARBBEERVEHNRR

Shareholder with significant influence over the Company
BARR AT AR EAE

Controlled by the Company’s chief executive officer

* Since June 2020, upon the completion of the Reorganization of the
Company, SBH ceased to be the Company’s intermediate holding company.
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36 EXBHMAERS @) 36 Significant related party transactions continueq)
(b) EHEBEITNEARS (b) Significant transactions with related parties
(i) BEBFEALHE (i) Contribution from equity holders
BZE12A31BLFE
Year ended December 31,
20214 20204
2021 2020
AR®ET T ARBTT
RMB000 RMB'000
SBH — 8,761
(ii) 67 2 78] IR KR 17 #9 (ii) Dividends to the Company’s shareholders
R E

HZ12A831B8LLEE
Year ended December 31,

20214 2020%F

2021 2020

ARBT T ARETTT

RMB’000 RMB’000

Avengers Limited 149,006 —
GL Trade Investment LP 146,812 —
Ascendent Silver (Cayman) Limited 144,755 —
GL GLEE Investment Limited 126,067 —
Z#AMR 27 Ocean Falcon Limited 118,217 —
Convergence International Holdings Ltd. 16,755 —
SBH — 2,230,394
701,612 2,230,394
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36 EXRBEBAIRS @) 36 Significant related party transactions (continued)

(b) EHEBINEARSZ (&)

(b) Significant transactions with related parties (continued)

(iii) 31 7K 2 E] IR R 12 7Y
B EHEIR
202056 A 2 A1 - A& E
ASBHEY $8 17 B ZR Bh i 12 4
R o HSBHABEBITER
RITER@AE THREHE
EHMEBENHTE  AEEH
$SBHR SRITE AL T 8
EBEAEE T R2019F
12A318 - BEAEHR#BE
/300,000,0003 7T (HE & 7
A R #2,092,860,0007T) °
SBHA 202056 A B EE
BITER - RSB HEMER
BREER -

(0 FTEEEAEHMH
REERBENNENEEER
ABEIFHHMT :

(iii) Financial guarantee provided to the Company’s

shareholder

Prior to June 2020, the Group had provided guarantee for a

bank loan facility to SBH. In the event that SBH fails to perform

its obligations under the bank loan facility or otherwise defaults

thereunder, the Group will become liable for SBH's obligations
under the bank loan facility, which amounted to USD300,000,000
(equivalent to RMB2,092,860,000) as at December 31, 2019. SBH
repaid the bank loan in full in June 2020, upon which the Group

was released from the guarantee.

() Key management personnel compensations

The compensations paid or payable to key management personnel for

employee services are shown below:

BZ12A310LEE
Year ended December 31,

20215 20204

2021 2020

AR%T AREFTT

RMB’000 RMB’000

TE - e RkiEs Wages, salaries, bonuses 24,765 24,451

LARRAD B ERER S 3R Share-based payments 22,002 29,332

BIREFT B Contributions to pension plans 336 411
FEAES  BERRR Housing funds, medical insurance and

Hibt @A other social welfare contributions 671 808

47,774 55,002

37 BEEE

A& ER20214 K2020F12 A31 A I
BIRNEAXBAE

38 HRERE

2021 F 12 A31HEAREHE K
RAREMPREIN  ESTTAMNED

37 Contingencies

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at December 31,

2021 and 2020.

38 Subsequent Events

As from December 31, 2021 to the date of this report, save as disclosed in this

BEBTHRENEMNERER -

that have occurred.

report, the directors are not aware of any significant events requiring disclosure
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39 ARFMEEEBREMR

#HEH

() AREMEEEER

39 Balance sheet and reserve movement of the

Company

(a) Balance sheet of the Company

BZ12A31HLLEE
Year ended December 31,
2021%F 20204
2021 2020
ARET ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BE Assets
FEREEE Non-current assets
AN B QA Investment in subsidiaries 6,117,534 6,260,693
HEtEE Other Assets 54 _
ERBEEME Total non-current assets 6,117,588 6,260,693
REVEE Current assets
HipmEhE E Other current assets 688,355 7,112
BERBEEEED Cash and cash equivalents 1,005,863 23,877
MEEERE Total current assets 1,694,218 30,989
EEAE Total assets 7,811,806 6,291,682
EEREE Equity and liabilities
=N Liabilities
RENBE Current liabilities
B 5 K H At FERHRIE Trade and other payables 12,419 46,392
=Rtk Total liabilities 12,419 46,392
EEFE Net assets 7,799,387 6,245,290
ANREE AELER Equity attributable to owners of the Company
& Share capital 232 192
&= (E Share premium 1,727,026 —
HithEas Other equity (3) —
H b Other reserves 6,139,024 6,284,378
ZETES1E Accumulated losses (66,892) (39,280)
EREE Total equity 7,799,387 6,245,290
RRAWEEBBERD RN20224F The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board of
SFUAREESSHME WRESE Directors on March 24, 2022 and were signed on its behalf.
=,
fi-P Zhao Hong
-2 Director
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39 AATINEEESEERE 39 Balance sheet and reserve movement of the

HE2H e Company (continued)
(b) ARRMNREEEE (b) Reserve movement of the Company
E¥ENRZRE =N &5t
Currency
translation Capital
differences reserve Total
ARET T AR¥T T AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
7R202065813H Balance at May 13, 2020
(FEMA BE) KAEeR (date of incorporation) — — —
NI RE 5, Foreign currency translation (533,651) — (533,651)
FIREISPILEY 2 B AR A M 2 Issuance of ordinary shares in
MmETERR exchange for the entire
equity interests of SPIL — 6,792,648 6,792,648
MITIRA B REFBEITEBR Issuance of ordinary shares to
the executives and directors — 25,381 25,381
A2020FE12 A31 H &S8R Balance at December 31, 2020 (533,651) 6,818,029 6,284,378
R2021F1 B 1B & ER Balance at January 1, 2021 (533,651) 6,818,029 6,284,378
HNEERE 34, Foreign currency translation (145,354) — (145,354)
72021F12A31BN& 4 Balance at December 31, 2021 (679,005) 6,818,029 6,139,024
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39 AATINEEESBEERE 39 Balance sheet and reserve movement of the

HEE e Company (continued)
(0 EEHMEBARNESR (c) Information about subsidiaries
R20215E12 4318 AR AR E The particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at December
EWBARFENAT : 31, 2021 are as follows:
L 3L BT/
REER 2% B H BHEAHE IEEH SEmI BiEAR DR RAER
Particulars of
Place and date of issued/  Principal activities/ Attributable equity interests of
Company name incorporation paid-in capital place of operation the Company
M®12A31H
As at December 31,
2021 2020%F
2021 2020
BEERFE
Directly held
SPIL FREHS 900,000 EmiHE - £E - XHHE 100% 100%
19924118168 : RiGEER HEHS
1993F7H19H
ERAEM
Cayman Islands, USD900,000  Product sales, manufacturing,
November 16, business development and
1992; Registered in investment holding/
Hong Kong on Cayman Islands
July 19, 1993
BEEE
Indirectly held
SP Italy BARF 10,0008t REARFFHFFABEAF 100% 100%
20004F12 A 14H
Italy, EUR 10,000 License holding in Italy/Italy
December 14,
2000
SciClone MeHs 50,000%7C REERRERHE, 100% 100%
Pharmaceuticals 200599 A 19H HEMHS
International China Cayman Islands, USD50,000  Investment holding and
Holding Ltd. September 19, product sales/Cayman Islands
2005
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39 ARATIMEESBERKER 39 Balance sheet and reserve movement of the
X)) Company (continued)
(<) EBEMEBATINER (&) (c) Information about subsidiaries (continued)
AR 3L BT/
REER 2% B H BRERFE IETEH KLt EihAR DR RAER
Particulars of
Place and date of issued/ Principal activities/ Attributable equity interests of
Company name incorporation paid-in capital place of operation the Company
M®12A31H
As at December 31,
20215 2020%F
2021 2020
SciClone B 61,828,872% L  EMIHE BE 100% 100%
Pharmaceuticals 201069 A 14H
Hong Kong Ltd. Hong Kong, UsD61,828,872  Product sales/Hong Kong
September 14,
2010
NovaMed EEX- 50,0007 (RERIREER HEHS 100% 100%
Pharmaceuticals Inc. 2006458 19H
Cayman Islands, USD50,000 Dormant investment holding/
May 19, 2006 Cayman Islands
SciClone SRA R 8 1670 HRIRAF,SRAFITE 100% 100%
Pharmaceuticals 20194 H29H
Pty Ltd. Australia April 29, USD1  Dormant Company/Australia
2019
B )N AR A 8 R 2 hE ARAME ARY RS HE 100% 100%
BRAR ( [HE]) 10,500,0007T
202064 H2H
SciClone People’s RMB10,500,000 R&D services/PRC
Pharmaceuticals Republic of China
Development (Suzhou) (“PRC"),
Co., Ltd. April 2, 2020
MAEBREES HE 14,000,000%7T  RRARE,HE 100% 100%
(L&) BRAT 200743 A2H
NovaMed PRC, March 2, UsD14,000,000 Dormant Company/PRC
Pharmaceuticals 2007
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd.
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30 AATINEEEERRERE 39 Balance sheet and reserve movement of the
B EJ (&) Company (continued)
(<) EBEMEBATINER (&) (c) Information about subsidiaries (continued)
SR 32 2817/
NGIEE 2N B BHEAHE IETH KEtD AR RD TR AR

Particulars of

Place and date of issued/ Principal activities/ Attributable equity interests of

222

Company name incorporation paid-in capital place of operation the Company
M®12A31H
As at December 31,
20215 2020%F
2021 2020
BB (PE) R AR SRR FRS, HE 100% 100%
BRAA 2014108158 50,000,0007T
SciClone PRC, RMB50,000,000 Marketing and promotional
Pharmaceuticals October 15, support services/PRC
(China) Co., Ltd. 2014
BEBETH HE AREE  EmpHRTBCRRE/HE 100% 100%
BRAA 201549 A24H 30,000,0007T
SciClone PRC, RMB30,000,000  Products distribution and
Pharmaceuticals September 24, administration support/PRC
(Jiangsu) Co., Ltd. 2015
TS RERE HE - ARE  BIKAERS,FE 100% 100%
BRAA 2018%5°16H 1,000,0007C
Pu Duo Medical PRC, RMB1,000,000  Clinical research service/PRC
Technology Huangpu  May 16,
Shanghai 2018
BEBEREK HE AREE  BEXFRG,PE 100% 100%
(dtm) BRAT 201847 H238 1,000,0007%
SciClone PRC, RMB1,000,000 Various support services/PRC
Pharmaceuticals July 23,
(Beijing) Co., Ltd. 2018
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39 Balance sheet and reserve movement of the
Company (continued)

(0

BR1T
BREAREE

Particulars of

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

TEER KL

FEAL A4 B IR AR 2

Place and date of issued/ Principal activities/ Attributable equity interests of
Company name incorporation paid-in capital place of operation the Company
M®12A31H
As at December 31,
20215 2020%F
2021 2020
BEEH (L8) HE - 250,000k & RHEERS,HE 100% 100%
BRAF 200652 A7H
SciClone PRC, UsD250,000 Marketing and promotion
Pharmaceuticals February 7, services/PRC
(China) Ltd. 2006
SciClone EEX 50,0007 FERIRATEF SRS, FHEHS 100% 100%
Pharmaceuticals 20086 A11H
International Cayman Islands, USD50,000  Pre-clinical R&D services/
(Cayman) June 11, Cayman Islands
Development Ltd. 2008
SciClone EE 1,0005%7T  ERIRATER 3 IRTS, BB 100% 100%
Pharmaceuticals (HK) 20154 10H21H
Development Co Ltd. Hong Kong, USD1,000  Preclinical R&D services/
October 21, 2015 Hong Kong
Erwsmy (bg) HE- 1,400,0005% 7T  FREMRT,HE 100% 100%
BRAA] 2015458128
SciClone PRC, UsD1,400,000 R&D services/PRC
Pharmaceuticals May 12, 2015
Development
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd.
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ARANEERBEREM

RNAENER (&)

L 3L
B K% HE

Place and date of

39 Balance sheet and reserve movement of the
Company (continued)

(0

B8/
BRELRFE
Particulars of

issued/

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

TEER KL

Principal activities/

FEAL A4 B IR AR 2

Attributable equity interests of

Company name incorporation paid-in capital place of operation the Company
M®12A31H
As at December 31,
20215 2020%F
2021 2020
SPL EE 10,0007 HEHEKESRERS,EE 100% 100%
201849 H19H
Hong Kong, HKD10,000  Supply chain and quality
September 19, assurance services/Hong Kong
2018
SPML EE 10,0007 EERYG BB 100% 100%
201849 H19H
Hong Kong, HKD10,000 Management services/
September 19, Hong Kong
2018
EEMEEERE (LF) TE- AR ERHE FE 100% 100%
BRAA 202047 A8H 5,000,0007T
SciClone Supply Chain  PRC, RMB5,000,000 Product sales/PRC
Management July 8, 2020

(Shanghai) Co., Ltd.
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Financial Summary

BE12A31BLEE
Year ended December 31,
20214 2020 20194 20184 20174
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

ARETT AR®TE ARBTIT ARBTRT ARETR
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

WA Revenue 2,518,474 1,918,562 1,708,068 1,408,869 1,212,966
E7 Gross Profit 1,933,006 1,490,456 1,314,927 1,105,870 1,031,788
4t 7 Net Profit 923,361 753,695 614,604 535,082 19,582
®12A31H
As at December 31,
20215 20204 20194 20184 20174
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

ARETT AR%®TE ARBTI ARETRT ARETR
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

BEE Total Assets 4,062,682 2,882,644 1,845,823 1,296,277 1,427,651
BaE Total Liabilities 1,745,274 2,570,782 320,646 253,406 467,753
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About the report

We hereby release the 2021 Environmental, Social and Governance Report ("ESG
report”), the second ESG Report of SciClone Pharmaceuticals (Holdings) Limited.
("SciClone" or "the Group")

In the section that follows, we will disclose the Group’s ESG strategies, measure
and performances of daily operation in accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide
set out in Appendix 27 of the Main Board Listing Rules of Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited ("HKEx"), covering our main businesses in China during the
Reporting Period. The Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”) in environmental area
cover our offices in China while the KPIs in social area cover the Company and all
its subsidiaries. There are no significant scope adjustments to the report coverage
compared to the 2020 ESG report.

This report has been prepared in compliance with the reporting principles of the £SG
Reporting Guide, which include:

. Materiality: The Group identifies key ESG issues to be concerned through
stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment, and disclosures

accordingly in the ESG report.

° Quantitative: This Report presents environmental KPIs in quantitative terms,

with narratives provided to explain the purpose and impacts.

. Balance: This report provides an unbiased picture of the Group's current
performance on ESG management following the principle of balance.

o Consistency: The data disclosure and statistics methods used for this report
are consistent with those for the 2020 ESG report to ensure the comparability
of information.
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ESGE & ESG Governance

EEMFEEXL

New SciClone Corporate Culture

S

EES

EEXEEXER
BMEEIRERREERREERGE Targeting oncology and severe infection therapeutic areas, we are dedicated
A CBORRGEREEEE BPE to becoming an international biopharmaceutical company focusing on China
8 BEIBRZ BERKE KABRE market with sustainable growth, by working hard to win trust from our
FETISHBIBREYR D E o patients, respect from our customers and pride from our employees.
UEBEREACH  REEEREN We are dedicated to improving patients' health by providing top-tier
EEEmMRE - healthcare products and services with global standards of care.

EEBEEER

Employer value proposition

AETREEEA RN AIEHEANG
REAEMTA  FETHNLESE
7 8y 1 56 -

We provide employees with the cultural environment of international
companies and a platform to display their talents, so that employees can get
better returns for their efforts.
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Our values include customer, win-win, responsibility, efficiency, performance

and compliance.

AEAN

RMMESHEEREEEST R B
BAG - HmEE  REEERES
W -

ESGER BE
BHEWSEERATSEERCEETENH
2GS THESRER —BEEANE
B eEER  THRMESH S FER
RetEE -

ESGERZEE
AEBRYWISCEBNES I R AEBESGT
fEE LT THIERBIR - B2 BEESGE A
RE(MESS((EE]]))ER) RESGT 1E
4@ -

ERESGEEEMN SR AR  EFSHAN
SEESGEBLERAZHEF -EFSRHE
A B RERESGEENEAMBERE
B ARBEESGE R R AMNIBE N K EIRESG
BRMAE AEBEEZZESHYHESES
MESGHBEEMERBEEREE -

ESGIEFHBMBAMTIZIMIBE  BERME
ESERSGRBEET  ESGTEMHRTIER
AR R BESGEE RS o

BExEnE
EEXQHESGHMEER2ZE  HTh i
ESGHR s A AR LB ERKBES RS EA
SHEESGHREMBRRER - N2021F EF
goREAREERZEGHEREFENON
= NEEREBESGHBEER -

REARK AEEBEBRHUSERRE
SOBEETEEHGEE -
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Our leadership criteria include setting direction, developing talents, engaging
partners, embracing change and driving for results.

ESG Strategy

With more than 20 years of experience in commercializing differentiated high quality
medicines in the China market, sustainable development strategy has always served as
the framework of the Group’s roadmap and guides in every aspect of our business.

ESG Governance Structure

To fulfill the supervision of ESG matters and ensure the smooth implementation
of the ESG work of the Group from top to down, we have established the ESG
governance structure composed of the Board of Directors (the "Board”) and an ESG
Working Group.

As the highest decision-making body of the ESG management, the Board takes full
responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategies and objectives. The Board consistently
evaluates, prioritizes, manages material ESG-related issues and risks, and reviews
the performances of ESG management system and the progress of achieving ESG
objectives. The Audit Committee of the Group assists the Board with the overall
management and supervision of the ESG-related matter.

The ESG Working Group engages the principal departments of SciClone, is
responsible for the reporting of ESG-related matters, the implementation of ESG
work, and the compilation of annual ESG report to the Board.

The Board Announcement

The Board takes overall responsibility for ESG-related matters, including integrating
ESG strategy into the Group’s development strategy and guiding the management
and supervision of ESG issues of the Group. In 2021, the Board has nominated the
Audit Committee of the Group as the representative of the Board to manage and
supervise ESG-related matters.

Looking to the future, the Group will continue to adhere the concept of sustainable
development and actively fulfil its corporate social responsibility.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Stakeholder Engagement

Adhering to the concept of sustainable development, SciClone attaches great
importance to our stakeholders. Our stakeholders include governments and
regulators, shareholders and investors, employees, customers and patients, partners
and suppliers, communities, peer companies and industrial associations and media.
We have established effective communication mechanisms to understand and
respond to their demands and expectations.

Flz=EEE A
Stakeholders

HEHEER

Expectations and Requirements

sk Ll

Communication Mechanisms

B R EE M

Governments and regulators

PRIR AR E &

Shareholders and investors

Bl
H

Employees

o ETRBRER

LI
o EHIRBHIE
e EmEBEERZE

. Compliance with the laws and regulations
. Pay taxes

. Regular epidemic prevention and control
. Products quality and safety

ANCIN=WE)
o & & Bl TR
o st

o R B IR

o Corporate governance
° Return on investment

o Information disclosure
o Risk management
L4 le _ I*ém

. %%%E%L
e BEEEEZZE

. Protect employee’s rights and interests
o Career development channel
o Occupational health and safety

e  AMER
o TREAM
o  TEERZHERFIAR

° Compliance management

° Proactive in tax payment

. Active participation of government’s
projects

o BEIMEERRE
e KREREREEEZH
e BAE

e DAL

o Mandatory information disclosure
o Shareholder and investor meetings
. Road show

o Company website

. %F%ﬁﬁ &i%ﬁ@%é

. Regular meetings and trainings

o Employee care activities

o Internal communication channels

° Quarterly performance communication

and annual performance review
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Flz=1ERE
Stakeholders

HEERER

Expectations and Requirements

BEEH

Communication Mechanisms

EPhEE

Customers and patients

BIERBHELMERS

Partners and suppliers

Zant

Communities

RTEELITERE

Peer companies and
industrial associations

s SHEEMNERMRY
e BEMEH
o [BAMRE

o High quality products and services
o Responsible marketing
o Privacy protection

. AMEE
. UEAK

o HHERRE
° Compliance procurement

o Win-win cooperation

° Intellectual property protection

e  HERER
s XFHEREF

o Community development
° Support for community welfare

«  RTEEF

s HIXBRERAMER

° Fair competition
o Contribution to industrial development

o IRFEEMREILM
e  HWEMEH

° Service hotline and email
o Conferences and meetings

. HREREH
. EHHH
.« BERENGHE

° Conferences and meetings
. Business visits

o Audit and performance evaluation

o EHHU

s RmED

o Official website
o Public charity activities

° ?kk %>2
° Industrial conferences

. Benchmarking

e e  SHESNEDERS o EEM
o  TEEBMHETEN e EHU
Media o High-quality products and services . Press release
o Positive social influence o Official website
BEMTME Materiality Assessment
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The Group regularly reviews major issues to align the strategy and long-term
objectives in ESG management. To further clarify the expectations of internal and
external stakeholders towards ESG issues at SciClone, we have conducted the

materiality assessment through the following steps:

Step 1: Identifying ESG issues: Based on the Group’s business development
and industrial trends, 18 ESG issues has been identified that was believed to have
significant impact on our business and stakeholders.
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Step 2: Assessing the materiality: Through materiality evaluation questionnaires
with internal stakeholders of our Group, we assessed the materiality of every issue
by the aspects of “materiality to SciClone’s business” and “impact on stakeholders”.
Based on the results of the survey, the materiality assessment matrix was formulated.

Step 3: Verifying the assessment results: The assessment results have been
reviewed and confirmed by the Board and the ESG Working Group.

In 2021, the ESG Working Group reviewed the previous materiality assessment result.
As there were no significant changes in the business and operating environment, the
result of previous materiality assessment is still applicable to us:

A
High
I EE Extremely Material
EZ Material ERUERZ2
Product quality and safety
= 3o MFERERE BEREEZS
37 2
EEmIpIi:ile*ﬂfiﬁng Business ethics and Occupational health
) s ey integrity and safety
EEENEHREFRRE
Responsible marketing
EEEERBIRE and customer satisfaction
4 Customer information
-8 and privacy protection ABERERE
5 Intellectual property protection
I EIMERAT  asmsmmee
7 Product b
© ot Sustainable supply
- i =
173 and innovation chain management g Tz
g —_— Employee
a rights and
)
% Public welfare BT RREEE benefits
Qo Prohibit child labor and
§ forced labor
S BHEER BEARER
N Energy conservation Packaging material management
= HHRKER
#01 Water conservation
08
1}
i< .
& T EE Immaterial
= TESRER
= A BEE Solid waste management
Climate risk and response
BEAMBERER
Wastewater and gas
management
& >
Low HEAEKNWEEM Materiality to SciClone’s business & High

EEMTHER

Materiality Assessment Matrix
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2021 Growth-Oriented Listed Companies Top 100
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Operation

Providing quality products and services are the ultimate missions of the Group.
Through fostering and maintaining an attitude of quality awareness to our customers,
we emphasize safety, integrity, innovation, and continuous improvement. Meanwhile,
we perpetuating relationships based on quality principles with customers, partners,
vendors, and suppliers.

SciClone has over the years built an innovative pharmaceutical product
pipeline with robust commercial capabilities and stringent quality control.

M20215F12 8 - BARESIRK2021FEK K LT AR Top 100 © 1RIES
P - R LR R ISE TSR RR M EREBERGYIRE
ETRAR - BEEBFSNEREN  BEREE Rk G EMARRBE
i o HPIEEOER B B 3 AE 1 R B RE 77 18 3R 17978 U8 i /g I S AE %
ATHEMEARBEEERLK -

In December 2021, SciClone was proudly awarded the 2021 Growth-Oriented
Listed Companies Top 100 by Snowball (XueQiu). According to Snowball,
the Growth-Oriented Listed Companies Award aims to enhance the market’s
discovery and recognition of corporate investment value and help investors
understand companies. With its good growth potential, SciClone stands out
among the listed companies in Hong Kong, Shenzhen and Shanghai. We are
confident that our robust commercial and R&D capabilities will enable us to
effectively address the high unmet medical needs in oncology and severe
infection.

EmER
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Product Responsibility

We manufacture our proprietary product, Zadaxin, and our in-licensed product,
Angiomax, through Patheon ltalia, an industry-leading and highly reputable CMO.
Our production quality management system is fully aligned with the current Good
Manufacturing Practice (GMP) as implemented in markets that we operate in. For the
promotion products we sell for our business partners, we also adopt stringent quality

management measures for the promotion product we sell for our business partners.
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PHARMACEUTICALS

&g - BRENESEMBARR UL
Quality control system and culture
with strict and high standard

We strictly abide by the Pharmaceutical Administration Law of the People’s Republic
of China {H#EARKMBLERZEEE) , Good Clinical Practice of Pharmaceutical
Products (EEMIFGIRASRE 8EIRIRE) , Measures for the Administration of Drug
Registration (Z:REMEIEHE) and other laws and regulations, and carry out
research and development, clinical research and commercial production in accordance

with the law.

Process performance and product quality will be monitored through the review of
production activities and outcomes release stability testing activities. We will maintain
a testing program on an adequate number of product batches to evaluate the stability
of the products, including proper storage conditions and expiration date.

We have established the Drug Safety Committee to manage product quality
complaints and medical complaints linked to adverse reactions and injuries. Our Drug
Safety Committee is chaired by the President & CEO of SciClone and responsible for
discussing and making decisions on the management of major product safety issues
and identifying mitigation measures. We also specified the Pharmacovigilance (PV)
Function which acts as secretary of our Drug Safety Committee to review, confirm,
notify, investigate, report and close fatal cases and adverse events. When receiving
an adverse event, employees shall obtain important information such as patient
information and drug information and report to the PV Department within one
calendar day. The Chairman of the Drug Safety Committee will then assign the task
leader and responsible team to conduct corresponding investigation. PV Functions
will complete the investigation report and report to related regulatory authorities
according to the investigation results. Furthermore, corresponding working groups
were established by each department to implement the decisions of Drug Safety
Committee, including notifying the user units to stop using relevant products and
ensure that the unqualified products are recalled and quarantined when necessary.

As at December 31, 2021, our Group did not receive any products and service related

complaints. There were no product recalls due to safety and health reasons.

In 2021, all employees have completed the online training on adverse events and
product quality complaints. The course explained the definition of adverse events
and product quality complaints, and systematically introduced the way of reporting

adverse events and the complaint handling process.
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Supply Chain Management

The success of SciClone is inseparable from the strong support of our suppliers.
Our suppliers usually include CMO, the manufacturers of the active pharmaceutical
ingredients used in the manufacture of our finished products, the business partners
whose products we sell on their behalf and other service providers.

We choose our suppliers based on equal and open principle. The quality, technical
expertise, industry reputation and manufacturing practice compliance with the
relevant regulatory authorities, were also some factors considered before determining
our suppliers.

According to The Procurement Standard Operating Process CEREETZZEERRVERIZ) |
suppliers must provide the business licenses within the validity period when
participating in the bidding. Before signing the contract, required qualification
documents will be provided according to our Supplier New SOP {{FERFTESOP)
and the Third-Party Due Diligence Questionnaire 2 =77 REMETE) will need to
be completed by suppliers to ensure compliance with Foreign Corrupt Practices Act
(FCPA) and SciClone’s Global Anti-Bribery & Anti-Corruption Policy {2 ¥k 8% B
BB

To monitor and evaluate the products or services provided by suppliers, a set of
specifications and production requirements have been established. The production
related documentation, including batch records and analysis records, to ensure
the production comply with related requirements were all need to be reviewed.
In addition, we conduct on-site audits to ensure that the suppliers meet GMP
requirements. Moreover, we pay active attention to the sustainability during supply
chain management process, such as encouraging our suppliers to reduce their
environmental impact or use environmental-friendly materials.

At SciClone, all product related suppliers comply with SciClone's supplier
management practices. As of the end of 2021, the number of SciClone’s major
product-related suppliers (mainly including production, warehouses and logistics) by
geographical region is showed as below:

B &5
Hong Kong

B OEM
Others
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Employee

SciClone has considered our employees the builder of core competitiveness of our
company, and the cornerstone of its development. To ensure our employees’ talents
are fully exhibited and efforts are rewarded better, we are providing our employees
with global-standard company culture, a platform for them to perform, and make

sure their efforts can be recognized and rewarded.

In 2021, SciClone was proudly listed in the China Pharmaceutical Talent Brand
Ranking. This award represents a recognition for the Group’s continued talent
development strategy and unique Employer Value Proposition (EVP) and Promotes
Innovation with Talent.

BRI

D) e %ftﬁﬁ:{kiiﬁwgﬂ- fo=-

i) (EFsmACY E'ﬂlm:'ﬁ EFEES

mEES

The award ceremony
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Standardised Employment

The Group adheres to legal employment and provides labor contract with every
employee. We have closely followed the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China
(hEARLFMBEILE)E) , the Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of
China {FFEARKMBILES[EE) , the Provisions on the Prohibition of Using
Child Labor (ZEIEFERZETHE) , and other relevant employment and labor laws
and regulations. Child labour and forced labour are strictly prohibited. The Group will
carry out investigation in accordance with relevant procedures if necessary and hand
over any illegal cases to the relevant judicial authorities for handling.

We have formulated a series of policies to optimize our human resource mechanism,
including the Management Measures for Employee Recruitment, Enrollment, In-
service and Dismission (B T#kF « AB; - TER KRB EIEDX) and Management
Measures for Internal Employee Talent Recommendation { NE8E T AA HEBE B
&) . In 2021, we upgraded the employee self-service platform for optimizing Human

Resource system.

SciClone believes that the diversity of the Group can ensure the sustainable
development of the company. We are not only providing our employees with equal
opportunities for personal development and performance but also equitably treating
and respecting our employees, regardless of their gender, region, nationality,

background and race.

As of December 31, 2021, SciClone has employed in a total number of 889.
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Total workforce by gender

RIERIBI DB T

305

H Male B Female
EHET ZHEBT

Total workforce by region
R B D B TE

8 3

® Mainland China B HK, Macau and Taiwan

HBIARE BRE

M Other Regions
Hh B R iz

Total workforce by age group
REREIDMBEIH

23

198

m30-50 m Over 50

305%-505% 505% A _E

Total workforce by employment type

RRFEELEONETH

880

M Part-time

et
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BMBERZRREEE R KERERNITEBRRE We implement the resignation process in strict accordance with the labor contract
FF e 02021 - REBEETRRER27.6% ° and laws and regulations. During 2021, the turnover rate of the Group's employees

was 27.6%.
MRS 5 B R T2 3 15 2 45 O A B =R
Turnover rate by gender Turnover rate by region
32.5%
25.2%
0.0%
= Male mFemale = Mainland China ®m HK, Macau and Taiwan
EHET wHET LHETPN 73 ERA
m Other Regions
HAh IR k@
RFRREI D AR K
Turnover rate by age
41.4%
0,
23.8% 21.7%

=Under 30 years ®30-50 years = Qver 50 years
308 AT 307%-507% 50 A L

H O BEBINBER R - ZBERERES AR % Note: Turnover rate of each category = the number of resigned employees of this category/the
EREZE2021F12A31BMEE B8 total number of employees of this category as of December 31, 2021
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Compensation and Benefits

SciClone provides better rewards including highly competitive compensation and
benefits for employees’ efforts through innovative performance review system and
competitive benefits program. In addition to standard benefits, according to labor
laws and related regulations, SciClone provides employees with annual physical
examination, supplementary medical security insurance, personal accident insurance
and serious disease insurance. Moreover, reimbursement benefits for emergency care
and hospitalization have also been provided for employees and their children.

Working Hours and Holidays

The Group advocates the work-life balance for our employees and strives to create a
happy, healthy and harmonious working atmosphere, and improves employees’ sense
of belonging and happiness. We have formulated the Measures on the Management
of Working Hours and Holidays { TYEFSFREIMEREREE#HE) and adopt standard
working hour and flexible working hour system according to the job requirement.
Employees are entitled the Chinese public holidays, statutory leave, annual leave, and
all other holidays that are granted in accordance with relevant rules and regulations.
Employees from ethnic minority areas are entitled with corresponding leave in
accordance with the regulations of their local ethnic minority government.

Health and Safety

SciClone attaches great importance to occupation health and put the personal safety
of our employee in the first place. We strictly abide by applicable Chinese laws and
regulations on workplace health and safety, including but not limit to the Labor Law
of the People’s Republic of China {HZEARHKMELEE) and the Law of the
People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases

(hEgEARAMBBERAE) .

To ensure the safety of the workplace and enhance the safety awareness of our
employees, we formulate the Office and Safety Code (HiARZZHA]) and
introduce the guideline of safety practices, accident prevention and accident reporting
based on it during new employees training. Meanwhile, we actively cooperate with
the property management to conduct integrated testing on fire services system. In
November 2021, SciClone Shanghai office has participated in a fire evacuation drill
where our employees learnt further understanding of and master escape routes,
escape skills and other contents. Annual Physical Examination was provided to all our
employees. In addition, the Group pays close attention on our employee’s mental
health and psychological counseling lectures have been conducted for the Group's
employees, including inviting external experts to give our employees lectures about

how to maintain positive parentage.

By the end of 2021, there was no work-related fatality. In 2021, there was 20 lost
days due to work injury.
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Development and Training

The Group encourages promotions from within and provide fair and transparent
opportunities to all and pursues the principle of equal pay for equal work. By
formulating the Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) for Promotion Management
(BEFERIZERIERIE) , we have defined the specific conditions and process
requirements for promotion, so as to create a more fair and equal opportunity
for employees’ career progress and development. Meanwhile, we set up
SciClone Performance Management Guideline (BHEBHERIEK) to perform
comprehensive assessment of employees from the aspects of business result appraisal

and behaviors rating.

At SciClone, promotion was divided into position promotion and technical title
promotion according to its nature. For position promotion, if the position is available
and the employee meets the relevant requirements of knowledges/experiences,
skills, personality, characters and values, attitudes and motivations, he or she will
be promoted. For technical title promotion, the employee to be promoted should
meet the requirements of the relevant work experiences, knowledges, compliances,
performances and other aspects of the promotion standards of the corresponding
positions. We implement the “Talent Cultivation Program” and “Cadre Project”
to strength our talent pool. For the development of our key talents, we select the
excellent candidates and arrange the personalized development plan for them.
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The Group treasures the common growth of our employees and the company,
and we provide the on-the-job training program for all employees. SciClone has
established its own SciClone College to develop a comprehensive training system.
We believe that training programs can improve the productivity and maintain the
quality, knowledge and skill level of our staff. The corresponding courses are allocated
to each type of employee according to the job requirement every year. Meanwhile,
we provide regular and professional training programs including mandatory training
programs related to compliance and company policies, as well as professional training
to meet the needs of each department or position. Our training types including:

FJIBEEBE

Sales representative

242

ABSEI
Orientation training:

HERREI :

training:

DSMARHEZF| :

DSM manager
training:

BRNABRBXUE - ARBI - AEEBRIZ - MHERIEERE  ETHBBR - AFFHER
M EYLEEENEERFZAND  2H TBASEREER

get a comprehensive understanding of our Group and its products through the introduction of
company culture, compliance training, internal business process, financial-related process,
employee incentive policy, employees’ benefits, drug safety alert and quality complaints, etc.

HERTT EEEERD  BEFERE  BRRM - ARER - NEBZEBREFENAH
knowledge of sales skills, advanced sales skills, customer management, self-awareness,
effective communication, negotiation and “six thinking hats” (7<TE B 1§), etc.

EHEHE S BEEEAREDS  EXEE  FEREZHHNAZ
knowledge of field instruction, business plan, recruitment and interview skills, performance
management, situational leadership, etc.

EMMISER - BEHRRBENRES
market management; coach the coach and leadership courses, etc.

BREREISN - BETRIRIBAEE LK - fIREREMNEERT - BRENERSE -
WiBBEMOBESZR2NSEH NG RIER -

in addition to professional training, employees can receive advanced training regarding
management and strategy aspects, for example, EQ (emotional intelligence) and communica-
tion skills, emotion and stress management, as well as participate in various workshops and
projects through our SciClone College.
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% of employees trained by gender
BERBSNXINEIAD

37.1%

62.9%

= Male m Female
BEHET BT

Average training hours completed per employee
by gender (hours/person)
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(/N A)

= Male = Female
EH8T BT
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SciClone’s own online training platform — iSciclone was established besides offline
trainings. Employees can take online courses to learn about our Group's policies and
complete relevant exams remotely via mobile phones, laptops, or computers.

During 2021, we have also offered several offline trainings in class including
presentation skill improvement, leadership trainings and other soft skills related
trainings to the related employees.

In 2021, the proportion of employees trained was 88.2%, and the total training hours

for the year were 16,527 hours.

% of employees trained by employee category
REBBREESNZIEIADL

1.3%

98.7%

m Key management m Other employees
TEEBRAE HMET

Average training hours completed per employee
by employee category (hours/person)
RIES BB DT HESTHE N FIHRE
(N A)

m Key management m Other employees
TEERAE HET

Note: Average training hours of each category = the total training hours of the employees of this
category/the total number of employees as of December 31, 2021 of this category
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Employee care

At SciClone, we share success and joy, celebrate reward and growth together.
To achieve work-life balance and create a joyful, united, harmonious working
atmosphere for our employees, we organize all kinds of activities such as annual
conventions, incentive trips, Christmas special activities, and psychological counseling
lectures, etc.

20214 % B ik i
2021 Incentive Trip
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2021558
2021 Annual Convention
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Compliance

Business Ethics

The success of SciClone, is built upon a foundation of integrity — a longstanding
commitment to act with the highest ethical standards and to conduct business
honestly and legally. We strictly abide by the Criminal Law of the People’s Republic
of China {FREANRLMEAEY , the Pharmaceutical Administration Law of
the People’s Republic of China (FPEARKMBEEREZLE) , the Anti-Unfair
Competition Law of the People’s Republic of China (FFEARKLFBERTTEHH
7%£) and other laws and regulations.

By
EBERAE BREARXIL
Supervision Establishment
and of

Investigation compliance
system and

culture

TR
Process
control
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° B #H : Whistleblower@sciclone.com
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We ensure compliance through whole process management including the

establishment of compliance system and culture, process control, supervision
and investigation. Moreover, we have formulated the Global Anti-Bribery &
Anti-Corruption Policy { &3 B B RN ) , which addresses and effectuates
our commitment to comply with laws, rules and regulations relating to the
interactions with government officials, health care professionals and other business
partners. All employees are required to complete the relevant compliance trainings
through iSciclone platform twice a year and sign the Anti-Bribery Certification to
certify that they will comply with our Group policy. Failure to comply with any
provision of this policy is a serious violation, and may result in disciplinary action,
up to and including termination, as well as civil or criminal charges. In 2021, the
Board has received business ethic training about anti-bribery and anti-corruption
organized by overseas lawyers in accordance with the requirements of Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. By December 31, 2021, all employees of the Group had completed
two compliance certification trainings, and there were no cases involving corruption

through the year.

We believe that effective whistle-blowing systems and procedures can prevent and
correct improper or illegal acts in a timely manner. Therefore, we have created a
special whistle-blowing channel to supervise and prevent such events, striving to
create a good corporate cultural environment.

Diversified, smooth and convenient reporting channels of the Group:
. E-mail: Whistleblower@sciclone.com

Intellectual Property and Privacy Protection
While promoting scientific innovation, SciClone has effectively managed and
protected its own achievement. We have engaged external counsel to manage all our
intellectual property rights, ensuring the risks related to the identification of property
rights are effectively controlled. We have also established a regular reporting system
to ensure that we can adequately control the risks associated with our intellectual
property. Moreover, employees are required to complete the related courses on

iSciclone platform and pass the examination.

In 2021, we have established the Information Security Management Framework to
ensure the effective operation of information security management of the Group, so
as to ensure the business continuity of SciClone.
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Environmental Target

. BBRAORER K BREEMBERNER  HENEREERA

o Continually improve our environmental performance by reducing the use of energy, water, packaging and other resources.

. Dispose all the waste generated during operation in compliance.

R  HEgLERME
Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Compliance Marketing

Our Group strictly complies with relevant laws and regulations such as the Advertising
Law of the People’s Republic of China {HZFEARLFEIEEE) . Promotional
information is required to be consistent with pharmaceutical product information
approved by China Food and Drug Administration. We designate personnel with
sufficient knowledge and appropriate qualifications to be responsible for approving all
promotional communications, or we receive scientific advice on such communications
from adequately qualified scientific personnel.

Environment

SciClone not only provides top-tier healthcare products and services with global
standards, but also upholds the concept of sustainable development, pays
constant attention and actively responds to the national policies and guidelines on
environmental protection. The Group strictly abide by relevant laws and regulations
such as the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China {9
#= NRHEMBIREREL) and the Energy Conservation Law of the People’s
Republic of China (I ANREMBIELIAEIRE) . In addition, we have formulated
Environmental Protection and Energy Conservation Management System (IRIR
ERERIE ) to supervise and manage the environmental protection and energy
conservation of the Group.

manner.

1 it
Measures

o SRELENEBENNERR - 1RFEE T RAFRRI/KER
. Put up posters of energy saving and water saving to remind employees to switch off power and water equipment in a timely

. RAGEHEEALILD - flm: MBREERBEREFHRSE -

o Encourage paperless office whenever possible, eg. provide our investors with electronic periodical reports.
. fRER IR AR - WIREME T FRRI A AR - AR KRBT RN - AT R - B ERR KT o
o Promote garbage classification by providing four different types of bins for the collection of household food waste, recyclable

waste, hazardous waste and residual waste.
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In 2021, our Group's environment related KPIs are shown as follows:

20214 20204

12 FEKP456 Environmental KPIs*>¢ 2021 2020

BeRHIERE (JKEEF) 12 Total energy consumption (MWh)'2 203.33 430.48

— HEEREREES — Total indirect energy consumption (MWh)

(KRB 203.33 430.48
— RRERERE — Energy consumption intensity (MWh per capita)

(KR, A) 0.23 0.54

RERBHNEE Total GHG emissions (tC0se)?

(- rixES) 3 111.18 292.80
— BERMEE R EREHEK — Energy Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2) (tCO,e)
(BE=)
(&t E 111.18 292.80
— AEREHNAE — GHG emission intensity (tCO,e per capita)
(MBS EE,A) 0.13 0.37
KomBEMEEE (BE) Packaging materials used for finished products in total (tonnes) 99.6 78
— BEEBEMNFERANBREME — Packaging materials used per unit produced
(Fr/ EEEM) (kg per unit produced) 0.038 0.038
aF Notes:

1. BEREREEDRIAEREEREEHNE - 1. Total energy consumption is calculated based on the electricity consumption in offices and

warehouses.

2. AR BB ARERN2021FE R EEE 2. Due to the adjustment of operation locations and the energy conservation activity
B BEIRIE R NOR = RAE HE AR 2 82020 implemented in 2021, the total amount of energy consumption and GHG emissions have
FRADEB50% ° decreased more than 50% compared to that of 2020.

3. BEAEEEFEEHEE AR REERAE 3. Based on the nature of our Group’s business operation, there is no material direct GHG
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HAR AEEBITGEEEANEERER
BHR(EE—) Bt RMNEEREH
REFEEEREBESINEREERSE
REER(BEZ) - AERBHERNE=S
EREE2% - LBMEEEENELENR
ZEREHMIBE LS M ERRERN2022F
EHMENHRAFHE  HtBEREH
RAGRERREENXNEZE G (BERE)
BHOQONMEF0NEFHEEEMFEY
ZE e BEE F ) I B S B 22 P 8 5 940
MFEERE  HEREARSIME  ]R
R B WIE 1T E R IE SR -

emissions (Scope 1) as the use of fuels is relatively limited in our Group. Thus, our GHG
emissions mainly consist of energy indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2) from purchased
electricity. GHG emissions are presented in CO2 equivalents. The greenhouse gas emissions
of purchased electricity in Shanghai region were calculated based on the electricity
emission factor published by Shanghai Ecological Environment Bureau in 2022 while other
greenhouse gas emissions were calculated in accordance with the 2077 and 2012 Regional
Grid Average CO2 Emission Factor for China (201152012 P EEHEH T =E 1t
IR BEREF) issued by National Development and Reform Commission (NDRC) and How
to Prepare an ESG Report Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs issued
by HKEXx.
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4. There is no production process conducted in our Group and the waste generated is mainly
residual waste from office operation which is disposed by the property management.
Since the environmental impacts are relatively limited, KPI A1.1 (The types of emissions
and respective emissions data), A1.3 (Total hazardous waste produced), A1.4 (Total
non-hazardous waste produced) are not disclosed in the ESG report.

5. Our Group's water consumption is mainly for domestic use and sourced from municipal
water system, which is sufficient for of daily operation. However, as only a minimal
amount of water was used in the offices and water charges are not required, KPI A2.2
(Water consumption in total and intensity) is not disclosed in the ESG report.

6. Apart from matters disclosed above, we do not cause other significant environmental
impacts or make heavy use of other environmental and natural resources during operation.
Therefore, Aspect A3 (The environment and natural resources) and KPI A3.1 (Description
of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them) are not applicable to our Group, and are not disclosed in
the ESG report.

Response to Climate Change

Global warming has led to extreme climate, rise of sea level, loss of diversity and
so on. Combating climate change has become more important than ever. After
assessment, we believe typhoon, flood and other extreme weather can have a
negative impact on the business operation of the Group. In response to the 2021
Typhoon CanDu, we took active measures including issuing weather warnings and

adjusting our work arrangement, to ensure the safety of employees.

Contribution to the Society

SciClone believes developing public welfare activities can not only exhibit the
corporate social responsibility but enhance the sense of pride to our employees. To
ensure such activities are conducted in compliance with related laws and regulations,
we have stipulated the guidelines for charitable donations including Global
Anti-Bribery & Anti-Corruption Policy {Z ¥k B 82 i J& BUB R ) .
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School Visit

This year, SciClone visited the students and teachers from Shanghai Deaf Youth
Technical School. We donated laptops and provided the students with on-the-job
internship opportunities. We are proud of the opportunity to undertake the social
responsibility of disability assistance and willing to continue to help special young
people light up a different life and embrace a new world.

22NFAMEBTEREFRMNERIBERE
2021 Equipment Donation for Shanghai Deaf Youth Technical School
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Profession Exchange

To promote the exchange between experts of medical industry, SciClone actively
organizes and participates in various industry conferences. In September 2021,
SciClone was invited to the Precision Medicine and Immuno-Oncology China (PMIO)
Summit 2021. The summit has gathered more than 500 elites from biomedical
research and industry to explore the innovation and commercialization of tumor
immunization in China. Dr.Guo Xiaoning, the Vice President (VP) of SciClone have
made a keynote speech about research and development progress, and application
prospect of small molecular immunomodifier to all the attenders.

Fr
St
Vil

BELRARTREFLAEPMIOBE P B RER
Dr. Guo Xiaoning, VP of SciClone making speech during PMIO Summit

R2021F 128 - EEABTH BT HARE
MeEREERE REEASHH20ZH]R
LEBEREH LHFANHI LS HR
BRREEEZNAEER - REEAINGFT
EHREEHRT BEERLAEBREMR
MEBRTHREZEBELCEARBEREDN
BHER ©

In December 2021, SciClone has organized the Immunotherapy Approaches Targeting
Neuroblastoma Forum where more than 20 top medical experts from all over the
world have gathered online to discuss the frontier progress of immunotherapy
approaches targeting neuroblastoma. All attenders from both China and foreign
countries expressed that they have learned much more about the latest progress of
neuroblastoma treatment from this international academic exchange event.
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[BEEAL

“affiliate”

[BRRBFEAE ]
“AGM”

[ERA] R AKERMA[ ]

“Articles” or “Articles of Association”

[EREES ]

“Audit Committee”

=3

“Board” or “Board of Directors

"

[REAERREE
“gVI”

[BAERE (DE%E) | R
[ KR2FE) ]

“Cayman Companies Act” or
“Companies Act”

[esER~sall

“CG Code”
[FhEl] =% [HEIA ]
“China”, “Mainland China” or
“the PRC”
fcmo |
“CMO"
[CNS |

“CNS”

[ (2FEBD |

“Companies Ordinance”

252

BEEIEERGAESEA TS ARSTEATEESBEEGSEEASTEALRE
B EE RS A E R M AL
any other person, directly or indirectly, controlling or controlled by or under direct or

indirect common control with such specified person

RATIERTR202255 B 198 BT RRBFRE
the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on May 19, 2022

RRBER20215F1 B22 BB GMHRMNIA EH BB ERMABSZMEE] - AMESHNA
AR Z A2 P EE T

the articles of association of our Company, conditionally adopted on January 22, 2021
and effective on the Listing Date, a summary of which is set out in Appendix IV to the
Prospectus

ERgEkLES

the audit committee of our Board

-

the board of Directors

HBEABRRES
the British Virgin Islands

FEMEENE222E (RENE) (K&IEFT) (1961FE350VAN) - K RREFT ST
A E At 5 TS 2R
the Companies Act (As Revised) of the Cayman Islands, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961), as

amended or supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

B R A S 4am DR E AT R

the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules

hEARANE - ptAFERENS - TEESE  ORPIFITTRERSE
the People’s Republic of China excluding, for the purpose of this Annual Report, Hong
Kong, Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan

REETENEMRRIRE A QIRBHN A QO RERE - IR EDRIERE
contract manufacturing organization serving other companies in the pharmaceutical
industry on a contract basis to provide drug manufacturing service

TR R

central nervous system

EEEDIE622F CRFRNED) (EARERT S R)
the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended or

supplemented from time to time



[ (A7 CBBRIMEBEMEI) HH1) |
“Companies (Winding Up
and Miscellaneous

Provisions) Ordinance”
[AAF ]
“Company” or “our Company”
[ CRF]

“CRE"

[E=]
“Director(s)”

[DTPZE |

“DTP pharmacies”

[fEEEAR

“GL Capital Group”

[ H [HA]

“Group”, “our Group”, “we" or “us”

[HABP/VABP
“HABP/VABP”

MHec)
“HCC”

EC
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BEEEGIEI2E (AR OBREMIBRSD) EH) (EIARKEISER)
the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Chapter 32 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended or supplemented from time to time

BASEEERERAT - —KK202065 138 ERASHSEMK I NEREERAF
SciClone Pharmaceuticals (Holdings) Limited, an exempted company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands with limited liability on May 13, 2020

FEEARRIERZ

cancer-related fatigue

ARBES

the director(s) of our Company

BERBEERE  BERNBEEERRUACGENEERENER - EBEWIBENELR
77 DTPEESRREEME N BETERH R X B REY)

direct-to-patient pharmacies, which refer to pharmacies that directly provide valuable
professional services patients. When patients receive doctor prescriptions from the
hospitals, DTP pharmacies deliver the drugs to the patients based on their prescriptions
at the time and location of patients’ choices

BPNERE—RE - WIBEAAEEE © M 2MGL Capital Management GP Limited * GLCapital
Management GP L.P. ~ GL China Opportunities Fund L.P. * GL Glee Investment Limited * GL
Capital Management Ltd * GL Capital Management GP Il B.C. | Ltd * GL Trade Investment
LPXGL Partners Capital Management Ltd48RK A — 482 5] - BEFFIBHNBERER [£
ZHRER | —&

our single largest Shareholder, which is not a legal entity, but a group of companies
comprising GL Capital Management GP Limited, GL Capital Management GP L.P., GL
China Opportunities Fund L.P., GL Glee Investment Limited, GL Capital Management
Ltd, GL Capital Management GP Il B.C. | Ltd, GL Trade Investment LP and GL Partners
Capital Management Ltd, details of which are set forth in the section headed
“Substantial Shareholder” in the Prospectus

RARREMBATIAR (MARAFTKAEBERBARNERAR ZATEHBMNS)
ZEMBABKEMF LA (RIERME) EENED

our Company and our subsidiaries and, in respect of the period before the Company
became the holding company of our present subsidiaries, the businesses operated by
such subsidiaries or their predecessors (as the case may be)

BT 1S 1 A B M i S % I O A A R A4 R 1M b ¢
hospital-acquired bacterial pneumonia and ventilator-associated bacterial pneumonia

Biliaps

hepatocellular carcinoma
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[#xl = 34l
"HK$"” or “Hong Kong dollar(s)” or
“cent”

&%)
“Hong Kong” or “HK"

(BB R TEA
“Hong Kong Stock Exchange” or
“Stock Exchange”

[ (BEBYESAD | =
[ <Rl |

"Hong Kong Takeovers Code” or
“Takeovers Codes”

[
“Listing”

[Lm e
“Listing Date”

[ KEmRAD |
“Listing Rules”

[ E4R]

“Main Board”

[ERAH] X [ARERAH ]

“Memorandum” or
“Memorandum of Association”

[ZZE<FAl]
“Model Code”
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BREEEBET

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

PEEEFTRR
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

ERBMARGAIERAT
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

FEEEME (CRAWNE - S0 RROBIESTAD) - KPEHEET  MRSKUEM TR E
g

the Code on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs issued by the SFC, as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

MY BB A PR AR £
the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

20213 A3H » RIXHREBBZ M LA EREBBMZAFAREENEH

March 3, 2021, the date on which our Shares are listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange and from which dealings in our Shares are permitted to commence on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange

(BEBBMERZMARRBFS EHRA) (KIRHEET )
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, as amended or supplemented from time to time

MEBMIAEENESRTS (TEEHETS) - BUNEBHPIGEMIL EE W
1Tk

the stock market (excluding the option market) operated by the Hong Kong Stock

Exchange which is independent from and operated in parallel with the Growth

Enterprise Market of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

AR 7202151 322 B B IRHERAIL 7 B B AR AR RAZSEIRAM - A ES
SR SR EL gL

the memorandum of association of our Company, conditionally adopted by our
Shareholders on January 22, 2021 to take effect on the Listing Date, a summary of
which is set out in Appendix IV to the Prospectus

EHETAZEFETELFRZHNIRLETA

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
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“Option Incentive Plan”

[ERDHRERBRESE

“Post-IPO Option Plan”

[BERAHABRERIRERGEMLE ]

“Post-IPO RSU Plan”

[FEERA] & MEx]

“PRC government” or “State”

[BRER]

“Prospectus”

[FHESS ]

“Remuneration Committee”

[ &5
"Reporting Period”

[ARK]
“RMB”
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RATIF20185F6 A24 B RERWHBIE MBI At 8] (RTREHERT) - UARRISE
ARBRARNEEREERTRA  TERTOBEFNBREREMEE DEER—K
BF — D.RRMETE — 1 EREMEE S &6

the option incentive plan approved and adopted by our Company on June 24, 2018,
as amended from time to time, for the benefit of any director and employee of the
Company or any of our subsidiaries; a summary of the principal terms is set forth in
the section headed “Statutory and General Information — D. Share Plans — 1. Option
Incentive Plan” in Appendix V to the Prospectus

R2021F1 A2 BEHBRERARRRMANE XN ARAEESRBRIETS - ARTE2EEIR
HESEEARQAMEARD  TERAMEHNBRERNMEGER EER—HRER

— D.kMEHEl — 2. R R ERBRETE ] —&

the post-IPO share option scheme adopted by Shareholders’ resolution on January
22, 2021, to provide selected participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary
interests in our Company; a summary of principal terms is set forth in the section
headed “Statutory and General Information — D. Share Plans — 2. Post-IPO Option
Plan” in Appendix V to the Prospectus

202151 822 BE B RRORE ZRAH 5 R AR @%XKE%\JHX@E fIET8 > A%
HEE  SRABARAEMBREREREEEADZARRANKI - FERFRESR
RHERERMER DEER—RER — D.RGE — B.E/X’Aﬁrﬁﬁéﬁféxﬁﬁ%\lﬂxf‘“
fistaE] —&

the post-IPO Restricted Share Unit Plan adopted by Shareholders’ resolution on January
22, 2021, to enable the directors, officers, and other key contributors and employees
of our Group to share the success of our Company; a summary of principal terms is set
forth in the section headed “Statutory and General Information — D. Share Plans — 3.
Post-IPO RSU Plan” in Appendix V to the Prospectus

hERREE - BEMABUADE (BHEE - mREMESIN T RFERE) ME#E
sk (e EE) A A —(E

the central government of the PRC, including all political subdivisions (including
provincial, municipal and other regional or local government entities) and its organs or,
as the context requires, any of them

RARIAER20215F2 A 19 HBRER
the Prospectus of the Company dated February 19, 2021

eFMZES

the remuneration committee of our Board

202151 1B E2021612 A31B—FHifHE
the one year period from January 1, 2021 to December 31, 2021

TEIEEEEARYE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

EHEEZRBRAER AT SciClone Pharmaceuticals (Holdings) Limited 2021 4 & 3§ % ANNUAL REPORT 255



Bx MmmR
Definitions And Glossary

[ZREROEMFEER ] Ec

“RSU Holding Entity”

[FRETTE Ec

"SciClone Jiangsu”

[SciClone US| i1

“SciClone US”

[ t5t8l ] Ec

“Share Plans”

[ ] i
“Share(s)"”
[R®R i1

“Shareholder(s)”

[SMDC | Eii
“SMDC”
[MEAS] 15

“subsidiary(ies)”

[TACE] Eii
“TACE”

[E ] &
"U.S."

ESHA &
“ysp”

% | &
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SCLN ESOP Management Limited * —ZRp4 5 J& #t B R A¥ &1 A2 B FEMaples Trustee
Services (Cayman) LimitedZ2E#BNER AR RIEBXAFEEERZRHIRMDEL
SRR A RBREERAARBEERZRERO B ABRKERA (BRLEHE
HEE) ARG

SCLN ESOP Management Limited, a limited company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands and wholly owned by Maples Trustee Services (Cayman) Limited, holding our
Shares pursuant to the Post-IPO RSU Plan on trust for and on behalf of grantees under
the Post-IPO RSU Plan which will be determined after the Listing

BEBETEHRARAR
SciClone Pharmaceuticals (Jiangsu) Co., Ltd.

SciClone Pharmaceuticals LLC (BIf#/A&SciClone Pharmaceuticals, Inc.) * —ZK #1990
F5A4REER AR DI MM - WHR200346 726 A 7L Fra /N S5
BSLH)AE] - REPIERIEMETER FHHER o RAEMHTTHE - SciClone USTH
EREEN—HD

SciClone Pharmaceuticals LLC (formerly known as SciClone Pharmaceuticals, Inc.),
a company incorporated in the State of California of the United States on May 4,
1990 and reincorporated in the State of Delaware of the United States on June 26,
2003, and our previous listing entity on NASDAQ. Upon completion of the Corporate
Reorganization, SciClone US is no longer part of the Group

BRSBTS BALHEERBREA I RBEALNREEERZREIIGD EALE
the Option Incentive Plan, Post-IPO Option Plan and Post-IPO RSU Plan

AR R AL E {E0.00005% LY & B AR
ordinary share(s) in the capital of our Company with nominal value of US$0.00005
each

BEHEA

holder(s) of our Shares

N T BEY) B R
small molecule drug conjugate

BE (LmRAD) METrEE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

FrEpiR(EEiEE

transarterial chemoembolization

EFBRAEREH
the United States of America

EBATFEEY
the lawful currency of the United States of America

ANt
per cent
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